











AEGON also adheres to a number of international
agreements, which establish guidelines or minimum

standards for pollution, human rights or labor conditions.

These agreements help shape and inform the company's

investment decisions. They include:

# The Carbon Disclosure Project;

# The United Nations' Universal Declaration of
Human Rights;

# Core standards of the International Labor
Organization;

# Principles on human rights and labor standards
contained in the UN Global Compact;

# Global Reporting Initiative.

Progress in 2008

AEGON made important progress with its objectives for

2008. Projects during the year included:

# Updating the company’s Code of Conduct to bring it
into line with recent regulatory reforms;
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# Supporting programs aimed at improving levels of
financial literacy, particularly in AEGON's main
markets, the United States, the Netherlands and the
United Kingdom;

# Expansion of microinsurance in Mexico alongside
partner Seguros Argos;

# Introduction of a new ‘e-learning’ course for
employees on insider dealing;

# Launch of a ‘Stakeholder Panel’ to assess the
content and relevance of AEGON's Corporate
Responsibility Report;

# Launch of a ‘Green Team' to coordinate efforts to
reduce the company’s consumption of electricity,
water and other precious raw materials.

For more information about AEGON's corporate
responsibility strategy and initiatives, please refer to
the company's annual Corporate Responsibility Report,
available online at www.aegon.com.



Providing clear, accurate, timely
and transparent information

NOILVINHOANI TVIONVNIA



AEGON strives to provide clear,

accurate, timely and transparent
information to investors and its other

stakeholders around the world.
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Consolidated balance sheet of AEGON Group
as at December 31

2007
Amounts in EUR million Note 2008  Adjusted’
ASSETS
Intangible assets 6 5,425 4,894
Investments 7 130,481 132,861
Investments for account of policyholders 8 105,400 142,384
Derivatives 9 8,057 1,616
Investments in associates 10 595 472
Reinsurance assets 11 5,013 4,311
Defined benefit assets 26 448 387
Deferred tax assets 28 1,447 2
Deferred expenses and rebates 12 12,794 11,488
Other assets and receivables 13 7,376 7,274
Cash and cash equivalents 14 10,223 8,431
TOTAL ASSETS 287,259 314,120
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' equity 15 6,055 15,151
Convertible core capital securities 16 3,000 -
Other equity instruments 17 4,699 4,795
Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of AEGON N.V. 13,754 19,946
Minority interest 6 16
GROUP EQUITY 13,760 19,962
Trust pass-through securities 18 161 143
Subordinated borrowings 19 41 34
Insurance contracts 20 97,377 88,496
Insurance contracts for account of policyholders 21 60,808 78,394
Investment contracts 22 36,231 36,089
Investment contracts for account of policyholders 23 45,614 63,756
Derivatives 9 6,089 2,226
Borrowings 24 5,339 6,021
Provisions 25 495 293
Defined benefit liabilities 26 2,080 2,136
Deferred revenue liabilities 27 42 50
Deferred tax liabilities 28 424 1,605
Other liabilities 29 18,237 14,458
Accruals 30 561 457
TOTAL LIABILITIES 273,499 294,158
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 287,259 314,120

' In 2008, AEGON reclassified its real estate held for own use. Reference is made to note 2.2.1.
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Consolidated income statement of AEGON Group
for the year ended December 31

Amounts in EUR million (except per share data) Note 2008 2007 2006
Income

Premium income 31 22,409 26,900 24,570
Investment income 32 9,965 10,457 10,376
Fee and commission income 33 1,703 1,900 1,665
Other revenues 34 5 14 4
Total revenues 34,082 39,271 36,615
Income from reinsurance ceded 35 1,633 1,546 1,468
Results from financial transactions 36 (28,195) 4,545 9,397
Other income 37 6 214 11
TOTAL INCOME 7,526 45,576 47,491
Charges

Premiums to reinsurers 31 1,571 1,606 1,671
Policyholder claims and benefits 38 (808) 34,135 35,267
Profit sharing and rebates 39 98 83 133
Commissions and expenses 40 6,109 5,939 6,085
Impairment charges/ (reversals) 41 1,113 117 33
Interest charges and related fees 42 526 474 362
Other charges 43 2 181 1
TOTAL CHARGES 8,611 42,535 43,552
Income before share in profit/(loss) of associates and tax (1,085) 3,041 3,939
Share in profit/ (loss) of associates 24 36 32
Income/ (loss) before tax (1,061) 3,077 3,971
Income tax 44 (21) (526) (802)
Net income/ (loss) (1,082) 2,551 3,169

Attributable to minority interest - _ _

NET INCOME/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF AEGON N.V. (1,082) 2,551 3,169

Earnings and dividends per share

Basic earnings per share (EUR per share)’ 45 (0.92) 1.47 1.87
Diluted earnings per share (EUR per share)' 45 (0.92) 1.47 1.86
Dividend per common share (EUR per share) 46 0.30 0.62 0.55

' After deduction of preferred dividends and coupons on perpetuals.
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Consolidated cash flow statement of AEGON Group
for the year ended December 31

2007 2006
Amounts in EUR million Note 2008  Adjusted’ Adjusted’
Income before tax (1,061) 3,077 3,971
Results from financial transactions 28,195 (4,545) (9,397)
Amortization and depreciation 1,691 1,446 1,916
Impairment losses 1,113 73 33
Income from associates (24) (36) (32)
Other 52 133 7
Adjustments of non-cash items 31,027 (2,929) (7,473)
Insurance and investment liabilities 4,349 4,046 1,354
Insurance and investment liabilities for account of policyholders (24,556) 7,809 12,086
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 3,689 (2,069) 2,729
Accrued income and prepayments (1,792) (629) (3,119)
Release of cash flow hedging reserve 306 25 (130)
Changes in accruals (18,004) 9,182 12,920
Purchase of investments (other than money market investments) (56,394) (70,156) (63,980)
Purchase of derivatives (843) (701) (1,009)
Disposal of investments (other than money market investments) 51,055 67,148 64,043
Disposal of derivatives 1,045 (324) 855
Net purchase of investments for account of policyholders (2,563) (4,866) (5,361)
Net change in cash collateral (22) (577) 5,774
Net purchase of money market investments (2,658) (1,256) (1,623)
Cash flow movements on operating items not reflected in income (10,380) (10,732) (1,301)
Tax paid (437) (98) (442)
Other 178 160 208
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,323 (1,340) 7,883

' In 2008, AEGON reclassified its real estate held for own use. Reference is made to note 2.2.1.
CONTINUATION >
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Consolidated cash flow statement of AEGON Group
for the year ended December 31 continuation

2007 2006
Amounts in EUR million Note 2008  Adjusted’ Adjusted’
Purchase of individual intangible assets (other than VOBA and future servicing rights) (12) (10) (10)
Purchase of equipment and real estate for own use (85) (81) (71)
Acquisition of subsidiaries and associates, net of cash (461) (2,625) (143)
Disposal of equipment 150 33 22
Disposal of subsidiaries and associates, net of cash - 9 11
Dividend received from associates 4 7 4
Other 6 (12) (41)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (398) (2,679) (228)
Issuance of share capital - 1 2
Issuance of convertible core capital securities 3,000 - -
Issuance of perpetuals - 745 638
Issuance and (purchase) of treasury shares (217) (1,439) (262)
Proceeds from TRUPS, subordinated loans and borrowings 4,876 4,872 1,554
Repayment of perpetuals (114) - -
Repayment of TRUPS, subordinated loans and borrowings (5,134) (3,986) (2,109)
Dividends paid (660) (668) (471)
Coupon on perpetuals (254) (235) (204)
Other (36) 11 (22)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,461 (699) (874)
NET INCREASE /(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 2,386 (4,718) 6,781
Net cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7,385 12,391 6,068
Effects of changes in exchange rate (265) (288) (458)
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 14 9,506 7,385 12,391
' In 2008, AEGON reclassified its real estate held for own use. Reference is made to note 2.2.1.
2 Included in net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents are interest received (2008: EUR 8,614 million; 2007: EUR 8,715 million and
2006: EUR 9,458 million) dividends received (2008: EUR 925 million; 2007: EUR 886 million and 2006: EUR 1,192 million) and interest paid
(2008: EUR 356 million; 2007: EUR 422 million and 2006: EUR 411 million).
The cash flow statement is prepared according to the
indirect method.
AEGON ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of AEGON Group
for the year ended December 31, 2008

Con-
vertible ~ Other  Issued
Reva- core equity  capital
Share Retained luation Other capital instru- and Minority

Amounts in EUR million Note capital earnings reserves reserves securities ments reserves' interest Total
At January 1, 2008 7,359 10,349 (516) (2,041) - 4,795 19,946 16 19,962
Revaluations - - (10,534) - - - (10,534) - (10,534)
(Gains)/ losses transferred

to income statement on

disposal and impairment - - 1,024 - - - 1,024 - 1,024
Equity movements of

associates - - - (7) - - (7) - (7)
Foreign currency translation

differences - - (98) - - - (98) - (98)
Movements in foreign

currency translation and

net foreign investment

hedging reserves - - - (170) - - (170) - (170)
Aggregate tax effect of items

recognized directly in equity - - 2,964 - - - 2,964 - 2,964
Other - 10 (7) - - - 3 (10) (7)
Net income/ (loss)
recognized directly
in equity - 10 (6,651) (177) - - (6,818) (10) (6,828)
Net income/ (loss) recognized

in the income statement - (1,082) - - - (1,082) - (1,082
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME /(LOSS) FOR 2008 - (1,072)  (6,651) 177) - - (7,900) (10) (7,910)
Convertible core capital

securities issued - - - - 3,000 - 3,000 - 3,000
Treasury shares - (217) - - - - (217) - (217)
Treasury shares - withdrawn (12) 12 - - - - - - -
Other equity instruments

redeemed - - - - - (114) (114) - (114)
Dividends paid on common

shares - (548) - - - - (548) - (548)
Preferred dividend - (112) - - - (112) - (112)
Coupons on perpetuals - (189) - - - (189) - (189)
Coupons on convertible core

capital securities - (121) - - - (121) - (121)
Share options - - - - 18 18 - 18
Other - 9) - - - - 9) - 9)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 15, 16, 17 7,347 8,093 (7,167)  (2,218) 3,000 4,699 13,754 6 13,760

! Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of AEGON N.V.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of AEGON Group
for the year ended December 31, 2007

Other Issued
Reva- equity capital
Share Retained luation Other instru- and  Minority

Amounts in EUR million Note capital earnings reserves reserves ments reserves' interest Total
At January 1, 2007 2 7,359 10,136 1,648 (538) 4,032 22,637 16 22,653
Revaluations - - (3,037) = - (3,037) = (3,037)
Transfers between revaluation

reserves and retained earnings - 1 (1) = = = = =
(Gains)/losses transferred to

income statement on disposal

and impairment - - 25 - - 25 - 25
Equity movements of associates - - = (58) = (58) = (58)
Foreign currency translation

differences - - 32 - - 32 - 32
Movements in foreign currency

translation and net foreign

investment hedging reserves - - = (1,445) = (1,445) = (1,445)
Aggregate tax effect of items

recognized directly in equity - - 787 - - 787 - 787
Other - (32) 30 - - (2) = (2)
Net income recognized
directly in equity - (31) (2,164) (1,503) - (3,698) - (3,698)
Net income recognized in

the income statement - 2,551 - - - 2,551 - 2,551
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR 2007 - 2,520 (2,164) (1,503) - (1,147) — (1,147)
Shares issued 2 - - - - 2 = 2
Treasury shares - (1,438) - - - (1,438) - (1,438)
Treasury shares - withdrawn (2) 2 - - - - - -
Other equity instruments issued - - - - 745 745 - 745
Dividends paid on common shares = (583) = = = (583) = (583)
Preferred dividend — (85) = = - (85) = (85)
Coupons on perpetuals - (175) - = - (175) = (175)
Share options - - - - 18 18 - 18
Other - (28) - = - (28) = (28)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 15, 16, 17 7,359 10,349 (516) (2,041) 4,795 19,946 16 19,962

! Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of AEGON N.V.
2 As of January 1, 2008, AEGON included its treasury shares in the column retained earnings instead of in the column share capital. The change is
retrospectively applied. Reference is made to note 2.2.1.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of AEGON Group
for the year ended December 31, 2006

Other Issued
Reva- equity  capital
Share Retained luation Other instru- and Minority
Amounts in EUR million Note capital earnings reserves reserves ments reserves' interest Total
At January 1, 2006 6,812 9,318 2,293 853 3,379 22,655 15 22,670
Impact change in accounting
principle? - (912) 351 - - (561) = (561)
6,812 8,406 2,644 853 3,379 22,094 15 22,109
Reclassification treasury shares? 545 (545) = = = = = =
7,357 7,861 2,644 853 3,379 22,094 15 22,109
Revaluations - = (1,158) = = (1,158) = (1,158)
Transfers between revaluation
reserves and retained earnings - - - - - - - -
(Gains)/ losses transferred to
income statement on disposal
and impairment - - (130) - - (130) = (130)
Equity movements of associates - - = (66) = (66) = (66)
Foreign currency translation
differences - = (77) - = (77) = (77)
Movements in foreign currency
translation and net foreign
investment hedging reserves - - - (1,325) - (1,325) - (1,325)
Aggregate tax effect of items
recognized directly in equity - - 281 - 2 283 - 283
Other - (15) 88 - - 73 1 74
Net income recognized
directly in equity - (15) (996) (1,391) 2 (2,400) 1 (2,399)
Net income recognized in
the income statement - 3,169 - - - 3,169 - 3,169
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR 2006 - 3,154 (996) (1,391) 2 769 1 770
Shares issued 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Treasury shares = (262) = = = (262) = (262)
Other equity instruments issued - - - - 638 638 - 638
Dividends paid on common shares = (391) - - - (391) - (391)
Preferred dividend - (80) - = - (80) = (80)
Coupons on perpetuals - (143) - = - (143) = (143)
Share options - - - - 13 13 - 13
Other - (3) = = - 3) = (3)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2006 15, 16, 17 7,359 10,136 1,648 (538) 4,032 22,637 16 22,653

! Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of AEGON N.V.

2 In 2007, AEGON changed its accounting policy regarding the valuation of minimum guarantees applied by AEGON the Netherlands.

3 As of January 1, 2008, AEGON included its treasury shares in the column retained earnings instead of in the column share capital.
The change is retrospectively applied. Reference is made to note 2.2.1.
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Exchange rates

Exchange rates at December 31, 2008

EUR usD GBP CAD PLN CNY RON HUF NTD CZK SKK
1 EUR - 1.3917 0.9525 1.6998 4.1535 9.4956 4.0225 266.7000 45.6690 26.8750 30.1260
1 usD 0.719 - 0.684 1.221 2.984 6.823 2890 191.636 32.815 19.311 21.647
1 GBP 1.050 1.461 - 1.785 4.361 9.969 4.223 280.000 47.946 28.215 31.628
1 CAD 0.588 0.819 0.560 - 2.444 5.586 2.366 156.901 26.867 15811 17.723
1 PLN 0.241 0.335 0.229 0.409 - 2.286 0.968 64.211 10.995 6.470 7.253
1 CNY 0.105 0.147 0.100 0.179 0.437 - 0.424 28.087 4.809 2.830 3.173
1 RON 0.249 0.346 0.237 0.423 1.033 2.361 - 66.302 11.353 6.681 7.489
100 HUF 0.375 0.522 0.357 0.637 1.557 3.560 1.508 - 17.124 10.077 11.296
100 NTD 2.190 3.047 2.086 3.722 9.095 20.792 8.808 583.985 - 58.847 65.966
100 CZK 3.721 5.178 3.544 6.325 15.455 35.332 14.967 992.372 169.931 - 112.097
100 SKK 3.319 4.620 3.162 5.642 13.787 31.520 13352  885.282  151.593 89.209 -
Exchange rates at December 31, 2007

EUR usD GBP CAD PLN CNY RON HUF NTD CZK SKK
1 EUR - 1.4721 0.7334 1.4449 3.5940  10.7524 3.6080 253.7300  47.7340  26.6280  33.5830
1 usD 0.679 - 0.498 0.982 2.441 7.304 2451  172.359 32.426 18.088 22.813
1 GBP 1.364 2.007 - 1.970 4.900 14.661 4920 345964 65.086 36.308 45.791
1 CAD 0.692 1.019 0.508 - 2.487 7.442 2497  175.604 33.036 18.429 23.242
1 PLN 0.278 0.410 0.204 0.402 = 2.992 1.004 70.598 13.282 7.409 9.344
1 CNY 0.093 0.137 0.068 0.134 0.334 - 0.336 23.598 4.439 2.476 3.123
1 RON 0.277 0.408 0.203 0.400 0.996 2.980 - 70.324 13.230 7.380 9.308
100 HUF 0.394 0.580 0.289 0.569 1.416 4.238 1.422 - 18.813 10.495 13.236
100 NTD 2.095 3.084 1.536 3.027 7.529 22.526 7.559 531.550 - 55.784 70.354
100 CZK 3.755 5.5628 2.754 5.426 13.497 40.380 13.550 952.869 179.262 - 126.119
100 SKK 2.978 4.383 2.184 4.302 10.702 32.017 10.744 755.531 142.137 79.290 -
Weighted average exchange rates 2008

EUR UsD GBP CAD PLN CNY RON HUF NTD CZK SKK
1 EUR - 1.4660 0.7961 1.5589 3.5206 10.2470 3.6829 251.2908 46.1694 24.8931 31.1990
1 usD 0.682 - 0.543 1.063 2.402 6.990 2.512 171.413 31.493 16.980 21.282
1 GBP 1.256 1.841 - 1.958 4.422 12.871 4.626 315.652 57.994 31.269 39.190
1 CAD 0.641 0.940 0.511 - 2.258 6.573 2.362 161.198 29.617 15.968 20.013
1 PLN 0.284 0.416 0.226 0.443 - 2911 1.046 71.377 13.114 7.071 8.862
1 CNY 0.098 0.143 0.078 0.152 0.344 - 0.359 24.523 4.506 2.429 3.045
1 RON 0.272 0.398 0.216 0.423 0.956 2.782 - 68.232 12.536 6.759 8.471
100 HUF 0.398 0.583 0.317 0.620 1.401 4.078 1.466 - 18.373 9.906 12.415
100 NTD 2.166 3.175 1.724 3.376 7.625 22.194 7977  544.280 - 53.917 67.575
100 CzZK 4.017 5.889 3.198 6.262 14.143 41.164 14.795 1,009.480  185.471 - 125332
100 SKK 3.205 4.699 2.552 4.997 11.284 32.844 11.805  805.445  147.984 79.788 -
Weighted average exchange rates 2007

EUR usD GBP CAD PLN CNY RON HUF NTD CZK SKK
1 EUR - 1.3683 0.6838 1.4681 3.7900 10.4610 3.3340 251.2310 45.4200 27.5710 33.6890
1 usD 0.731 - 0.500 1.073 2.770 7.645 2.437 183.608 33.194 20.150 24.621
1 GBP 1.462 2.001 = 2.147 5.543 15.298 4.876  367.404 66.423 40.320 49.267
1 CAD 0.681 0.932 0.466 - 2.582 7.126 2.271 171.127 30.938 18.780 22.947
1 PLN 0.264 0.361 0.180 0.387 - 2.760 0.880 66.288 11.984 7.275 8.889
1 CNY 0.096 0.131 0.065 0.140 0.362 - 0.319 24.016 4.342 2.636 3.220
1 RON 0.300 0.410 0.205 0.440 1.137 3.138 - 75.354 13.623 8.270 10.105
100 HUF 0.398 0.545 0.272 0.584 1.509 4.164 1.327 - 18.079 10.974 13.410
100 NTD 2.202 3.013 1.506 3.232 8.344 23.032 7.340 553.129 - 60.702 74.172
100 CZK 3.627 4.963 2.480 5.325 13.746 37.942 12.092 911.215 164.738 - 122.190
100 SKK 2.968 4.062 2.030 4.358 11.250 31.052 9.896 745736  134.821 81.840 -

AEGON ANNUAL REPORT 2008

o1



Notes to the consolidated financial statements of AEGON Group

AMOUNTS IN EUR MILLION, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Note 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

AEGON N.V., incorporated and domiciled in the Netherlands,
is a limited liability share company organized under Dutch law
and recorded in the Commercial Register of The Hague under
its registered address at AEGONplein 50, 2591 TV The Hague.
AEGON N.V. serves as the holding company for the

AEGON Group and has listings of its common shares in
Amsterdam, New York, London and Tokyo.

AEGON N.V,, its subsidiaries and its proportionally consolidated
joint ventures (AEGON or ‘the Group') have life insurance

and pensions operations in over twenty countries in Europe,
the Americas and Asia and are also active in savings and
investment operations, accident and health insurance,

general insurance and limited banking operations in a number
of these countries. Headquarters are located in The Hague,
the Netherlands. The Group employs approximately 31,500
people worldwide.

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Note 2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Note 2.1.1A INTRODUCTION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), as adopted by the European Union (EU), with IFRS as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the historical cost convention as modified by
the revaluation of investment properties and those financial
instruments (including derivatives) and financial liabilities that
have been measured at fair value. Information on the standards
and interpretations that were adopted in 2008 is provided
below in paragraph 2.1.1B. Certain amounts in prior years have
been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
These reclassifications had no effect on net income or
shareholders’ equity.

With regard to the income statement of AEGON N.V., article
402, Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code has been
applied, allowing a simplified format.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
affecting the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as

of the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period.

Those estimates are inherently subject to change and actual
results could differ from those estimates. Included among the
material (or potentially material) reported amounts and
disclosures that require extensive use of estimates are: fair
value of certain invested assets and derivatives, deferred
acquisition costs, value of business acquired and other
purchased intangible assets, goodwill, policyholder claims and
benefits, insurance guarantees, pension plans, income taxes and
the potential effects of resolving litigated matters.

The financial statements are put to the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders on April 22, 2009 for adoption. The
shareholders’ meeting can reject the financial statements but
cannot amend them.

Note 2.1.1B ADOPTION OF NEW IFRS ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

New standards become effective on the date specified by IFRS,

but may allow companies to opt for an earlier adoption date. In

2008, the following new standards issued by the IASB and

Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) became mandatory:

# |FRIC 12 Service concession arrangements';

# IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum
funding requirements and their interaction;

# Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reclassification of
financial instruments.

IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements is mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008, but
is not relevant to the Group's operations.

Similarly, IFRIC 14 1AS 19 The limit on a defined benefit asset,
minimum funding requirements and their interaction does not
have an impact on the Group's financial statements.

The amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Reclassification of
financial instruments permit entities to reclassify non-derivative
financial assets out of the fair value through profit or loss
category in particular circumstances. The amendment also
permits an entity to transfer from the available-for-sale
category to the loans and receivables category where certain
requirements are met. The effect of the reclassification would
be to value the asset following the reclassification at amortized
cost instead of at fair value. The amendments to IFRS 7
required detailed disclosures of any reclassifications made and
the potential impact on the financial statements. AEGON has
not applied these amendments in 2008.

"Not yet endorsed by the European Union.
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Note 2.1.2 FUTURE ADOPTION OF NEW IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The following standards, amendments to existing standards and

interpretations, published prior to January 1, 2009, were not

early adopted by the Group and will be applied in future years:

# |AS 1 Presentation of financial statements;

# Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing costs;

# Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based payments - vesting

conditions and cancellations;

# IFRS 3 Business combinations (Revised) and IAS 27

Consolidated and separate financial statements (Revised)';

IFRS 8 Operating segments;

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’;

Amendments to IAS 39 Eligible hedged items?;

Improvements to IFRS (2008)".

s % 8

The revision of IAS 1is aimed at improving users’ ability to
analyze and compare the information given in financial
statements. It introduces for example a statement of
comprehensive income. The amendment has a required
adoption date of January 1, 2009 and will not impact net
income or equity.

The amendments to IAS 23 remove the option of immediately
recognizing as an expense borrowing costs that relate to assets
that take a substantial period of time to get ready for use or
sale. The amendments have a required adoption date of
January 1, 2009 and will not impact equity or net income as
AEGON's accounting policy is to capitalize borrowing costs.

The amendments to IFRS 2 define the term vesting condition

and give guidance on the accounting for non-vesting conditions.

The amendments have a required adoption date of January 1,
2009 and are not expected to have a material impact on equity
or net income.

The revised IFRS 3 continues to apply the acquisition method
to business combinations, with some significant changes.

For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be
recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with some
contingent payments subsequently re-measured at fair value
through profit or loss. All transaction costs will be expensed.
This standard comes into effect for business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after July 1, 2009.

The requirements of this standard will be considered for
future business combinations.

The revised IAS 27 requires the effects of all transactions with
non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no
change in control. The standard also specifies the accounting
when control is lost. The amendment has a required adoption
date of January 1, 2009 and AEGON is currently evaluating
the potential impact on equity and income.

The IASB issued IFRS 8 as part of the convergence project
with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board. This new
standard replaces IAS 14 Segment reporting and adopts a
management approach to segment reporting as required in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 131
Disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related
information. The adoption of IFRS 8 only impacts segment
disclosure and therefore will not have an impact on equity
or net income. The standard has a required adoption date
of January 1, 2009.

IFRIC 16 clarifies the accounting treatment in respect of net
investment hedging including the fact that net investment
hedging relates to differences in functional currency, not
presentation currency and hedging instruments may be held
anywhere in the Group. The requirements of IAS 21 The effects
of changes in foreign exchange rates further do not apply to
the hedged item. This interpretation becomes effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The
interpretation is not expected to have a material impact on
equity or net income.

The amendments to IAS 39 clarify how the principles that
determine whether a hedged risk or portion of cash flows

is eligible for designation should be applied in particular
situations. The amendment has a required adoption date

of July 1, 2009 and is not expected to have a material impact
on equity or net income.

The IASB issued, in May 2008, a number of minor amendments
to IFRS which resulted from the IASB's annual improvements
project. These amendments result in accounting changes for
presentation, recognition or measurement purposes as well as
terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety of
individual standards. Most of the amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, with
earlier adoption permitted. AEGON is currently evaluating the
potential impact of these amendments on equity and income.

"Not yet endorsed by the European Union.
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In addition to the above, the following standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations have been published and are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2009 or later periods but are not relevant for the
Group's operations:
¢ Amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 Puttable financial

instruments and obligations arising on liquidation;
# Amendments to IFRS 1and IAS 27 Cost of an investment

in a subsidiary;

IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes;

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate’;

.
.
# |FRIC 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to owners’;
# [FRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers?’;

# IFRS 1 (revised) First time adoption of IFRS".

Note 2.2 CHANGES IN REPORTING

Note 2.2.1 CHANGES IN PRESENTATION

As of January 1, 2008, AEGON reclassified, on the face of its
balance sheet, real estate for own use from Investments general
account and Investments for account of policyholders to

Other assets and receivables. In addition AEGON reclassified
cash flows from real estate held for own use from cash flows
from operating activities to investing activities, to the extent
that such cash flows relate to real estate that is occupied by
AEGON's own employees. The comparative 2007 and 2006
information has been reclassified accordingly. This change
reduced Investments general account by EUR 329 million and
Investments for account of policyholders by EUR 141 million with
an offsetting increase in Other assets and receivables of

EUR 471 million in 2007. In the cash flow statement, net cash
flows from operating activities increased by EUR 16 million in
2007 and EUR 29 million in 2006. The net cash flows from
investing activities decreased by the same amounts.

As of January 1, 2008, AEGON's treasury shares are included in
Retained earnings instead of Share capital. The comparative
2007 and 2006 information has been reclassified accordingly.
This change increased Share capital with EUR 2,053 million and
EUR 787 million at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006
respectively. The Retained earnings decreased by the same
amounts.

Note 2.3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Business combinations that occurred before the adoption date of
IFRS (January 1, 2004) have not been restated. No operations
have been identified as assets held for sale or disposal groups.

A) SUBSIDIARIES

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of AEGON N.V. and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are
entities over which AEGON has direct or indirect power to
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from its activities (‘control’). The assessment of
control is based on the substance of the relationship between
the Group and the entity and, among other things, considers
existing and potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable and convertible.

Special purpose entities are consolidated if, in substance, the
activities of the entity are conducted on behalf of the Group,
the Group has the decision-power to obtain control of the entity
or has delegated these powers through an autopilot, the Group
can obtain the majority of the entity's benefits or the Group
retains the majority of the residual risks related to the entity or
its assets.

The subsidiary's assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are
measured at fair value on the acquisition date and are
subsequently accounted for in accordance with the Group's
accounting principles. Intra-group transactions, including
AEGON N.V. shares held by subsidiaries, which are recognized
as treasury shares in equity, are eliminated. Intra-group losses
are eliminated, except to the extent that the underlying asset is
impaired. Minority interests are initially stated at their share in
the fair value of the net assets on the acquisition date and
subsequently adjusted for the minority’s share in changes in the
subsidiary's equity.

The excess of the cost of acquisition, comprising the
consideration paid to acquire the interest and the directly
related costs, over the Group's share in the net fair value of
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is
recognized as goodwill. Negative goodwill is recognized directly
in the income statement. If the fair value of the assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired in the business combination
has been determined provisionally, adjustments to these values
resulting from the emergence of new evidence within twelve
months after the acquisition date are made against goodwill.
Also, goodwill is adjusted for changes in the estimated value of
contingent considerations given in the business combination
when they arise. Contingent consideration is discounted and the
unwinding is recognized in the income statement as an interest
expense.

When control is obtained in successive share purchases,
each significant transaction is accounted for separately.

"Not yet endorsed by the European Union.
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The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are
stated at fair value when control is obtained.

Subsidiaries are deconsolidated when control ceases to exist.
Any difference between the net proceeds and the carrying
amount of the subsidiary is recognized in the income statement.

INVESTMENT FUNDS

Investment funds managed by the Group in which the Group
holds an interest are consolidated in the financial statements

if the Group can govern the financial and operating policies of
the fund. In assessing control all interests held by the Group in
the fund are considered, regardless of whether the financial risk
related to the investment is borne by the Group or by the
policyholders.

On consolidation of an investment fund, a liability is recognized
to the extent that the Group is legally obliged to buy back
participations held by third parties. The liability is presented in
the consolidated financial statement as investment contracts
for account of policyholders. Where this is not the case, other
participations held by third parties are presented as minority
interests in equity. The assets allocated to participations held
by third parties or by the Group on behalf of policyholders are
presented in the consolidated financial statements as
investments for account of policyholders.

Equity instruments issued by the Group that are held by the
investment funds are eliminated on consolidation. However, the
elimination is reflected in equity and not in the measurement of
the related financial liabilities towards policyholders or other
third parties.

B) JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Joint ventures are contractual agreements whereby the Group
undertakes with other parties an economic activity that is
subject to joint control.

Interests in joint ventures are recognized using proportionate
consolidation, combining items on a line by line basis from the
date the jointly controlled interest commences. Gains and losses
on transactions between the Group and the joint venture are
recognized to the extent that they are attributable to the
interests of other ventures, with the exception of losses that are
evidence of impairment and that are recognized immediately.
The use of proportionate consolidation is discontinued from the
date on which the Group ceases to have joint control.

The acquisition of an interest in a joint venture may result in
goodwill, which is accounted for consistently with the goodwill
recognized on the purchase of a subsidiary.

Note 2.4 FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSLATION

A) TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY
TRANSACTIONS

A group entity prepares its financial statements in the currency

of the primary environment in which it operates. Transactions in

foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency

using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the

transaction.

At the balance sheet date monetary assets and monetary
liabilities are translated at the closing rate. Non-monetary items
carried at cost are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction, whilst assets carried at fair value are
translated at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in the
income statement when they arise, except when they are
deferred in equity as a result of a qualifying cash flow or net
investment hedge. Exchange differences on non-monetary
items are recognized in equity or the income statement,
consistently with other gains and losses on these items.

B) TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY OPERATIONS
On consolidation, the financial statements of group entities with
a foreign functional currency are translated to euro, the
currency in which the consolidated financial statements are
presented. Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rates on the balance sheet date. Income, expenses and capital
transactions (such as dividends) are translated at average
exchange rates or at the prevailing rates on the transaction
date, if more appropriate. Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are translated at
the closing rates on the balance sheet date.

The resulting exchange differences are recognized in the
‘foreign currency translation reserve’, which is part of
shareholders’ equity. On disposal of a foreign entity the related
cumulative exchange differences included in the reserve are
recognized in the income statement.

On transition to IFRS on January 1, 2004, the foreign currency
translation reserve was reset to nil.

Note 2.5 SEGMENT REPORTING

As the Group's risks and rates of return are predominantly
affected by the fact that it operates in different countries, the
primary basis for segment reporting is geographical segments.
Geographical segments are defined based on the location of
where the activities are managed. Secondary segment
information is reported for groups of related products.
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The Group uses operating earnings before tax in its segment
reporting as an important indicator of its financial performance.
Included in operating earnings are segment revenues and
segment expenses. Segment revenues consist of premium
income, investment income, fee and commission income,
income from banking activities and other revenues. Segment
expenses consist of premiums to reinsurers, policyholder claims
and benefits (excluding the effect of charges to policyholders in
respect of income tax), profit sharing and rebates and
commissions and expenses. In addition to segment revenues,
the following income items are also included in the calculation
of operating earnings: reinsurance claims and benefits, fair
value and foreign exchange gains including fair value
movements on own debt, gains on investments for account of
policyholders and share in net results of associates. Similarly, in
addition to segment expenses, the following expense items are
also included in the calculation of operating earnings: fair value
and foreign exchange losses, losses on investments for account
of policyholders and interest and related charges.

Operating earnings before tax excludes:

# Realized gains and losses on investments on general account
financial assets, other than those classified as at fair value
through profit or loss ;

# Gains and losses on investments in real estate ';

# Fair value changes in derivatives held for economic hedges
for which no hedge accounting is applied and the
economically hedged underlying assets or liabilities are not
valued at fair value through profit or loss 2;

# The ineffective portion of hedge transactions for which
hedge accounting is applied ';

# Realized gains and losses on repurchased debt;

# Impairment charges and reversals for financial assets,
excluding receivables; and

# Certain other income (charges) items.

Deferred policy acquisition costs (DPAC) and value of business
acquired (VOBA) offsetting charges for realized gains and losses
and impairments on investments are included in the respective
line items mentioned above.

Transfer prices between segments are on normal commercial
terms and determined in a manner similar to transactions with
third parties.

Note 2.6 OFFSETTING OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the balance sheet
when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and has
the intention to settle the asset and liability on a net basis or
simultaneously.

Note 2.7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

A) GOODWILL

Goodwill is recognized as an intangible asset for interests in
subsidiaries and joint ventures acquired after January 1, 2004
and is measured as the positive difference between the
acquisition cost and the Group's interest in the net fair value
of the entity's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities. Subsequently, goodwill is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment charges. It is derecognized when the
interest in the subsidiary or joint venture is disposed of.

B) VALUE OF BUSINESS ACQUIRED

When a portfolio of insurance contracts is acquired, whether
directly from another insurance company or as part of a
business combination, the difference between the fair value and
the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities is recognized as
value of business acquired (VOBA). The Group also recognizes
VOBA when it acquires a portfolio of investment contracts with
discretionary participation features.

VOBA is amortized over the useful life of the acquired
contracts, based on either the expected future premiums or the
expected gross profit margins. Amortization is based on
expected gross profit margins, the amortization period and
pattern are reviewed at each reporting date. Any change in
estimates is recorded in the income statement. For all products,
VOBA, in conjunction with DPAC where appropriate, is assessed
for recoverability at least annually on a country-by-country
basis and the portion determined not to be recoverable is
charged to the income statement. VOBA is considered in the
liability adequacy test for each reporting period.

When unrealized gains or losses arise on available-for-sale assets,
VOBA is adjusted to equal the effect that the realization of the
gains or losses would have had on VOBA. The adjustment is
recognized directly in shareholders’ equity. VOBA is derecognized
when the related contracts are settled or disposed of.

C) FUTURE SERVICING RIGHTS

On the acquisition of a portfolio of investment contracts
without discretionary participation features under which
AEGON will render investment management services,

! For segment reporting disclosure purposes the above items are aggregated in the line Gains and losses on investments.
2 Derivatives are considered economic hedges of certain exposures related to an existing asset or liability and are part of the Group's asset liability

management.
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the present value of future servicing rights is recognized as an
intangible asset. Future servicing rights can also be recognized
on the sale of a loan portfolio or the acquisition of insurance
agency activities.

The present value of the future servicing rights is amortized
over the servicing period as the fees from services emerge and
is subject to impairment testing. It is derecognized when the
related contracts are settled or disposed of.

D) SOFTWARE AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software and other intangible assets are recognized to the
extent that the assets can be identified, are controlled by the
Group, are expected to provide future economic benefits and
can be measured reliably. The Group does not recognize
internally generated intangible assets arising from research
or internally generated goodwill, brands, customer lists and
similar items.

Software and other intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation
of the asset is over its useful life as the future economic
benefits emerge and is recognized in the income statement as
an expense. The depreciation period and pattern are reviewed
at each reporting date, with any changes recognized in the
income statement.

An intangible asset is derecognized when it is disposed of or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal.

Note 2.8 INVESTMENTS
Investments comprise financial assets, excluding derivatives,
as well as investments in real estate.

A) FINANCIAL ASSETS, EXLUDING DERIVATIVES
Financial assets are recognized on the trade date when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument and are classified for accounting purposes
depending on the characteristics of the instruments and
the purpose for which they were purchased.

CLASSIFICATION

The following financial assets are measured at fair value
through profit or loss: financial assets held for trading, financial
assets managed on a fair value basis in accordance with the
Group's risk management and investment strategy and financial
assets containing an embedded derivative that is not closely
related and that cannot be reliably bifurcated. In addition, in
certain instances the Group designates financial assets to this

category when by doing so a potential accounting mismatch in
the financial statements is eliminated or significantly reduced.

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and that the Group does not
intend to sell in the near future or for which the holder may not
recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than
because of credit deterioration, are accounted for as loans.

To the extent that the Group has the intention and ability to
hold a quoted financial asset with fixed payments to the
maturity date, it is classified as held-to-maturity.

All remaining non-derivative financial assets are classified as
available-for-sale.

MEASUREMENT

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value excluding
interest accrued to date plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs.

Loans and financial assets held-to-maturity are subsequently
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognized
in the income statement as incurred. Available-for-sale assets
are recorded at fair value with unrealized changes in fair value
recognized directly in shareholders' equity. Financial assets that
are designated as hedged items are measured in accordance
with the requirements for hedge accounting.

AMORTIZED COST

The amortized cost of a debt instrument is the amount at which
it is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments,
plus or minus the cumulative amortization of any difference
between the initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus
any reduction for impairment. The effective interest rate
method is a method of calculating the amortized cost and of
allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the debt instrument or, when appropriate,

a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the instrument.
When calculating the effective interest rate, all contractual
terms are considered. Possible future credit losses are not
taken into account. Charges and interest paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums
or discounts are included in the calculation.
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FAIR VALUE

The consolidated financial statements provide information on
the fair value of all financial assets, including those carried at
amortized cost where the values are provided in the notes to
the financial statements.

The fair value of an asset is the amount for which it could be
exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm'’s
length transaction. For quoted financial assets for which there
is an active market, the fair value is the bid price at the balance
sheet date. In the absence of an active market, fair value is
estimated by using present value based or other valuation
techniques. Where discounting techniques are applied, the
discount rate is based on current market rates applicable

to financial instruments with similar characteristics. The
valuation techniques that include non-market observable inputs
can result in a different outcome than the actual transaction
price at which the asset was acquired. Such differences are not
recognized in the income statement immediately but are
deferred. They are released over time to the income statement
in line with the change in factors (including time) that market
participants would consider in setting a price for the asset.

Interest accrued to date is not included in the fair value of the
financial asset.

DERECOGNITION

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to
the asset's cash flows expire, when the Group has transferred
the asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, or when the Group has transferred the asset without
transfer of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership,
provided the other party can sell or pledge the asset. Financial
assets, in respect of which the Group has neither transferred
nor retained all the risks and rewards, are recognized to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. If significantly

all risks are retained, the assets are not derecognized.

On derecognition, the difference between the disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount is recognized in the income statement
as a realized gain or loss. Any cumulative unrealized gain or
loss previously recognized in the revaluation reserve in
shareholders’ equity is also recognized in the income statement.

SECURITY LENDING AND REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
Financial assets that are lent to a third party or that are
transferred subject to a repurchase agreement at a fixed price
are not derecognized as the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset. A liability is recognized for cash
collateral received, on which interest is accrued.

: 08

A security that has been received under a borrowing or reverse
repurchase agreement is not recognized as an asset. A receivable
is recognized for any related cash collateral paid by AEGON.
The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as
investment income. If the Group subsequently sells that security,
a liability to repurchase the asset is recognized and initially
measured at fair value.

COLLATERAL

With the exception of cash collateral, assets received as
collateral are not separately recognized as an asset until the
financial asset they secure is foreclosed. When cash collateral is
recognized, a liability is recorded for the same amount.

B) REAL ESTATE

Investments in real estate includes property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation, or both. Investments in real estate
are presented as investments. Property that is occupied by the
Group and that is not intended to be sold in the near future is
classified as real estate held for own use and is presented in
‘Other assets and receivables'.

All property is initially recognized at cost. Subsequently,
investments in real estate are measured at fair value with the
changes in fair value recognized in the income statement. Real
estate held for own use is carried at its revalued amount, which
is the fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation
is calculated on a straight line basis over the useful life of

a building. Land is not depreciated. On revaluation the
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to
the revalued amount. Increases in the net carrying amount are
recognized in the related revaluation reserve in shareholders'
equity and are released to retained earnings over the remaining
useful life of the property.

Valuations of both investments in real estate and real estate
held for own use are conducted with sufficient regularity to
ensure the value correctly reflects the fair value at the balance
sheet date. Valuations are mostly based on active market
prices, adjusted for any difference in the nature, location or
condition of the specific property. If such information is not
available, other valuation methods are applied, considering the
current cost of reproducing or replacing the property, the value
that the property’'s net earning power will support and the value
indicated by recent sales of comparable properties. For property
held for own use, valuers may also consider the present value of
the future rental income cash flows that could be achieved had
the real estate been let out.



On disposal of an asset, the difference between the net
proceeds received and the carrying amount is recognized in the
income statement. Any remaining surplus attributable to real
estate in own use in the revaluation reserve is transferred to
retained earnings.

PROPERTY UNDER CONSTRUCTION

The Group develops property itself with the intention to hold it
as investments in real estate. During the construction phase
both the land and the building are presented as real estate held
for own use, are held at cost, including directly attributable
borrowing costs, and are not depreciated. When the
construction phase is completed, the property is transferred to
investments in real estate and revalued at fair value. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in the income statement.

MAINTENANCE COSTS AND OTHER SUBSEQUENT
EXPENDITURE

Expenditure incurred after initial recognition of the asset is
capitalized to the extent that the level of future economic
benefits of the asset is increased. Costs that restore or maintain
the level of future economic benefits are recognized in the
income statement as incurred.

Note 2.9 INVESTMENTS FOR ACCOUNT OF
POLICYHOLDERS

Investments held for account of policyholders consist of
investments in financial assets, excluding derivatives, as well

as investments in real estate. Investment return on these assets
is passed on to the policyholder. Also included are the assets
held by consolidated investment funds that are backing
liabilities towards third parties. The accounting principles are
the same as those applicable to general account investments,
as described in note 2.8.

Note 2.10 DERIVATIVES

A) DEFINITION

Derivatives are financial instruments, classified as held for
trading financial assets of which the value changes in response
to an underlying variable, that require little or no net initial
investment and are settled at a future date.

Assets and liabilities may include derivative-like terms and
conditions. With the exception of features embedded in
contracts held at fair value through profit or loss, embedded
derivatives that are not considered closely related to the host
contract are bifurcated, carried at fair value and presented
as derivatives. In assessing whether a derivative-like feature
is closely related to the contract in which it is embedded,

the Group considers the similarity of the characteristics of
the embedded derivative and the host contract.

Embedded derivatives that transfer significant insurance risk
are accounted for as insurance contracts.

Derivatives with positive values are reported as assets and
derivatives with negative values are reported as liabilities.
Derivatives for which the contractual obligation can only be
settled by exchanging a fixed amount of cash for a fixed amount
of AEGON N.V. equity instruments are accounted for in
shareholders’ equity and are therefore discussed in the notes
on equity.

B) MEASUREMENT
All derivatives recognized on the balance sheet are carried at
fair value.

The fair value is calculated net of the interest accrued to date
and is based on market prices, when available. When market
prices are not available, other valuation techniques, such as
option pricing or stochastic modeling, are applied. The valuation
techniques incorporate all factors that market participants
would consider and are based on observable market data,

when available.

C) HEDGE ACCOUNTING

As part of its asset liability management, the Group enters into
economic hedges to limit its risk exposure. These transactions

are assessed to determine whether hedge accounting can and

should be applied.

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedge relationship is
designated and formally documented at inception, detailing the
particular risk management objective and strategy for the
hedge (which includes the item and risk that is being hedged),
the derivative that is being used and how hedge effectiveness is
being assessed. A derivative has to be effective in
accomplishing the objective of offsetting either changes in fair
value or cash flows for the risk being hedged. The effectiveness
of the hedging relationship is evaluated on a prospective and
retrospective basis using qualitative and quantitative measures
of correlation. Qualitative methods may include comparison of
critical terms of the derivative to the hedged item. Quantitative
methods include a comparison of the changes in the fair value
or discounted cash flow of the hedging instrument to the
hedged item. A hedging relationship is considered effective if
the results of the hedging instrument are within a ratio of 80%
to 125% of the result of the hedged item.

For hedge accounting purposes, a distinction is made between

fair value hedges, cash flow hedges and hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation.

AEGON ANNUAL REPORT 2008 & 99 i



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON GROUP | NOTE 2.11- 2.15

Fair value hedges are hedges of a change in the fair value of an
unrecognized firm commitment or an asset or liability that is
not held at fair value through profit or loss. The hedged item is
remeasured to fair value in respect of the hedged risk and the
resulting adjustment is recorded in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to variability

in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk of a
forecasted transaction or a recognized asset or liability and
could affect profit or loss. To the extent that the hedge

is effective, the change in the fair value of the derivative is
recognized in the related revaluation reserve in shareholders'
equity. Any ineffectiveness is recognized directly in the income
statement. The amount recorded in shareholders' equity is
released to the income statement to coincide with the hedged
transaction, except when the hedged transaction is an
acquisition of a non-financial asset or liability. In this case, the
amount in shareholders' equity is included in the initial cost of
the asset or liability.

Net investment hedges are hedges of currency exposures on
a net investment in a foreign operation. To the extent that
the hedge is effective, the change in the fair value of the
hedging instrument is recognized in shareholders’ equity.
Any ineffectiveness is recognized in the income statement.
The amount in shareholders' equity is released to the income
statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.

Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively for hedges that
are no longer considered effective. When hedge accounting is
discontinued for a fair value hedge, the derivative continues to
be carried on the balance sheet with changes in its fair value
recognized in the income statement. When hedge accounting is
discontinued for a cash flow hedge because the cash flow is no
longer expected to occur, the accumulated gain or loss in
shareholders’ equity is recognized immediately in the income
statement. In other situations where hedge accounting is
discontinued for a cash flow hedge, including those where the
derivative is sold, terminated or exercised, accumulated gains
or losses in shareholders' equity are amortized into the income
statement when the income statement is impacted by the
variability of the cash flow from the hedged item.

Note 2.1 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Entities over which the Group has significant influence through
power to participate in financial and operating policy decisions,
but which do not meet the definition of a subsidiary or joint
venture, are accounted for using the equity method. Interests
held by venture capital entities, mutual funds and investment
funds that qualify as an associate are accounted for as an
investment held at fair value through profit or loss.
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Interests held by the Group in venture capital entities, mutual
funds and investment funds that are managed on a fair value
basis, are also accounted for as investments held at fair value
through profit or loss.

Interests in associates are initially recognized at cost, which
includes positive goodwill arising on acquisition. Negative
goodwill is recognized in the income statement on the
acquisition date. If associates are obtained in successive share
purchases, each significant transaction is accounted for
separately.

The carrying amount is subsequently adjusted to reflect the
change in the Group's share in the net assets of the associate
and is subject to impairment testing. The net assets are
determined based on the Group's accounting policies. Any gains
and losses recorded directly in shareholders' equity by the
associate are reflected in other reserves in shareholders’ equity,
while the share in the associate’s net income is recognized as a
separate line item in the consolidated income statement.

The Group's share in losses is recognized until the investment
in the associate's equity and any other long-term interest that
are part of the net investment are reduced to nil, unless
guarantees exist.

Gains and losses on transactions between the Group and the
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
the entity, with the exception of losses that are evidence of
impairment which are recognized immediately. Own equity
instruments of AEGON N.V. that are held by the associate are
not eliminated.

On disposal of an interest in an associate, the difference
between the net proceeds and the carrying amount is
recognized in the income statement and gains and losses
previously recorded directly in shareholders’ equity are
reversed and recorded through the income statement.

Note 2.12 REINSURANCE ASSETS

Reinsurance contracts are contracts entered into by the Group
in order to receive compensation for losses on contracts written
by the Group (outgoing reinsurance). For contracts transferring
sufficient insurance risk, a reinsurance asset is recognized for
the expected future benefits, less expected future reinsurance
premiums. Reinsurance contracts with insufficient insurance
risk transfer are accounted for as investment or service
contracts, depending on the nature of the agreement.

Reinsurance assets are measured consistently with the
amounts associated with the underlying insurance contracts
and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract.



They are subject to impairment testing and are derecognized
when the contractual rights are extinguished or expire or when
the contract is transferred to another party.

Note 2.13 DEFERRED EXPENSES AND REBATES

A) DEFERRED POLICY ACQUISITION COSTS

DPAC relates to insurance contracts and investment contracts
with discretionary participation features and represents the
variable costs that are related to the acquisition or renewal of
these contracts.

Acquisition costs are deferred to the extent that they are
recoverable and are subsequently amortized based on either
the expected future premiums or the expected gross profit
margins. For products sold in the United States and Canada with
amortization based on expected gross profit margins, the
amortization period and pattern are reviewed at each reporting
date and any change in estimates is recognized in the income
statement.

Estimates include, but are not limited to: an economic
perspective in terms of future returns on bond and equity
instruments, mortality, disability and lapse assumptions,
maintenance expenses and expected inflation rates. For all
products, DPAC, in conjunction with VOBA where appropriate, is
assessed for recoverability at least annually on a country-by-
country basis and is considered in the liability adequacy test for
each reporting period. If appropriate, the assumptions included
in the determination of estimated gross profits are adjusted.
The portion of DPAC that is determined not to be recoverable is
charged to the income statement.

When unrealized gains or losses arise on available-for-sale
assets, DPAC is adjusted to equal the effect that the realization
of the gains or losses would have had on its measurement. This
is recognized directly in the related revaluation reserve in
shareholders’ equity.

DPAC is derecognized when the related contracts are settled or
disposed of.

B) DEFERRED TRANSACTION COSTS

Deferred transaction costs relate to investment contracts
without discretionary participation features under which
AEGON will render investment management services.
Incremental costs that are directly attributable to securing
these investment management contracts are recognized as an
asset if they can be identified separately and measured reliably
and if it is probable that they will be recovered.

For contracts involving both the origination of a financial
liability and the provision of investment management services,
only the transaction costs allocated to the servicing component
are deferred. The other transaction costs are included in the
carrying amount of the financial liability.

The deferred transaction costs are amortized in line with fee
income, unless there is evidence that another method better
represents the provision of services under the contract.
Deferred transaction costs are subject to impairment testing
at least annually.

C) DEFERRED INTEREST REBATES

An interest rebate is a form of profit sharing whereby the Group
gives a discount on the premium payable (usually single
premium) based on the expected surplus interest that will be
earned on the contract. The expected surplus interest is
calculated with reference to a portfolio of government bonds.
The rebate can be subject to additional conditions concerning
actual returns or the continuation of the policy for a specified
number of years.

Interest rebates that are expected to be recovered in future
periods are deferred and amortized as the surplus interest is
realized. They are considered in the liability adequacy test for
insurance liabilities.

Note 2.14 OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES

Other assets include trade and other receivables, prepaid
expenses, real estate held for own use and equipment. Trade
and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and
are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Equipment is
initially carried at cost, depreciated on a straight line basis over
its useful life to its residual value and is subject to impairment
testing. The accounting for real estate held for own use is
described in note 2.8.

Note 2.15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash comprises cash at banks and in-hand. Cash equivalents
are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known cash amounts, are subject to insignificant
risks of changes in value and are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash requirements. Money market
investments that are held for investment purposes (backing
insurance liabilities, investment liabilities or equity based on
asset liability management considerations) are not included in
cash and cash equivalents but are presented as investment or
investment for account of policyholders.
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Note 2.16 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

An asset is impaired if the carrying amount exceeds the amount
that would be recovered through its use or sale. For tangible
and intangible assets, financial assets and reinsurance assets,

if not held at fair value through profit or loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated when there are indications
that the asset may be impaired. Irrespective of the indications,
goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life that are not amortized, are tested at least annually.

A) IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets are tested individually for impairment when there are
indications that the asset may be impaired. The impairment loss
is calculated as the difference between the carrying and the
recoverable amount of the asset, which is the higher of an
asset's value in use and its net selling price. The value in use
represents the discounted future net cash flows from the
continuing use and ultimate disposal of the asset and reflects
its known inherent risks and uncertainties.

Impairment losses are charged to shareholders’ equity to the
extent that they offset a previously recorded revaluation
reserve relating to the same item. Any further losses are
recognized directly in the income statement.

With the exception of goodwill, impairment losses are reversed
when there is objective evidence that there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable
amount since the recognition of the last impairment loss.

The reversal is recognized in the income statement to the
extent that it reverses impairment losses previously recognized
in the income statement. The carrying amount after reversal
cannot exceed the amount that would have been recognized
had no impairment taken place.

Non-financial assets that only generate cash flows in
combination with other assets and liabilities are tested for
impairment at the level of the cash-generating unit.

The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the
purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. The allocation is
based on the level at which goodwill is monitored internally and
cannot be larger than an operating segment. When impairing

a cash-generating unit, any goodwill allocated to the unit is first
written-off and recognized in the income statement. The remaining
impairment loss is allocated on a pro rata basis among the other
assets, on condition that the resulting carrying amounts do not fall
below the individual assets' recoverable amounts.
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B) IMPAIRMENT OF DEBT INSTRUMENTS

Debt instruments are impaired when it is considered probable
that not all amounts due will be collected as scheduled.
Individually significant loans and other receivables are first
assessed separately. All non-impaired assets measured at
amortized cost are then grouped by credit risk characteristics
and collectively tested for impairment.

For debt instruments carried at amortized cost, the carrying
amount of impaired financial assets is reduced through an
allowance account. The impairment loss is calculated as the
difference between the carrying and recoverable amount of the
investment. The recoverable amount is determined by
discounting the estimated probable future cash flows at the
original effective interest rate of the asset. For variable interest
debt instruments, the current effective interest rate under the
contract is applied.

For debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, the asset is
impaired to its fair value. Any unrealized gain or loss previously
recognized in shareholders’ equity is taken to the in the income
statement in the impairment loss. After impairment the interest
accretion on debt instruments that are classified as available-for-
sale is based on the rate of return that would be required by the
market for similar rated instruments at the date of impairment.

Impairment losses recognized for debt instruments can be
reversed if in subsequent periods the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and that decrease can be related objectively to a
credit related event occurring after the impairment was
recognized. For debt instruments carried at amortized cost, the
carrying amount after reversal cannot exceed its amortized
cost at the reversal date.

C) IMPAIRMENT OF EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

For equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in fair
value below initial cost is considered objective evidence of
impairment and always results in a loss being recognized in the
income statement. Equity investments are impaired to the
asset's fair value and any unrealized gain or loss previously
recognized in shareholders’ equity is taken to the income
statement as an impairment loss. The amount exceeding the
balance of previously recognized unrealized gains or losses is
recognized in the income statement.

Impairment losses on equity instruments cannot be reversed.

D) IMPAIRMENT OF REINSURANCE ASSETS

Reinsurance assets are impaired if there is objective evidence,
as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of
the reinsurance asset, that not all amounts due under the



terms of the contract will be received and the impact of the
event on the amount to be received from the reinsurer can be
reliably measured. Impairment losses are recognized in the
income statement.

Note 2.17 EQUITY

Financial instruments that are issued by the Group are classified
as equity if they represent a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities and the Group has an
unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial
asset to settle its contractual obligation. In addition to common
shares and preferred shares, the Group has issued perpetual
securities and convertible core capital securities. Perpetual
securities have no final maturity date, repayment is at the
discretion of AEGON and for junior perpetual capital securities
AEGON has the option to defer coupon payments at its
discretion. Convertible core capital securities can be converted
into ordinary shares of AEGON or repaid at the discretion of
AEGON and coupon payments are payable only if AEGON pays
dividends on ordinary shares. Both the perpetual and convertible
core capital securities are classified as equity rather than debt,
are measured at par and those that are denominated in US
dollars are translated using historical exchange rates.

Incremental external costs that are directly attributable to
the issuing or buying back of own equity instruments are
recognized in equity, net of tax.

Dividends and other distributions to holders of equity instruments
are recognized directly in equity, net of tax. A liability for
non-cumulative dividends payable is not recognized until the
dividends have been declared and approved.

Treasury shares are own equity instruments reacquired by the
Group. They are deducted from shareholders' equity, regardless
of the objective of the transaction. No gain or loss is recognized
in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the instruments. If sold, the difference between
the carrying amount and the proceeds is reflected in retained
earnings. The consideration paid or received is recognized
directly in shareholders' equity. All treasury shares are
eliminated in the calculation of earnings per share and dividend
per common share.

Note 2.18 TRUST PASS-THROUGH SECURITIES,
SUBORDINATED BORROWINGS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS
A financial instrument issued by the Group is classified as a
liability if the contractual obligation must be settled in cash
or another financial asset or through the exchange of financial
assets and liabilities at potentially unfavorable conditions
for the Group.

Trust pass-through securities, subordinated loans and other
borrowings are initially recognized at their fair value including
directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method, with the exception of specific borrowings that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss to eliminate, or
significantly reduce, an accounting mismatch, or specific
borrowings which are carried as at fair value through the profit
and loss as part of a fair value hedge relationship. The liability is
derecognized when the Group's obligation under the contract
expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

Note 2.19 INSURANCE CONTRACTS

Insurance contracts are contracts under which the Group
accepts a significant risk - other than a financial risk - from a
policyholder by agreeing to compensate the beneficiary on the
occurrence of an uncertain future event by which he or she will
be adversely affected. Contracts that do not meet this definition
are accounted for as investment contracts. The Group reviews
homogeneous books of contracts to assess whether the
underlying contracts transfer significant insurance risk on an
individual basis. This is considered the case when at least one
scenario with commercial substance can be identified in which
the Group has to pay significant additional benefits to the
policyholder. Contracts that have been classified as insurance
are not reclassified subsequently.

Insurance liabilities are recognized when the contract is entered
into and the premiums are charged. The liability is derecognized
when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

Insurance assets and liabilities are valued in accordance with
the accounting principles that were applied by the Group prior
to the transition to IFRS, as further described in the following
paragraphs. In order to reflect the specific nature of the
products written, subsidiaries are allowed to apply local
accounting principles to the measurement of insurance
contracts. All valuation methods used by the subsidiaries are
based on the general principle that the carrying amount of the
net liability must be sufficient to meet any reasonably
foreseeable obligation resulting from the insurance contracts.

A) LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

Life insurance contracts are insurance contracts with
guaranteed life-contingent benefits. The measurement of the
liability for life insurance contracts varies depending on the
nature of the product.

Some products, such as traditional life insurance products in
continental Europe and products in the United States, for which
account terms are fixed and guaranteed, are measured using
the net premium method.
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The liability is determined as the sum of the discounted value of
the expected benefits and future administration expenses
directly related to the contract, less the discounted value of the
expected theoretical premiums that would be required to meet
the future cash outflows based on the valuation assumptions
used. The liability is either based on current assumptions or
calculated using the assumptions established at the time the
contract was issued, in which case a margin for risk and adverse
deviation is generally included. A separate reserve for longevity
may be established and included in the measurement of the
liability. Furthermore, the liability for life insurance comprises
reserves for unearned premiums and unexpired risks as well as
for claims outstanding, which includes an estimate of the
incurred claims that have not yet been reported to the Group.

Other products with account terms that are not fixed or
guaranteed are generally measured at the policyholder’s
account balance. Depending on local accounting principles, the
liability may include amounts for future services on contracts
where the policy administration charges are higher in the initial
years than in subsequent years. In establishing the liability,
guaranteed minimum benefits issued to the policyholder are
measured as described in note 2.19C or, if bifurcated from the
host contract, as described in note 2.10.

One insurance product in the United States is carried at fair
value through profit or loss as it contains an embedded
derivative that could not be reliably bifurcated. The fair value of
the contract is measured using market consistent valuation
techniques.

B) LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS FOR ACCOUNT OF
POLICYHOLDERS

Life insurance contracts under which the policyholder bears the

risks associated with the underlying investments are classified

as insurance contracts for account of policyholders.

The liability for the insurance contracts for account of
policyholders is measured at the policyholder account balance.
Contracts with unit-denominated payments are measured at
current unit values, which reflect the fair values of the assets of
the fund. If applicable, the liability representing the nominal
value of the policyholder unit account is amortized over the
term of the contract so that interest on actuarial funding is at
an expected rate of return.

C) EMBEDDED DERIVATIVES AND PARTICIPATION
FEATURES

Life insurance contracts typically include derivative-like terms

and conditions. With the exception of policyholder options to

surrender the contract at a fixed amount, contractual features
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that are not closely related to the insurance contract and that
do not themselves meet the definition of insurance contracts
are accounted for as derivatives. If the embedded derivative
cannot be reliably bifurcated, the entire insurance contract is
carried at fair value through profit or loss.

Other terms and conditions, such as participation features and
expected lapse rates are considered when establishing the
insurance liabilities. Where the Group has discretion over the
amount or timing of the bonuses distributed resulting from
participation features, a liability is recognized equal to the
amount that is available at the balance sheet date for future
distribution to policyholders.

GUARANTEED MINIMUM BENEFITS

The Group issues life insurance contracts, which, as a rule, do
not expose the Group to interest risk as the account terms are
not fixed or guaranteed or because the return on the investments
held is passed on to the policyholder. However, in some cases
these contracts may contain guaranteed minimum benefits. An
additional liability for life insurance is established for guaranteed
minimum benefits that are not bifurcated. Bifurcated
guaranteed minimum benefits are classified as derivatives.

In the United States, the additional liability for guaranteed
minimum benefits that are not bifurcated is determined each
period by estimating the expected value of benefits in excess of
the projected account balance and recognizing the excess over
the accumulation period based on total expected assessments.
The estimates are reviewed regularly and any resulting
adjustment to the additional liability is recognized in the income
statement. The benefits used in calculating the liabilities are
based on the average benefits payable over a range of
stochastic scenarios. Where applicable, the calculation of the
liability incorporates a percentage of the potential
annuitizations that may be elected by the contract holder.

In the Netherlands, an additional liability is established for
guaranteed minimum benefits that are not bifurcated on group
pension plans and on traditional insurance contracts with profit
sharing based on an external interest index. These guarantees
are measured at fair value.

D) SHADOW ACCOUNTING

Shadow accounting ensures that all gains and losses on
investments affect the measurement of the insurance assets
and liabilities in the same way, regardless of whether they are
realized or unrealized and regardless of whether the unrealized
gains and losses are recognized in the income statement or
directly in equity in the revaluation reserve. In some instances,
realized gains or losses on investments have a direct effect on



the measurement of the insurance assets and liabilities. For
example, some insurance contracts include benefits that are
contractually based on the investment returns realized by the
insurer. In addition, realization of gains or losses on available-
for-sale investments can lead to unlocking of VOBA or DPAC
and can also affect the outcome of the liability adequacy test
to the extent that it considers actual future investment returns.
For similar changes in unrealized gains and losses, shadow
accounting is applied. If an unrealized gain or loss triggers a
shadow accounting adjustment to VOBA, DPAC or the insurance
liabilities, the corresponding adjustment is recognized in
shareholders’ equity in the revaluation reserve, together with
the unrealized gain or loss.

Some profit sharing schemes issued by the Group entitle the
policyholder to a bonus which is based on the actual total
return on specific assets held. To the extent that the bonus
relates to gains or losses on available-for-sale investments for
which the unrealized gains or losses are recognized in the
revaluation reserve in equity, shadow accounting is applied.
This means that the increase in the liability is also charged to
equity to offset the unrealized gains rather than to the income
statement.

E) LIABILITY ADEQUACY TESTING

At each reporting date the adequacy of the life insurance
liabilities, net of VOBA and DPAC, is assessed using a liability
adequacy test. Additional recoverability tests for policies
written in the last year may also result in loss recognition.

Life insurance contracts for account of policyholders and any
related VOBA and DPAC are considered in the liability adequacy
test performed on insurance contracts. To the extent that the
account balances are insufficient to meet future benefits and
expenses, additional liabilities are established and included in
the liability for life insurance.

All tests performed within the Group are based on current
estimates of all contractual future cash flows, including related
cash flows from policyholder options and guarantees. A number
of valuation methods are applied, including discounted cash
flow methods, option pricing models and stochastic modeling.
Aggregation levels are set either on geographical jurisdiction or
at the level of portfolio of contracts that are subject to broadly
similar risks and managed together as a singe portfolio. To the
extent that the tests involve discounting of future cash flows,
the interest rate applied is based on market rates or is based on
management's expectation of the future return on investments.

Any resulting deficiency is recognized in the income statement,
initially by impairing the DPAC and VOBA and subsequently by
establishing an insurance liability for the remaining loss, unless
shadow loss recognition has taken place.

F) NON-LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

Non-life insurance contracts are insurance contracts where the
insured event is not life-contingent. For non-life products the
insurance liability generally includes reserves for unearned
premiums, unexpired risk, inadequate premium levels and
outstanding claims and benefits. No catastrophe or equalization
reserves are included in the measurement of the liability.

The reserve for unearned premiums includes premiums
received for risks that have not yet expired. Generally the
reserve is released over the term of the contract and is
recognized as premium income.

The liability for outstanding claims and benefits is established
for claims that have not been settled and any related cash
flows, such as claims handling costs. It includes claims that have
been incurred but have not been reported to the Group. The
liability is calculated at the reporting date using statistical
methods based on empirical data and current assumptions that
may include a margin for adverse deviation. Liabilities for
claims subject to periodic payment are calculated using
actuarial methods consistent with those applied to life
insurance contracts. Discounting is applied if allowed by the
local accounting principles used to measure the insurance
liabilities. Discounting of liabilities is generally applied when
there is a high level of certainty concerning the amount and
settlement term of the cash outflows.

The adequacy of the non-life insurance liability is tested at each
reporting date. Changes in expected claims that have occurred,
but that have not been settled, are reflected by adjusting the
liability for claims and future benefits. The reserve for unexpired
risk is increased to the extent that the future claims and
expenses in respect of current insurance contracts exceed the
future premiums plus the current unearned premium reserve.

Note 2.20 INVESTMENT CONTRACTS

Contracts issued by the Group that do not transfer significant
insurance risk, but do transfer financial risk from the
policyholder to the Group are accounted for as investment
contracts. Depending on whether the Group or the policyholder
runs the risks associated with the investments allocated to the
contract, the liabilities are classified as investment contracts or
as investment contracts for account of policyholders.
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Investment contract liabilities are recognized when the contract
is entered into and are derecognized when the contract expires,
is discharged or is cancelled.

A) INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH DISCRETIONARY
PARTICIPATION FEATURES
Some investment contracts have participation features whereby
the policyholder has the right to receive potentially significant
additional benefits which are based on the performance of a
specified pool of investment contracts, specific investments
held by the Group or on the issuer's net income. If the Group
has discretion over the amount or timing of the distribution of
the returns to policyholders, the investment contract liability is
measured based on the accounting principles that apply to
insurance contracts with similar features.

Some unitized investment contracts provide policyholders with
the option to switch between funds with and without
discretionary participation features. The entire contract is
accounted for as an investment contract with discretionary
participation features if there is evidence of actual switching
resulting in discretionary participation benefits that are a
significant part of the total contractual benefits.

B) INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITHOUT DISCRETIONARY
PARTICIPATION FEATURES
At inception investment contracts without discretionary
features are designated as at fair value through profit or loss if
by doing so a potential accounting mismatch is eliminated or
significantly reduced or if the contract is managed on a fair
value basis. Some investment contracts with embedded
derivatives that have not been bifurcated are also carried at fair
value through profit or loss. All other contracts are carried at
amortized cost.

The contracts are initially recognized at transaction price less,
in the case of investment contracts not carried at fair value
through profit or loss, any transaction costs directly
attributable to the issue of the contract. Fees and commissions
incurred with the recognition of a contract held at fair value
through profit or loss and that are not related to investment
management services provided under the contract are
recognized immediately in the income statement.

Subsequently, contracts designated as at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, which generally equals
the contractholder’s account value. All changes in the fair value
are recognized in the income statement as incurred. Other
investment contracts without discretionary participation
features are carried at amortized cost based on the expected
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cash flows and using the effective interest rate method. The
expected future cash flows are re-estimated at each reporting
date and the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recalculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows
using the financial liability's original effective interest rate. Any
adjustment is immediately recognized in the income statement.

The consolidated financial statements provide information on
the fair value of all financial liabilities, including those carried at
amortized cost. As these contracts are not quoted in active
markets, their value is determined by using valuation
techniques, such as discounted cash flow methods and
stochastic modeling. For investment contracts that can be
cancelled by the policyholder, the fair value cannot be less than
the surrender value.

C) INVESTMENT CONTRACTS FOR ACCOUNT OF
POLICYHOLDERS

Investment contracts for account of policyholders are investment

contracts for which the actual return on investments allocated

to the contract is passed on to the policyholder. Also included

are participations held by third parties in consolidated

investment funds that meet the definition of a financial liability.

Investment contracts for account of policyholders are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Contracts with
unit-denominated payments are measured at current unit
values, which reflect the fair values of the assets of the fund.

For unit-linked contracts without discretionary participation
features and subject to actuarial funding, the Group recognizes
a liability at the funded amount of the units. The difference
between the gross value of the units and the funded value is
treated as an initial fee paid by the policyholder for future asset
management services and is deferred. It is subsequently
amortized over the life of the contract or a shorter period, if
appropriate.

Note 2.21 PROVISIONS

A provision is recognized for present legal or constructive
obligations arising from past events, when it is probable that it
will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount
can be reliably estimated.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of
the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the
balance sheet date, considering all its inherent risks and
uncertainties, as well as the time value of money. The
unwinding of the effect of discounting is recorded in the income
statement as an interest expense.



ONEROUS CONTRACTS

With the exception of insurance contracts and investment
contracts with discretionary participation features for which
potential future losses are already considered in establishing
the liability, a provision is recognized for onerous contracts in
which the unavoidable costs of meeting the resulting
obligations exceed the expected future economic benefits.

Note 2.22 ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RELATING TO
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

A) SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

A liability is recognized for the undiscounted amount of short-

term employee absences benefits expected to be paid within

one year after the end of the period in which the service was

rendered. Accumulating short-term absences are recognized

over the period in which the service is provided. Benefits that

are not service-related are recognized when the event that

gives rise to the obligation occurs.

B) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Group has issued defined contribution plans and defined
benefit plans. A plan is classified as a defined contribution plan
when the Group has no further obligation than the payment of
a fixed contribution. All other plans are classified as defined
benefit plans.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

The contribution payable to a defined contribution plan for
services provided is recognized as an expense in the income
statement. An asset is recognized to the extent that the
contribution paid exceeds the amount due for services
provided.

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The defined benefit obligation is based on the terms and
conditions of the plan applicable on the balance sheet date.
Plan improvements are charged directly to the income
statement, unless they are conditional on the continuation of
employment. In this case the related cost is deducted from the
liability as past service cost and amortized over the vesting
period. In measuring the defined benefit obligation the Group
uses the projected unit credit method and actuarial
assumptions that represent the best estimate of future
variables. The benefits are discounted using an interest rate
based on the market yields for high-quality corporate bonds
on the balance sheet date.

Plan assets are qualifying insurance policies and assets held by
long-term employee benefit funds that can only be used to pay
the employee benefits under the plan and are not available to

the Group's creditors. They are measured at fair value and are
deducted in determining the amount recognized on the
balance sheet.

The cost of the plans is determined at the beginning of the year,
based on the prevalent actuarial assumptions, discount rate and
expected return on plan assets. Changes in assumptions, discount
rate and experience adjustments are not charged to the income
statement in the period in which they occur, but are deferred.

The unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are amortized in

a straight line over the average remaining working life of the
employees covered by the plan, to the extent that the gains or
losses exceed the corridor limits. The corridor is defined as ten
percent of the greater of the defined benefit obligation or the
plan assets. The amortization charge is reassessed at the
beginning of each year. The corridor approach described above
was not applied retrospectively to periods prior to the transition
to IFRS (January 1, 2004).

C) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has issued share-based plans that entitle employees
to receive equity instruments issued by the Group or cash
payments based on the price of AEGON N.V. common shares.
Some plans provide employees of the Group with the choice

of settlement.

For share option plans that are equity-settled, the expense
recognized is based on the fair value on the grant date of the
share options, which does not reflect any performance
conditions other than conditions linked to the price of the
Group's shares. The cost is recognized in the income statement,
together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’

equity, as the services are rendered. During this period the
cumulative expense recognized at the reporting date reflects
management's best estimate of the number of shares expected
to vest ultimately.

Share appreciation right plans are initially recognized at fair
value at the grant date, taking into account the terms and
conditions on which the instruments were granted. The fair
value is expensed over the period until vesting, with recognition
of a corresponding liability. The liability is remeasured at each
reporting date and at the date of settlement, with any changes
in fair value recognized in the income statement.

Share option plans that can be settled in either shares or
cash at the discretion of the employee are accounted for as
a compound financial instrument, which includes a debt
component and an equity component.
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Note 2.23 DEFERRED REVENUE LIABILITY

Initial fees and front-end loadings paid by policyholders and
other clients for future investment management services
related to investment contracts without discretionary
participation features are deferred and recognized as revenue
when the related services are rendered.

Note 2.24 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

A) CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Tax assets and liabilities for current and prior periods are
measured at the amount that is expected to be received from or
paid to the taxation authorities, using the tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

B) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between
the carrying value of an item and its tax value, with the
exception of differences arising from the initial recognition of
goodwill and of assets and liabilities that do not impact taxable
or accounting profits. A tax asset is recognized for tax loss
carryforwards to the extent that it is probable at the reporting
date that future taxable profits will be available against which
the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities relating to investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures are not recognized if the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the difference will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed at the balance
sheet date and are measured at tax rates that are expected to
apply when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.

The carrying amount is not discounted and reflects the Group's
expectations concerning the manner of recovery or settlement.

Note 2.25 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes if the inflow of
economic benefits is probable, but not virtually certain. When
the inflow of economic benefits becomes virtually certain, the
asset is no longer contingent and its recognition is appropriate.

A provision is recognized for present legal or constructive
obligations arising from past events, when it is probable that it
will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount
can be reliably estimated. If the outflow of economic benefits is
not probable, a contingent liability is disclosed, unless the
possibility of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.

: 108

Note 2.26 PREMIUM INCOME

Gross premiums, including recurring and single premiums, from
life and non-life insurance and investment contracts with
discretionary participation features are recognized as revenue
when they become receivable. Not reflected as premium income
are deposits from certain products that are sold only in the
United States and Canada, such as deferred annuities. For these
products the surrender charges and charges assessed have
been included in gross premiums.

Premium loadings for installment payments and additional
payments by the policyholder towards costs borne by the
insurer are included in the gross premiums. Rebates that form
part of the premium rate, such as no-claim rebates, are deducted
from the gross premium, others are recognized as an expense.
Depending on the applicable local accounting principles,
bonuses that are used to increase the insured benefits may be
recognized as gross premiums.

Note 2.27 INVESTMENT INCOME

For interest-bearing assets, interest is recognized as it accrues
and is calculated using the effective interest rate method.

Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective
yield of the financial assets or liabilities are recognized as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the instrument.
Investment income includes the interest income and dividend
on financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss.

Investment income also includes dividends accrued and rental
income due, as well as fees received for security lending.

Note 2.28 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fees and commissions from investment management services
and mutual funds, and from sales activities are recognized as
revenue over the period in which the services are performed or
the sales have been closed.

Note 2.29 POLICYHOLDER CLAIMS AND BENEFITS
Policyholder claims and benefits consist of claims and benefits
paid to policyholders, including benefit claims in excess of
account value for products for which deposit accounting is
applied and the change in the valuation of liabilities for
insurance and investment contracts. It includes internal and
external claims handling costs that are directly related to the
processing and settlement of claims. Amounts receivable in
respect of salvage and subrogation are also considered.

Note 2.30 RESULTS FROM FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS
Results from financial transactions include:



NET FAIR VALUE CHANGE OF GENERAL ACCOUNT
FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS, OTHER THAN DERIVATIVES

Net fair value change of general account financial investments
at fair value through profit or loss, other than derivatives
include fair value changes of financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss. The net gains and losses do not
include interest or dividend income.

REALIZED GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL
INVESTMENTS

Gains and losses on financial investments include realized gains
and losses on general account financial assets, other than those
classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

NET FAIR VALUE CHANGE OF DERIVATIVES

All changes in fair value are recognized in the income
statement, unless the derivative has been designated as a
hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge or a hedge of a net
investment in a foreign operation. Fair value movements of fair
value hedge instruments are offset by the fair value movements
of the hedged item, the resulting hedge ineffectiveness, if any,
is included in this line. In addition the fair value movements of
bifurcated embedded derivatives are included in this line.

NET FAIR VALUE CHANGE ON FOR ACCOUNT OF
POLICYHOLDER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Net fair value change on for account of policyholder financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss include fair value
movements of investments held for account of policyholders
(refer note 2.9). The net fair value change does not include
interest or dividend income.

OTHER

In addition Results from financial transactions include
gains/losses on real estate (general account and account of
policyholder), net foreign currency gains/(losses) and net fair
value change on borrowings and other financial liabilities and
realized gains on repurchased debt.

Note 2.31 IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Impairment charges include impairments on investments in
financial assets, impairments on the valuation of insurance
assets and liabilities and other non-financial assets and
receivables. Refer note 41.

Note 2.32 INTEREST CHARGES AND RELATED FEES
Interest charges and related fees includes interest expense on
trust pass-through securities, subordinated borrowings and
other borrowings. Interest expense on trust pass-through

securities, subordinated borrowings and other borrowings
carried at amortized cost is recognized in profit or loss using
the effective interest method.

Note 2.33 LEASES

Arrangements that do not take the form of a lease but convey
aright to use an asset in return for a payment are assessed at
inception to determine whether they are, or contain, a lease.
This involves an assessment of whether fulfillment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and
whether the purchaser (lessee) has the right to control the use
of the underlying asset.

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases, where the Group is the
lessee, are charged to the income statement on a straight line
basis over the period of the lease.

Where the Group is the lessor under an operating lease, the
assets subject to the operating lease arrangement are
presented in the balance sheet according to the nature of the
asset. Income from these leases are recognized in the income
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term, unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset is
diminished.

Note 2.34 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that
occurred between the balance sheet date and the date when
the financial statements are authorized for issue, provided
they give evidence of conditions that existed at the balance
sheet date.

Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the
balance sheet date are disclosed, but do not result in an
adjustment of the financial statements themselves.

Note 3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENT IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Application of the accounting policies in the preparation of the
financial statements requires management to apply judgment
involving assumptions and estimates concerning future results or
other developments, including the likelihood, timing or amount
of future transactions or events. There can be no assurance
that actual results will not differ materially from those estimates.
Accounting policies that are critical to the financial statement
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presentation and that require complex estimates or significant
judgment are described in the following sections.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
was amended late in 2008 permitting companies with a choice
to reclassify certain financial assets between categories, the
effect of which would be to hold assets at ‘deemed cost’ (cost
determined during the third or fourth quarter of 2008) and
discontinue mark-to-market valuation. Moreover, the IASB
published clarifications in the fourth quarter 2008 of valuation
techniques in illiquid or distressed markets including describing
additional situations when mark-to-model valuations would be
appropriate. AEGON has not reclassified assets held as
available-for-sale (AFS) to loans or held-to-maturity assets.
Also, AEGON transferred a very limited amount of assets valued
based on market prices to mark-to-model valuations, driven by
current market developments.

VALUATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACTS

The liability for life insurance contracts with guaranteed or fixed
account terms is either based on current assumptions or on the
assumptions established at inception of the contract, reflecting
the best estimates at the time increased with a margin for
adverse deviation. All contracts are subject to liability adequacy
testing which reflects management's current estimates of
future cash flows. To the extent that the liability is based on
current assumptions, a change in assumptions will have an
immediate impact on the income statement. Also, if a change in
assumption results in the failure of the liability adequacy test,
the entire deficiency is recognized in the income statement.

To the extent that the failure relates to unrealized gains and
losses on available-for-sale investments, the additional liability
is recognized in the revaluation reserve in equity.

Some insurance contracts without a guaranteed or fixed
contract term contain guaranteed minimum benefits.
Depending on the nature of the guarantee, it may either be
bifurcated and presented as a derivative or be reflected in the
value of the insurance liability in accordance with local
accounting principles. Given the dynamic and complex nature of
these guarantees, stochastic techniques under a variety of
market return scenarios are often used for measurement
purposes. Such models require management to make numerous
estimates based on historical experience and market
expectations. Changes in these estimates will immediately
affect the income statement.

In addition, certain acquisition costs related to the sale of new

policies and the purchase of policies already in force are recorded
as DPAC and VOBA assets respectively and are amortized to
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the income statement over time. If the assumptions relating to
the future profitability of these policies are not realized, the
amortization of these costs could be accelerated and may even
require write offs due to unrecoverability.

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

The main assumptions used in measuring DPAC, VOBA and the
liabilities for life insurance contracts with fixed or guaranteed
terms relate to mortality, morbidity, investment return and
future expenses. Depending on local accounting principles,
surrender rates may be considered.

Mortality tables applied are generally developed based on a
blend of company experience and industry wide studies, taking
into consideration product characteristics, own risk selection
criteria, target market and past experience. Mortality
experience is monitored through reqular studies, the results of
which are fed into the pricing cycle for new products and
reflected in the liability calculation when appropriate. For
contracts insuring survivorship, allowance may be made for
further longevity improvements. Morbidity assumptions are
based on own claims severity and frequency experience,
adjusted where appropriate for industry information.

Investment assumptions are either prescribed by the local
regulator or based on management's future expectations. In the
latter case, the anticipated future investment returns are set by
management on a countrywide basis, considering available
market information and economic indicators. A significant
assumption related to estimated gross profits on variable
annuities and variable life insurance products in the United
States, Canada and some of the smaller country units, is the
annual long-term growth rate of the underlying assets. As
equity markets do not move in a systematic manner,
assumptions as to the long-term growth rate are made after
considering the effects of short-term variances from the long-
term assumptions (a reversion to the mean assumption). The
reconsideration of this assumption may affect the original
DPAC or VOBA amortization schedule, referred to as DPAC or
VOBA unlocking. The difference between the original DPAC or
VOBA amortization schedule and the revised schedule, which is
based on estimates of actual and future gross profits, is
recognized in the income statement as an expense or a benefit
in the period of determination. At December 31, 2008, the
reversion to the mean assumptions for variable products,
primarily variable annuities, were as follows in the United States:
gross long-term equity growth rate of 9% (2007: 9%); gross
short-term growth rate of 15% (2007: 6%); gross short- and
long-term fixed security growth rate of 6% (2007: 6%); and the
gross short- and long-term growth rate for money market funds
of 3.5% (2007: 3.5%). The significant decreases in equity



markets in 2008 would have resulted in a 25% gross short-term
growth rate at year end 2008. The short-term equity growth
rate was capped at 15%, which caused an additional DPAC
amortization of approximately EUR 250 million after tax.

Assumptions on future expenses are based on the current level of
expenses, adjusted for expected expense inflation if appropriate.

Surrender rates depend on product features, policy duration
and external circumstances such as the interest rate
environment and competitor and policyholder behavior.
Credible own experience, as well as industry published data,
are used in establishing assumptions. Lapse experience is
correlated to mortality and morbidity levels, as higher or lower
levels of surrenders may indicate future claims will be higher or
lower than anticipated. Such correlations are accounted for in
the mortality and morbidity assumptions based on the
emerging analysis of experience.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
DERIVATIVES DETERMINED USING VALUATION
TECHNIQUES

Investment contracts issued by AEGON are either carried at fair
value (if they are designated as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) or amortized cost (with fair value being
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements).
These contracts are not quoted in active markets and their fair
values are determined by using valuation techniques, such as
discounted cash flow methods and stochastic modeling or in
relation to the unit price of the underlying assets. All models
are validated and calibrated. A variety of factors are considered,
including time value, volatility, policyholder behavior, servicing
costs and fair values of similar instruments. Credit spread is
considered in measuring the fair value of derivatives (including
derivatives embedded in insurance contracts), borrowings and
other liabilities.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

When available, AEGON uses quoted market prices in active
markets to determine the fair value of investments and
derivatives. In the absence of an active market, the fair value of
investments in financial assets is estimated by using other
market observable data such as external quotes and present
value or other valuation techniques. An active market is one in
which transactions are taking place regularly on an arm’s length
basis. Although not necessarily determinative, indicators that a
market is inactive are lower transaction volumes, reduced
transaction sizes and, in some cases, no observable trading
activity for short periods. A fair value measurement assumes
that an asset or liability is exchanged in an orderly transaction

between market participants, and accordingly, fair value is not
determined based upon a forced liquidation or distressed sale.

Valuation techniques are used when AEGON determines the
market is inactive for the asset or liability at the measurement
date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains
the same, that is, to arrive at the price at which an orderly
transaction would occur between market participants at the
measurement date. Therefore, unobservable inputs reflect
AEGON's own assumptions about the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including
assumptions about risk). These inputs are developed based on
the best information available.

AEGON employs an oversight structure over valuation of financial
instruments that includes appropriate segregation of duties.
Senior management, independent of the investing functions, is
responsible for the oversight of control and valuation policies
and for reporting the results of these policies. For fair values
determined by reference to external quotation or evidenced
pricing parameters, independent price determination or
validation is utilized. Adjustments made to fair values as a result
of the validation process are reported to senior management.
Further details of the validation processes are set out below.

SHARES

Fair values for unquoted shares are estimated using
observations of the price/earnings or price/cash flow ratios of
guoted companies considered comparable to the companies
being valued. Valuations are adjusted to account for company-
specific issues and the lack of liquidity inherent in an unquoted
investment. llliquidity adjustments are generally based on
available market evidence. In addition, a variety of other factors
are reviewed by management, including, but not limited to,
current operating performance, changes in market outlook and
the third-party financing environment.

The fair values of investments held in non-quoted investment
funds (hedge funds, private equity funds) are determined by
management after taking into consideration information
provided by the fund managers. AEGON reviews the valuations
each month and performs analytical procedures and trending
analyses to ensure the fair values are appropriate.

DEBT SECURITIES

When available, AEGON uses quoted market prices in active
markets to determine the fair value of its debt securities.
These market quotes are obtained through index prices or
pricing services.
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The fair values of debt securities (including ABS - Housing,
RMBS, CMBS and CDO securities) are determined by
management after taking into consideration several sources of
data. AEGON's valuation policy dictates that publicly available
prices are initially sought from several third party pricing
services. In the event that pricing is not available from these
services, those securities are submitted to brokers to obtain
guotes. The majority of brokers' quotes are non-binding. As part
of the pricing process AEGON assesses the appropriateness of
each quote (i.e., as to whether the quote is based on observable
market transactions or not) to determine the most appropriate
estimate of fair value. Lastly, securities are priced using internal
cash flow modeling techniques. These valuation methodologies
commonly use the following inputs: reported trades, bids,
offers, issuer spreads, benchmark yields, estimated prepayment
speeds, and/or estimated cash flows. Only pricing services and
brokers with a substantial presence in the market and with
appropriate experience and expertise are used.

Third party pricing services will often determine prices using
recently reported trades for identical or similar securities. The
pricing service makes adjustments for the elapsed time from
the trade date to the balance sheet date to take into account
available market information. Lacking recently reported trades,
third party pricing services and brokers will use modeling
techniques to determine a security price where expected future
cash flows are developed based on the performance of the
underlying collateral and discounted using an estimated market
rate. Also included within the modeling techniques for ABS -
Housing, RMBS, CMBS and CDO securities are estimates of the
speed at which principal will be repaid over their remaining
lives. These estimates are determined based on historical
repayment speeds (adjusted for current markets) as well as the
structural characteristics of each security.

Each month, AEGON performs an analysis of the inputs
obtained from third party services and brokers to ensure that
the inputs are reasonable and produce a reasonable estimate of
fair value. AEGON's asset specialists and investment valuation
specialists consider both qualitative and quantitative factors as
part of this analysis. Several examples of analytical procedures
performed include, but are not limited to, recent transactional
activity for similar debt securities, review of pricing statistics
and trends and consideration of recent relevant market events.

Credit ratings are an important consideration in the valuation of
securities and are included in the internal process for
determining AEGON's view of the risk associated with each
security. However, AEGON does not rely solely on external
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credit ratings and there is an internal process, based on market
observable inputs, for determining AEGON's view of the risks
associated with each security.

AEGON's portfolio of private placement securities (held at fair
value under the classification of available-for-sale) is valued
using a matrix pricing methodology. The pricing matrix is
obtained from a third party service provider and indicates
current spreads for securities based on weighted average life,
credit rating, and industry sector. Each month, AEGON's asset
specialists review the matrix to ensure the spreads are
reasonable by comparing them to observed spreads for similar
bonds traded in the market. Other inputs to the valuation
include coupon rate, the current interest rate curve used for
discounting and an illiquidity premium to account for the illiquid
nature of these securities. The illiquidity premiums are
determined based upon the pricing of recent transactions in the
private placements market; comparing the value of the privately
offered security to a similar public security. The impact of the
illiquidity premium for private placement securities in 2008 and
2007 to the overall valuation is insignificant.

MORTGAGES, POLICY LOANS AND PRIVATE LOANS

(HELD AT AMORTIZED COST)

For private loans, fixed interest mortgage and other loans
originated by the Group the fair value used for disclosure
purposesis estimated by discounting expected future cash flows
using a current market rate applicable to financial instruments
with similar yield, credit quality and maturity characteristics.

The fair value of floating interest rate mortgages, policy loans
and private placements used for disclosure purposes is
assumed to be approximated by their carrying amount adjusted
for changes in credit risk where appropriate based on market
observable credit spreads.

MONEY MARKET AND OTHER SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
AND DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

The fair value of assets maturing within a year is assumed to be
approximated by their carrying amount adjusted for credit risk,
where appropriate, based on market observable credit spreads.

FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

Where quoted market prices are not available, other valuation
techniques, such as option pricing or stochastic modeling, are
applied. The valuation techniques incorporate all factors that
market participants would consider and are based on
observable market data when available. All models are validated
before they are used and calibrated to ensure that outputs
reflect actual experience and comparable market prices.



Fair values for exchange-traded derivatives, principally futures
and certain options, are based on quoted market prices. Fair
values for over-the-counter (OTC) derivative financial
instruments represent amounts estimated to be received from
or paid to a third party in settlement of these instruments.
These derivatives are valued using pricing models based on the
net present value of estimated future cash flows, directly
observed prices from exchange-traded derivatives, other OTC
trades, or external pricing services. Most valuations are derived
from swap and volatility matrices, which are constructed for
applicable indices and currencies using current market data
from many industry standard sources. Option pricing is based
on industry standard valuation models and current market
levels, where applicable. The pricing of complex or illiquid
instruments is based on internal models. For long-dated illiquid
contracts, extrapolation methods are applied to observed
market data in order to estimate inputs and assumptions that
are not directly observable. To value OTC derivatives
management uses observed market information, other trades in
the market and dealer prices.

AEGON normally mitigates credit risk in derivative contracts by
entering into collateral agreements where practical and in ISDA
master netting agreements for each of the Group's legal entities
to facilitate AEGON's right to offset credit risk exposure. Where
appropriate collateral is not held by AEGON or the counterparty
the fair value of derivatives is adjusted for credit risk based on
market observable spreads. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives attributable to changes in counterparty credit risk
were not significant.

DERIVATIVES EMBEDDED IN INSURANCE CONTRACTS
INCLUDING GUARANTEES

Certain guarantees for minimum benefits in insurance and
investment contracts are carried at fair value. These guarantees
include guaranteed minimum withdrawal benefits (GMWB') in
the United States which are offered on some AEGON variable
annuity products and are also assumed from a ceding company;
minimum interest rate guarantees on insurance products
offered in The Netherlands, including group pension and
traditional products; and guaranteed minimum accumulation
benefits on segregated funds sold in Canada.

The fair values of these guarantees are calculated as the
present value of future expected payments to policyholders less
the present value of assessed rider fees attributable to the
guarantees. Given the long-term nature of these guarantees
which are unlike instruments available in financial markets,
their fair values are determined by using complex valuation
techniques. Because of the dynamic and complex nature of
these cash flows, AEGON uses stochastic techniques under a

variety of market return scenarios. A variety of factors are
considered, including expected market rates of return, equity
and interest rate volatility, correlations of market returns,
discount rates and actuarial assumptions.

The expected returns are based on risk-free rates, such as the
current London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) forward curve.
AEGON added a premium to reflect credit spread as required.
The credit spread is set by using the credit default swap (CDS)
spreads of a reference portfolio of life insurance companies,
adjusted to reflect the subordination of senior debt holders at
the holding company level to the position of policyholders at
the operating company level (who have priority in payments to
other creditors). Because CDS spreads for US Life insurers
differed significantly from that for European life insurers,
AEGON's assumptions reflect these differences in the valuation.

For equity volatility, AEGON uses a term structure with market
based implied volatility inputs for the first five years.
Correlations of market returns across underlying indices are
based on actual observed market returns and their inter-
relationships over a number of years preceding the valuation
date. The volume of observable option trading from which
volatilities are implied diminishes markedly after five years; and
therefore, AEGON uses a volatility curve which grades from
actual implied volatilities for five years to a long-term forward
rate assumptions of 25%. The December 31, 2008 curve
reflects a volatility factor of approximately 30% at year 30.
Certain AEGON subsidiaries previously used a single parameter
approach for equity volatilities and moved to a term structure
in 2008. Assumptions on customer behavior, such as lapses,
included in the models are derived in the same way as the
assumptions used to measure insurance liabilities.

These assumptions are reviewed at each valuation date, and
updated based on historical experience and observable market
data, including market transactions such as acquisitions and
reinsurance transactions.

Since many of the assumptions are unobservable and are
considered to be significant inputs to the liability valuation,

the liability included in future policy benefits has been reflected
within the category ‘Valuation techniques not based on
observable market data’ of the fair value hierarchy. Refer to
note 47 for more details about AEGON's guarantees

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS

Similar to embedded derivatives in insurance contracts, certain
investment products are not quoted in active markets and their
fair values are determined by using valuation techniques.
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Because of the dynamic and complex nature of these cash
flows, stochastic or similar techniques under a variety of market
return scenarios are often used. A variety of factors are
considered, including expected market rates of return, market
volatility, correlations of market returns, discount rates and
actuarial assumptions.

The expected returns are based on risk-free rates, such as the
current London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) swap rates and
associated forward rates or the current rates on local
government bonds. Market volatility assumptions for each
underlying index are based on observed market implied
volatility data and/or observed market performance.

NOTE 3

Correlations of market returns for various underlying indices
are based on observed market returns and their inter-
relationships over a number of years preceding the valuation
date. Current risk-free spot rates are used to determine the
present value of expected future cash flows produced in the
stochastic projection process.

Assumptions on customer behavior, such as lapses, included in
the models are derived in the same way as the assumptions
used to measure insurance liabilities.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The fair values of the general account financial instruments
carried at fair value were determined as follows:

2008 2007
Valuation Valuation

Published technique Valuation Published technique Valuation

price based on techniques price based on techniques

quotations market not based on guotations market not based on

in an active observable observable in an active observable observable
In EUR million market' inputs2 market data®  Total market! inputs2 market data®  Total
Shares 1,467 841 294 2,602 2,502 1,187 246 3,935
Debt securities 28,753 64,946 1,066 94,765 58,556 39,538 379 98,473

Other investments

at fair value 17 746 2,220 2,983 25 1,369 2,109 3,503
Derivatives 34 4,001 (3,099) 936 24 (259) (610) (845)
Borrowings - 845 - 845 - 980 - 980

' Included in this category are financial assets and liabilities that are measured by reference to quoted prices in an active market. A financial instrument is
regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Main assets
included in this category are financial assets for which the fair value is determined by management using various inputs, including pricing vendors or
binding broker quotes and assets for which the fair value is determined by reference to indices.

N

Included in this category are financial assets and liabilities that are measured using a valuation technique based on assumptions that are supported by

prices from observable current market transactions in the same or a similar instrument or based on available market data. Main assets included in this
category are financial assets for which pricing is determined by management based on various market observable inputs but may include insignificant
assumptions which are not observable, such as the illiquidity premium assumption used in the valuation of private placements.

w

Not based upon market observable input means that fair values are determined by management in whole or in part using a using a valuation technique

(model) for which a significant input is not based on observable market data. A significant input is an input that is significant to the fair value
measurement in its entirely. Main assets in this category are hedge funds, private equity funds and limited partnerships. In addition bifurcated embedded

derivatives related to guarantees in insurance contracts are included.

Other than disclosed in note 47, the potential effect of using
reasonable alternative assumptions for valuing financial
instruments would not have a significant impact on AEGON's
net income (loss).

The total net amount of changes in fair value recognized in net
income (loss) of the financial instruments of which the valuation
technique includes non market observable inputs amount to

a pre-tax loss of EUR 1,301 million (2007: EUR 57 million).
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IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

There are a number of significant risks and uncertainties
inherent in the process of monitoring investments and
determining if impairment exists. These risks and uncertainties
include the risk that the Group's assessment of an issuer’s
ability to meet all of its contractual obligations will change
based on changes in the credit characteristics of that issuer and
the risk that the economic outlook will be worse than expected
or have more of an impact on the issuer than anticipated. Also,
there is a risk that new information obtained by the Group or



changes in other facts and circumstances will lead the Group to
change its investment decision. Any of these situations could
result in a charge against the income statement in a future
period to the extent of the impairment charge recorded.

DEBT SECURITIES

AEGON regularly monitors industry sectors and individual debt
securities for evidence of impairment. This evidence may
include one or more of the following: 1) deteriorating market to
book ratio, 2) increasing industry risk factors, 3) deteriorating
financial condition of the issuer, 4) covenant violations, 5) high
probability of bankruptcy of the issuer or 6) nationally
recognized credit rating agency downgrades. Additionally, for
asset-backed securities, cash flow trends and underlying levels
of collateral are monitored. A security is impaired if there is
objective evidence that a loss event has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset that has a negative impact on the
estimated future cash flows. A specific security is considered
to be impaired when it is determined that it is probable that
not all amounts due (both principal and interest) will be
collected as scheduled.

ABS - Housing securities, CMBS and RMBS are monitored and
reviewed on a monthly basis with detailed modeling completed
on each portfolio quarterly. Model output is generated under a
base and several stress-case scenarios. ABS - Housing, CMBS and
RMBS asset specialists utilize modeling software to perform a
loan-by-loan, bottom-up approach to modeling. The ABS - Housing
models incorporate market estimates on the property market,
borrowing characteristics, propensity of a borrower to defaults
or prepay and the overall security structure. The CMBS models
incorporate market estimates on the property market, capital
markets, property cash flows and loan structure. The RMBS
models incorporate external loan-level analytics to identify the
riskiest securities. The results from the models are then closely
analyzed by the asset specialist to determine whether or not a
principal or interest loss is expected to occur.

In addition, on a monthly basis, AEGON reviews all ABS - Housing
securities, CMBS and RMBS that have been in an unrealized loss
position of greater than 12 months and those with a month to
month market value decline of 5%. Additional reviews include a
realized loss analysis and analysis of holdings with a price decline
of more than 10% or more during the quarter. ABS - Housing
securities, CMBS and RMBS noted on exception reports are
specifically addressed by research and credit analysts who
evaluate the unrealized losses based upon current market
conditions, changes in credit spreads specific to the asset class,
and fundamentals related to the issuer. Impairments are
recorded in instances where loss events have taken place that
would affect future cash flows. The impairment analysis is

therefore based on a combination of models and analysts
review of market events on individual securities.

As at the reporting date, AEGON performed stress testing on
each security within its subprime mortgage portfolio. The stress
testing revealed a significant reduction in the margin of safety
for all fixed rate and senior floating rate mortgage products.
Factors included in the analysis depend upon the type of
collateral but for subprime mortgages they include
delinquencies, prepayment assumptions, the percentage of
borrowers with mortgage insurance, the percentage of
borrowers in states more at risk for declining home values
(Florida, California, etc.) and credit enhancements.

More detailed cash flow modeling was performed on issuances
identified as being most at risk, such as issuances with a
disproportionate number of borrowers from states experiencing
significant declines in home values. Cash flows were modeled
using the current collateral pool and capital structure to
determine whether there has been an adverse change in cash
flows (i.e. an event has occurred that would impact estimated
future cash flows). Defaults were estimated by identifying the
loans that are in various delinquency buckets and defaulting a
certain percentage of them over the near-term and long-term.
Recent payment history, a percentage of on-going delinquency
rates and a constant repayment rate are also incorporated into
the model. Once the entire pool is modeled, AEGON can
determine whether the particular tranche or holding is at risk
for payment interruption. Under these scenarios, the securities
held in AEGON USA's subprime mortgage portfolio model full
payment of principal and interest as of the reporting date.

SHARES

Objective evidence of impairment of an investment in an equity
instrument classified as available for sale includes information
about significant changes with an adverse effect that have
taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that
the cost of the investment in the equity instrument may not be
recovered. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
an investment in an equity instrument below its cost is also
objective evidence of impairment. Significant or prolonged
decline is generally defined as an unrealized loss position for
more than 6 months or a fair value of less than 80% of the cost
price of the investment.

GOODWILL

Goodwill is reviewed and tested for impairment under a fair
value approach. Goodwill must be tested for impairment at least
annually or more frequently as a result of an event or change in
circumstances that would indicate an impairment charge may
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be necessary. The recoverable amount is the higher of the value
in use or fair value less costs to sell for a cash-generating unit.
Impairment testing requires the determination of the value in
use and fair value less costs for each of AEGON's identified cash
generating units.

The valuation utilized the best available information, including
assumptions and projections considered reasonable and
supportable by management. The assumptions used in the
valuation involve significant judgments and estimates. Refer to
note 6 for more details.

VALUATION OF DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The liabilities or assets recognized in the balance sheet in
respect of defined benefit plans is the difference between the
present value of the projected defined benefit obligation at the
balance sheet date and the fair value of plan assets, together
with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and
past service costs. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash flows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid and that have terms to maturity that approximate the
terms of the related pension liability. Actuarial assumptions
used in the measurement of the liability include the discount
rate, the expected return on plan assets, estimated future
salary increases and estimated future pension increases. To the
extent that actual experience deviates from these assumptions,
the valuation of defined benefit plans and the level of pension
expenses recognized in the future may be affected.

RECOGNITION OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets are established for the tax benefit related
to deductible temporary differences, carryforwards of unused
tax losses and carryforwards of unused tax credits when in the
judgment of management it is more likely than not that AEGON
will receive the tax benefits. Since there is no absolute
assurance that these assets will ultimately be realized,
management reviews AEGON's deferred tax positions
periodically to determine if it is more likely than not that the
assets will be realized. Periodic reviews include, among other
things, the nature and amount of the tax income and expense
items, the expected timing when certain assets will be used or
liabilities will be required to be reported and the reliability of
historical profitability of businesses expected to provide future
earnings. Furthermore, management considers tax-planning
strategies it can utilize to increase the likelihood that the tax
assets will be realized. These strategies are also considered in
the periodic reviews.
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VALUATION OF SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS AND
SHARE OPTIONS

Because of the inability to measure the fair value of employee
services directly, fair value is measured by reference to the fair
value of the rights and options granted. This value is estimated
using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account the
respective vesting and exercise periods of the share
appreciation rights and share options.

The volatility is derived from quotations from external market
sources and the expected dividend yield is derived from
guotations from external market sources and the binomial
option pricing model. Future blackout periods are taken into
account in the model in conformity with current blackout
periods. The expected term is explicitly incorporated in the
model by assuming that early exercise occurs when the share
price is greater than or equal to a certain multiple of the
exercise price. This multiple has been set at two based on
empirical evidence. The risk free rate is the interest rate for
Dutch government bonds.

RECOGNITION OF PROVISIONS

Provisions are established for contingent liabilities when it is
probable that a past event has given rise to a present obligation
or loss and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Management exercises judgment in evaluating the probability
that a loss will be incurred. The estimate of the amount of a loss
requires management judgment in the selection of a proper
calculation model and the specific assumptions related to the
particular exposure.

Note 4 FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE RISKS
GENERAL

As an insurance company, AEGON is in the 'business of risk’
and as a result is exposed to a variety of risks. A description of
AEGON's risk management and control systems is given below
on the basis of significant identified risks for us. Some risks,
such as currency translation risk, are related to the
international nature of AEGON's business. Other risks include
insurance related risks, such as changes in mortality and
morbidity. However, AEGON's largest exposures are to changes
in financial markets (e.g. interest rate, credit and equity market
risks) that affect the value of the investments, liabilities from
products that AEGON sells, deferred expenses and value of
business acquired.

AEGON manages risk at local level where business is transacted,
based on principles and policies established at the Group level.
AEGON's integrated approach to risk management involves
common measurement of risk and scope of risk coverage to
allow for aggregation of the Group's risk position.



In addition, this integrated framework facilitates the sharing of
best practices and the latest research on methodologies. The
risk management functions are applied locally and are tied to
the speed of business, while corporate oversight remains
independent of the business activity providing oversight and
peer review.

To manage its risk exposure, AEGON has risk policies in place.
Many of these policies are group-wide while others are specific
to the unique situation of local businesses. The group level
policies limit the Company's exposure to major risks such as
equity, interest rates, credit and currency. The limits in these
policies in aggregate remain within the Company's overall
tolerance for risk and the Company's financial resources.
Operating within this policy framework, AEGON employs risk
management programs including asset liability management
(ALM) processes and models, hedging programs (which are
largely conducted via the use of derivatives) and insurance
programs (which are largely conducted through the use of
reinsurance). These risk management programs are in place in
each country unit and are not only used to manage risk in each
unit, but are also part of overall Group Risk Management.

AEGON operates a Derivative Use Policy and a Reinsurance Use
Policy to govern its usage of derivatives and reinsurance. These
policies establish the control, authorization, execution and
monitoring requirements of the usage of such instruments. In
addition, these policies stipulate necessary mitigation of credit
risk created through these derivatives and reinsurance risk
management tools. For derivatives, credit risk is normally
mitigated by requirements to post collateral via credit support
annex agreements. For reinsurance, credit risk is normally
mitigated by downgrade triggers allowing AEGON's recapture of
business, funds withheld by treaties (when AEGON owns the
assets) and assets held in trust for the benefit of AEGON (in the
event of reinsurer insolvency).

As part of these risk management programs, AEGON takes
inventory of its current risk position across risk categories.
AEGON also measures the sensitivity of net income and
shareholders’ equity under both stochastic and deterministic
scenarios. Management uses the insight gained through these
'what if?’ scenarios to manage the Group's risk exposure and
capital position. The models, scenarios and assumptions used
are reviewed reqgularly and updated as necessary.

Results of AEGON's sensitivity analyses are presented
throughout this section to show the estimated sensitivity of net
income and equity to various scenarios. For each type of market

risk, the analysis shows how net income and equity would have
been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were
reasonably possible at the reporting date. For each sensitivity
test the impact of a reasonably possible change in a single
factor is shown. The analysis considers the interdependency
between interest rates and lapse behavior for products sold in
the Americas where there is clear evidence of dynamic lapse
behavior. Management action is taken into account to the extent
that it is part of AEGON's regular policies and procedures,

such as established hedging programs. However, incidental
management actions that would require a change in policies
and procedures are not considered.

Each sensitivity analysis reflects the extent to which the shock
tested would affect management’s critical accounting estimates
and judgment in applying AEGON's accounting policies'. Market-
consistent assumptions underlying the measurement of non-
listed assets and liabilities are adjusted to reflect the shock
tested. The shock may also affect the measurement of assets
and liabilities based on assumptions that are not observable in
the market. For example, a shock in interest rates may lead to
changes in the amortization schedule of deferred policy
acquisition costs or to increased impairment losses on equity
investments. Although management'’s short-term assumptions
may change if there is a reasonable change in a risk factor,
long-term assumptions will generally not be revised unless
there is evidence that the movement is permanent. This fact is
reflected in the sensitivity analyses provided below.

The accounting mismatch inherent in IFRS is also apparent in
the reported sensitivities. A change in interest rates has an
immediate impact on the carrying amount of assets measured
at fair value. However the shock will not have a similar effect on
the carrying amount of the related insurance liabilities that are
measured based on prudent assumptions or on management’s
long term expectations. Consequently, the different measurement
bases for assets and liabilities lead to increased volatility in
IFRS net income and equity. AEGON has classified a significant
part of its investment portfolio as “available for sale”, which is
one of the main reasons why the economic shocks tested have
a different impact on net income than on equity. Unrealized
gains and losses on these assets are not recognized in the
income statement but are booked directly to the revaluation
reserves in equity, unless impaired. As a result, economic
sensitivities predominantly impact equity but leave net income
unaffected. The effect of movements of the revaluation reserve
on capitalization ratios and capital adequacy are minimal.
AEGON's target ratio for the composition of its capital base is
based on shareholders' equity excluding the revaluation reserve.

' Please refer to note 3 for a description of the critical accounting estimates and judgments.
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The sensitivities do not reflect what the net income for the
period would have been if risk variables had been different
because the analysis is based on the exposures in existence at
the reporting date rather than on those that actually occurred
during the year. Nor are the results of the sensitivities intended
to be an accurate prediction of AEGON's future equity or
earnings. The analysis does not take into account the impact of
future new business, which is an important component of
AEGON's future earnings. It also does not consider all methods
available to management to respond to changes in the financial
environment, such as changing investment portfolio allocations
or adjusting premiums and crediting rates. Furthermore, the
results of the analyses cannot be extrapolated for wider
variations since effects do not tend to be linear. No risk
management process can clearly predict future results.

CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE RISK

As an international group, AEGON is subject to foreign currency
translation risk. Foreign currency exposure exists when policies
are denominated in currencies other than the issuer's
functional currency. Currency risk in the investment portfolios
backing insurance and investment liabilities are managed using
asset liability matching principles. Assets allocated to equity are
kept in local currencies to the extent shareholders’ equity is
required to satisfy requlatory and self-imposed capital
requirements. Therefore, currency exchange rate fluctuations
may affect the level of shareholders’ equity as a result of
translation of subsidiaries into euro, the Group's presentation

currency. AEGON holds the remainder of its capital base
(convertible core capital securities, perpetual capital securities,
subordinated and senior debt) in various currencies in amounts
that are targeted to correspond to the book value of the
country units. This balancing mitigates currency translation
impacts on equity and leverage ratios. AEGON does not hedge
the income streams from the main non-euro units and, as a
result, earnings may fluctuate due to currency translation. As
AEGON has significant business segments in the Americas and
in the United Kingdom, the principal sources of exposure from
currency fluctuations are from the differences between the US
dollar and the euro and between the UK pound and the euro.
AEGON may experience significant changes in net income and
shareholders’ equity because of these fluctuations.

AEGON operates a Currency Risk Policy under which direct
currency speculation or program trading by country units is not
allowed unless explicit approval has been granted by the Group
Risk and Capital Committee. Assets should be held in the
functional currency of the business written or hedged back to
that currency. Where this is not possible or practical, remaining
currency exposure is subject to documentation requirements
and limits are placed on the total exposure at both group level
and for individual country units.

Information on AEGON's 3-year historical net income and equity
in functional currency are shown in the table below:

2008 2007 2006
Net Income
AEGON Americas (in USD) (2,022) 2,184 1,951
AEGON The Netherlands (in EUR) 94 606 1,420
United Kingdom (in GBP) 64 183 158
Other countries (in EUR) (9) 73 36
Equity in functional currency
AEGON Americas (in USD) 10,617 19,056 19,776
AEGON The Netherlands (in EUR) 2,954 3,079 4,235
United Kingdom (in GBP) 1,257 2,166 2,285
Other countries (in EUR) 1,948 1,413 1,336
The exchange rates for US dollar and UK pound per euro for
each of the last five year-ends are set forth in the table below:
Closing rates 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
usD 1.39 1.47 1.32 1.18 1.36
GBP 0.95 0.73 0.67 0.69 0.71
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AEGON group companies' foreign currency exposure from
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies is not material. The estimated approximate effects
on net income and shareholders’ equity of movements in the

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF NET INCOME AND
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY TO TRANSLATION RISK

exchange rates of AEGON's non-euro currencies relative to the
euro as included in the table below, are due to the translation of
subsidiaries and joint-ventures in the consolidated financial
statements.

Movement of markets''

Estimated approximate
effects on net income

Estimated approximate
effects on equity

2008

Increase by 15% of non-euro currencies relative to the euro (204) 1,180
Decrease by 15% of non-euro currencies relative to the euro 204 (1,180)
2007

Increase by 15% of non-euro currencies relative to the euro 258 2,298
Decrease by 15% of non-euro currencies relative to the euro (258) (2,298)

! The effect of currency exchange movements is reflected as a one-time shift up or down in the value of the non-euro currencies relative to the euro on

December 31, 2008.

INTEREST RATE RISK

AEGON bears interest rate risk with many of its products.

In cases where cash flows are highly predictable, investing in
assets that closely match the cashflow profile of the liabilities
can offset this risk. For some AEGON country units, local capital
markets are not well developed, which prevents the complete
matching of assets and liabilities for those businesses. For
some products, cash flows are less predictable as a result of
policyholder actions that can be affected by the level of
interest rates.

In periods of rapidly increasing interest rates, policy loans,
surrenders and withdrawals may and usually do increase.
Premiums in flexible premium policies may decrease as
policyholders seek investments with higher perceived returns.
This activity may result in cash payments by AEGON requiring
the sale of invested assets at a time when the prices of those
assets are adversely affected by the increase in market interest
rates; this may result in realized investment losses. These cash
payments to policyholders result in a decrease in total invested
assets and a decrease in net income. Among other things, early
withdrawals may also require accelerated amortization of DPAC,
which in turn reduces net income.

During periods of sustained low interest rates, AEGON may not
be able to preserve margins as a result of minimum interest
rate guarantees and minimum guaranteed crediting rates
provided on policies. Also, investment earnings may be lower
because the interest earnings on new fixed-income investments
are likely to have declined with the market interest rates.
Mortgages and redeemable bonds in the investment portfolio
are more likely to be repaid as borrowers seek to borrow at
lower interest rates and AEGON may be required to reinvest the
proceeds in securities bearing lower interest rates. Accordingly,
net income declines as a result of a decrease in the spread
between returns on the investment portfolio and the interest
rates either credited to policyholders or assumed in reserves.

AEGON manages interest rate risk closely taking into account
all of the complexity regarding policyholder behavior and
management action. AEGON employs sophisticated interest rate
measurement techniques and actively uses derivatives and
other risk mitigation tools to closely manage its interest rate
risk exposure. All derivative use is governed by AEGON
Derivative Use Policy.
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The table that follows shows interest rates at the end of each of
the last five years.

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
3-month US LIBOR 1.42% 4.70% 5.36% 4.54% 2.56%
3-month EURIBOR 2.89% 4.69% 3.73% 2.49% 2.16%
10-year US Treasury 2.22% 4.03% 4.70% 4.39% 4.22%
10-year Dutch government 3.54% 4.32% 3.97% 3.29% 3.68%

The sensitivity analysis in the table below shows an estimate of
the effect of a parallel shift in the risk free yield curves on net
income and equity. Increases in interest rates have a negative
effect on IFRS equity and net income in the current year
because it results in unrealized losses on investments that are
carried at fair value. The offsetting economic gain on the
insurance and investment contracts is however not fully
reflected in the sensitivities because many of these liabilities

are not measured at fair value. Over time, the short-term
reduction in net income due to rising interest rates would be
offset by higher net income in later years, all else being equal.
Therefore, rising interest rates are not considered a long-term
risk to the company.

The sensitivity analysis reflects the assets and liabilities held at
year end. This does not necessarily reflect the risk exposure
during the year as significant events do not necessarily occur
on January 1.

Parallel movement of yield curve

Estimated approximate Estimated approximate
effects on net income effects on equity

2008

Shift up 100 basis points (213) (3,078)
Shift down 100 basis points 60 2,886
2007

Shift up 100 basis points (222) (2,598)
Shift down 100 basis points 142 2,697

CREDIT RISK

As premiums and deposits are received, these funds are
invested to pay for future policyholder obligations. For general
account products, AEGON typically bears the risk for investment
performance equaling the return of principal and interest.
AEGON is exposed to credit risk on its general account fixed-
income portfolio (debt securities, mortgages and private
placements), OTC derivatives and reinsurance contracts. Some
issuers have defaulted on their financial obligations for various
reasons, including bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in the
economy, downturns in real estate values, operational failure
and fraud. In the current weak economic environment AEGON
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incurred significant investment impairments on AEGON's
investment assets due to defaults and overall declines in the
capital markets. Further excessive defaults or other reductions
in the value of these securities and loans could have a
materially adverse effect on AEGON's business, results of
operations and financial condition.

The table that follows shows the Group's maximum gross credit
exposure from investments (credit protection not taken into
account) in general account financial assets, as well as general
account derivatives and reinsurance assets. Please refer to note
50 and note 51 for further information on capital commitments
and contingencies and on collateral given, which may expose
the Group to credit risk.



General account exposure

Exposure 2008

Exposure 2007

Shares' 2,602 3,935
Debt securities - carried at fair value 86,301 93,086
Debt securities - carried at amortized cost 2,255 1,846
Money market and other short-term investments - carried at fair value 8,464 5,387
Mortgage loans - carried at amortized cost 20,166 17,853
Private loans - carried at amortized cost 822 804
Other loans - carried at amortized cost 4,345 3,897
Other financial assets - carried at fair value 2,983 3,502
Other financial assets - carried at amortized cost 15 30
Derivatives with positive values 6,729 1,260
Reinsurance assets 4,836 4,074
AT DECEMBER 31 139,518 135,674
! Further information on equity risk is provided in section ‘equity market and other investment risk'.
AEGON has entered into free-standing credit derivative
transactions (Single Tranche Synthetic CDOs and Single Name
Credit Default Swaps CDSs). The positions outstanding at the
end of the year were:

2008 2007

Fair Fair

CDOs and CDSs Notional value Notional value
Synthetic CDOs 4,764 (112) 4,497 (29)
CDSs 1,272 (65) 1,286 (14)

For a fee, AEGON USA takes credit exposure on a credit index,
i.e. super-senior tranches of the CDX index, via a synthetic
collateralized debt obligation program (synthetic CDO). This
index is composed of a reference portfolio of 125 investment
grade corporate credits. 78% of the exposure is to the most
senior of the super-senior tranches, i.e. the 30%-100% tranche.
That means that losses to AEGON would only occur if
cumulative net losses on the CDX index exceeded 30%, where
cumulative net loss is defined as bond defaults net of
recoveries. AEGON considers the probability of losses at these
levels to be remote and hence does not expect any cash losses
to occur from these synthetic CDO positions. The average
duration of the outstanding transactions is 4.2 years. As these
derivatives are marked to market through earnings, they

may however cause substantial operating earnings volatility
prior to maturity due to credit spread volatility. Assuming

there are no cash losses from the positions, any mark to market
effect on operating earnings will be reversed by maturity.

At December 31, 2008, the notional amount of this program was

EUR 4.7 billion with a negative market value of EUR (112) million.
In addition AEGON entered into standby liquidity asset purchase
agreements for which the Company received a fee for providing
liquidity on asset-backed commercial paper with a notional of
EUR 104 million. In August 2007, the Canadian asset backed
commercial paper market experienced a disruption, which
included Canadian government intervention and subsequent
market litigation, resulting in AEGON and the counterparty
negotiating settlement terms for the facility agreement. Per
these terms, AEGON holds embedded contingent options, which
reflects potential exposure to underlying senior tranches of
synthetic CDOs with a notional of EUR 1.7 billion when losses
exceed the fair value of collateral assigned by the counterparty
(fair value of collateral is EUR 316 million at December 31, 2008).
These contingent embedded options were marked to market

at December 31, 2008 (EUR 15 million liability). When the
contingent options are exercised, AEGON is exposed to the
underlying tranches of the synthetic CDOs.
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AEGON manages credit risk exposure by individual
counterparty, sector and asset class. Normally it mitigates
credit risk in derivative contracts by entering into collateral
agreements, where practical, and in International Swaps and
Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreements for
each of AEGON's legal entities to facilitate AEGON's right to
offset credit risk exposure. Main counterparties to these
transactions are investment banks and are typically rated AA or
higher. The credit support agreement will normally dictate the
threshold over which collateral needs to be pledged by AEGON
or its counterparty. Transactions requiring AEGON or its
counterparty to post collateral are typically the result of over-
the-counter derivative trades, comprised mostly of interest rate
swaps, currency swaps, and credit swaps. Collateral received is
mainly cash (USD and EUR). The Credit Support Agreements
that outline the acceptable collateral require high quality
instruments to be posted. Nearly all securities received as
collateral are US Treasuries or US Agency bonds. During the
year, AEGON obtained securities with a value of EUR 1.1 billion
by taking possession of collateral on reverse repurchase
agreements and EUR 1.9 billion on securities lending
transactions with Lehman Brothers. The loss incurred on these
transactions amounted to EUR 10 million. At December 31, 2008
debt securities from the collateral amounting to EUR 27 million
were included in AEGON's investment portfolio. In 2007 AEGON
did not take possession of collateral or called on other credit
enhancements. The credit risk associated with financial assets
subject to a master netting arrangement is eliminated only to
the extent that financial liabilities due to the same counterparty
will be settled after the assets are realized.

The extent to which the exposure to credit risk is reduced
through a master netting agreement may change substantially
within a short period of time because the exposure is affected
by each transaction subject to the arrangement. AEGON may
also mitigate credit risk in reinsurance contracts by including
down-grade clauses that allow the recapture of business,
retaining ownership of assets required to support liabilities
ceded or by requiring the reinsurer to hold assets in trust.

For the resulting net credit risk exposure, AEGON employs
deterministic and stochastic credit risk modeling in order to
assess the Group's credit risk profile, associated earnings and
capital implications due to various credit loss scenarios.

AEGON operates a Credit Name Limit Policy under which limits
are placed on the aggregate exposure that it has to any one
counterparty. Limits are placed on the exposure at both group
level and for individual country units. The limits also vary by a
rating system, which is a composite of the main rating agencies
(Fitch, Moody's and S&P) and AEGON's internal rating of the
counterparty. If an exposure exceeds the stated limit then the
exposure must be reduced to the limit for the country unit and
rating category as soon as possible. Exceptions to these limits
can only be made after explicit approval from AEGON's Group
Risk and Capital Committee. The policy is reviewed regularly.

AEGON group-wide counterparty exposure limits at the end of
2008 are:

Credit rating

In EUR million Limit
AAA 1,000
AA 1,000
A 750
BBB 500
BB 250
B 125
CCC or lower 50

The limits were not changed for 2008. At December 31, 2008
there were two violations of the Credit Name Limit Policy. One
was caused by the acquisition of a distressed American bank by
another bank where AEGON had investments in both entities.
As a result the combined investments under the new Credit Name
were above the policy limit. The second breach was caused by
the downgrading of one reinsurer. AEGON's Group Risk and
Capital Committee has granted temporary approval for these
two limit breaches.
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CREDIT RATING

The ratings distribution of general account portfolios of
AEGON's major country units, excluding reinsurance assets, are
presented in the table that follows, organized by rating category
and split by assets that are valued at fair value and assets that
are valued at amortized cost.



ST G e Americas The Netherlands United Kingdom Other countries Total 2008
account investments
excluding reinsurance Amort Fair  Amort Fair  Amort Fair  Amort Fair ~ Amort Fair
assets cost? value cost value cost value cost value cost value
Sovereign exposure - 6,197 170 12,496 - 463 1,876 1,148 2,046 20,324
AAA 628 17,074 131 2,187 - 236 8 277 767 19,772
AA 4,657 6,755 315 869 - 709 132 434 5,104 8,767
A 5,076 20,344 107 1,721 - 2,798 575 794 5,758 25,670
BBB 1,071 17,410 1 727 - 935 101 59 1,173 19,131
BB 120 1,847 29 161 - 12 32 19 181 2,039
B - 827 13 101 - 2 - 2 13 932
CCC or lower - 231 - 27 - 3 2 1 2 262
Assets not rated 2,157 4,525 9,444 4,199 11 40 544 65 12,156 9,516
Total 13,709 75,210 10,210 22,488 11 5,198 3,270 2,799 27,200 106,413
Past due and/or impaired
assets 82 324 206 228 - 3 115 59 403 666
AT DECEMBER 31 13,791 75,534 10,416 22,716 11 5,201 3,385 2,858 27,603 107,079
Americas The Netherlands United Kingdom Other countries Total 2007’
Amort Fair Amort Fair Amort Fair Amort Fair Amort Fair
cost? value cost value cost value cost value cost value
Sovereign exposure - 5,054 259 12,865 - 637 1,579 882 1,838 19,452
AAA - 16,757 155 2,000 - 242 46 210 201 19,228
AA - 6,574 317 1,641 - 936 82 418 399 9,569
A - 19,012 - 554 - 2,818 201 637 201 23,021
BBB - 15,551 2 681 - 924 59 31 61 17,187
BB - 1,482 - 276 - - 10 11 10 1,769
B - 1,106 9 126 - 12 - 4 9 1,248
CCC or lower - 168 - 16 - - - - - 184
Assets not rated 13,459 12,120 7,524 2,512 125 437 166 21,427 15,183
Total 13,459 77,824 8,266 20,671 7 5,694 2,414 2,359 24,146 106,841
Past due and/or impaired
assets 3 235 250 90 - 2 33 - 286 327
AT DECEMBER 31 13,462 78,059 8,516 20,761 7 5,696 2,447 2,359 24,432 107,168

' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.

2 Americas assets were not rated in 2007; 2008 ratings have been based on internal ratings.

The following table shows the credit quality of the gross balance
sheet positions for general account reinsurance assets specifically:

Carrying value

Carrying value

2008 2007
AAA 163 151
AA 3,539 2,703
A 491 438
Below A 182 163
Not rated 461 619
AT DECEMBER 31 4,836 4,074
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON GROUP NOTE 4
CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATION
The tables that follow present specific credit risk concentration
information for general account financial assets.
Credit risk concentrations - debt securities and The United Other Total
money market investments Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries 2008
Asset backed securities (ABSs) - Aircraft 51 - - - 51
ABSs - Collateralized Bond Obligations (CBOs) 573 197 - - 770
ABSs - Housing related 1,776 - 4 45 1,825
ABSs - Credit cards 1,988 199 - 4 2,191
ABSs - Other 2,123 648 393 - 3,164
Residential mortgage backed securities 3,767 963 - - 4,730
Commercial mortgage backed securities 4,467 55 194 175 4,891
Financial - Banking 5,120 1,407 1,346 486 8,359
Financial - Other 12,898 1,168 788 397 15,251
Industrial 23,232 937 1,507 597 26,273
Utility 5,578 219 464 152 6,413
Sovereign exposure 6,783 12,496 463 3,044 22,809

68,356 18,289 5,159 4,900 96,727
Past due and/or impaired 266 9 2 16 293
AT DECEMBER 31 68,622 18,298 5,161 4916 97,020
' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.

The United Other Total

Credit risk concentrations - mortgages Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries 2008
Agricultural 571 27 - - 598
Apartment 2,017 1,162 - - 3,179
Industrial 2,073 - - - 2,073
Office 4,275 49 - - 4,324
Retail 2,189 18 - 135 2,342
Other commercial 429 26 - - 455
Residential 73 6,736 - - 6,809

11,627 8,018 - 135 19,780
Past due and/or impaired 82 192 - 112 386
AT DECEMBER 31 11,709 8,210 - 247 20,166

' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.
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COMPARATIVE INFORMATION ON CREDIT RISK
CONCENTRATION - 2007 FIGURES:

Credit risk concentrations - debt securities and

The United Other Total
money market investments Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries 2007
Asset backed securities (ABSs) - Aircraft 81 - - - 81
ABSs - Collateralized Bond Obligations (CBOs) 780 - - 5 785
ABSs - Housing related 2,840 - 64 47 2,951
ABSs - Credit cards 2,627 5 - 4 2,636
ABSs - Other 2,660 120 216 - 2,996
Residential mortgage backed securities 5,039 646 - 52 5,737
Commercial mortgage backed securities 4,544 64 103 - 4,711
Financial 19,426 8315 2,822 812 26,377
Industrial 23,528 1,018 1,497 Bl 26,560
Utility 5,675 126 256 99 6,156
Sovereign exposure 5,043 12,865 637 2,473 21,036
72,243 18,159 5,595 4,007 100,026
Past due and/or impaired 227 66 - - 293
AT DECEMBER 31 72,470 18,225 5,595 4,007 100,319
' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.
The United Other Total
Credit risk concentrations - mortgages Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries 2007
Agricultural 516 33 - - 549
Apartment 1914 706 - - 2,620
Industrial 2,086 - - - 2,086
Office 4,336 25 - - 4,361
Retail 2,118 1 - 79 2,198
Other commercial 449 14 - 1 464
Residential 86 5,258 - - 5,344
11,505 6,037 - 80 17,622
Past due and/or impaired 3 200 - 28 231
AT DECEMBER 31 11,508 6,237 - 108 17,853

' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.

Included in the debt securities and money market investments
are EUR 2,255 million of assets that have been classified as
held-to-maturity and are therefore carried at amortized cost
(2007: EUR 1,846 million). Of the EUR 2,255 million assets

held-to-maturity, EUR 1,881 million are government bonds

(2007: EUR 1,579 million), EUR 8 million is ABS exposure
(2007: EUR 8 million) and EUR 367 million is corporate
exposure (2007: EUR 259 million).
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CREDIT CONCENTRATION
IN CERTAIN SECTORS

AEGON Americas housing exposure’ 2008 2007
ABSs - Housing related 1,819 2,840
Residential mortgage backed securities (RMBS) 3,791 5,039
Commercial mortgage backed securities (CMBS) 4,468 4,544
! Exposures include past due and impaired assets.
The fair values of these instruments were determined as follows:
2008 2007
Valuation Valuation
Published technique Valuation Published technique Valuation
price based on techniques price based on techniques
quotations market not based on guotations market not based on
in an active observable observable in an active observable observable
In EUR million market inputs  market data Total market inputs  market data Total
ABSs - Housing
related 68 1,439 312 1,819 117 2,710 13 2,840
RMBS - 3,460 331 3,791 634 4,405 - 5,039
CMBS - 4,394 4,468 2,923 1,620 1 4,544

ABS - HOUSING

AEGON USA Holds EUR 1,752 million of ABS - Housing securities
(2007: EUR 2,723 million). The unrealized loss on the ABS -
housing securities amounts to EUR 1,023 million (2007:

EUR 347 million). ABS - Housing securities are secured by pools
of residential mortgage loans primarily those which are
categorized as subprime. The unrealized loss is primarily due to
decreased liquidity and increased credit spreads in the market
combined with significant increases in expected losses on loans
within the underlying pools. Expected losses within the underlying
pools are generally higher than original expectations, primarily in
certain later-vintage adjustable rate mortgage loan pools, which
has led to some rating downgrades in these securities.

ABS - SUBPRIME MORTGAGE EXPOSURE
AEGON USA does not currently invest in or originate whole loan
residential mortgages. AEGON USA categorizes asset backed

securities issued by a securitization trust as having subprime
mortgage exposure when the average credit score of the
underlying mortgage borrowers in a securitization trust is
below 660. AEGON USA also categorizes asset backed
securities issued by a securitization trust with second lien
mortgages as subprime mortgage exposure, even though a
significant percentage of second lien mortgage borrowers may
not necessarily have credit scores below 660. As of

December 31, 2008, the amortized cost of investments backed
by subprime mortgage loans was EUR 2,575 million

(2007: EUR 2,866 million) and the market value was

EUR 1,590 million (2007: EUR 2,524 million).

The following table provides the market values of the subprime
mortgage exposure by rating.

Market value by quality

Total

AAA AA A BBB <BBB 2008

Subprime mortgages - fixed rate 724 55 50 13 20 862
Subprime mortgages - floating rate 195 153 19 30 54 451
Second lien mortgages' 108 20 55 29 277
AT DECEMBER 31 984 316 89 98 103 1,590
61.9% 19.9% 5.6% 6.2% 6.4% 100.0%

! Second lien collateral primarily composed of loans to prime and Alt-A borrowers.
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The following table provides the market values of the subprime
mortgage exposure by vintage.

Market value by vintage

Pre-2004 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 21858'!
Subprime mortgages - fixed rate 417 114 124 70 137 - 862
Subprime mortgages - floating rate 48 6 145 131 102 19 451
Second lien mortgages' 76 24 36 57 84 - 277
AT DECEMBER 31 541 144 305 258 323 19 1,590
34.0% 9.1% 19.2% 16.2% 20.3% 1.2% 100.0%
! Second lien collateral primarily composed of loans to prime and Alt-A borrowers.
COMPARATIVE INFORMATION ON SUBPRIME MORTGAGE
EXPOSURE - 2007 FIGURES:
Market value by quality
Total
AAA AA A BBB < BBB 2007
Subprime mortgages - fixed rate 1,016 66 - - - 1,082
Subprime mortgages - floating rate 314 528 9 1 - 852
Second lien mortgages' 539 32 13 2 4 590
AT DECEMBER 31 1,869 626 22 3 4 2,524
74.0% 24.8% 0.9% 0.1% 0.2% 100.0%
! Second lien collateral primarily composed of loans to prime and Alt-A borrowers.
COMPARATIVE INFORMATION ON THE MARKET VALUES
OF THE SUBPRIME MORTGAGE EXPOSURE BY VINTAGE -
2007 FIGURES:
Market value by vintage
Total
Pre-2004 2004 2005 2006 2007 2007
Subprime mortgages - fixed rate 455 146 149 131 201 1,082
Subprime mortgages - floating rate 69 26 232 295 230 852
Second lien mortgages' 122 42 66 147 213 590
AT DECEMBER 31 646 214 447 573 644 2,524
25.6% 8.5% 17.7% 22.7% 25.5% 100.0%

! Second lien collateral primarily composed of loans to prime and Alt-A borrowers.

Additionally, AEGON USA has exposure to asset backed securities
collateralized by manufactured housing loans. The market value
of these securities is EUR 139 million (2007: EUR 200 million)
with an amortized cost balance of EUR 165 million (2007:

EUR 193 million). All but one position have vintages of 2003 or
prior (2007: one position). These amounts are not included in
AEGON's subprime mortgage exposure tables above.

Where credit events may be impacting the unrealized losses,
cash flows are modeled using effective interest rates. AEGON
did not consider those securities to be impaired. Refer to note 3
for details on the pricing process.
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RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES
AEGON USA holds EUR 3,791 million (2007: EUR 5,039 million)
of residential mortgage backed securities (RMBS).

RMBS are securitizations of underlying pools of non-commercial
mortgages on real estate. The underlying residential mortgages
have varying credit ratings and are pooled together and sold in
tranches. The Company's RMBS mainly includes government
sponsored enterprise (GSE) guaranteed passthroughs, whole
loan passthroughs, Alt-A MBS and negative amortization MBS.

All RMBS securities are monitored and reviewed on a monthly
basis with detailed modeling completed on each portfolio
quarterly. Model output is generated under base and several
stress-case scenarios. RMBS asset specialists utilize modeling
software to perform a loan-by-loan, bottom-up approach to
modeling. Models incorporate external loan-level analytics to
identify the riskiest securities. The results from the models are

then closely analyzed by the asset specialist to determine
whether or not a principal or interest loss is expected to occur.
Positions are impaired to fair value where loss events have
taken place (or are projected to take place on structured
securities) that would affect future cash flows.

The unrealized loss on RMBS is EUR 1.9 billion. Of the RMBS
unrealized losses, EUR 282 million is attributed to the AAA
rated generic shelf name, Countrywide Alternative Loan Trust.
AEGON USA owns EUR 547 million securities under the
Countrywide Alternative Loan Trust name, with each deal
containing its own unique pool of collateral and representing a
separate and distinct trust. The combination of low floating-rate
reset margins, slow prepayment speeds, severe illiquidity in the
market for near-prime securities, and the unprecedented level
of mortgage-related credit spread widening have pushed the
overall market value as a percent of book on those RMBS bonds
in an unrealized loss position to 52%.

2008

AAA AAA AAA AAA Amortized Market

SSNR! SNR? Mezz3 SSuUp4 AA A BBB <BBB cost value

GSE guaranteed - 1,391 - - - - - - 1,391 1,398

Whole loan 229 525 7 9 13 71 40 20 914 650

Alt-A 739 269 - - 14 60 63 122 1,267 743
Negative Amortization

floater 1,459 30 8 47 19 16 - 106 1,685 711

Reverse Mortgage
floater - 381 - - - - - - 381 289
TOTAL RMBS 2,427 2,596 15 56 46 147 103 248 5,638 3,791

' SSNR - super-senior.

2 SNR - senior.

3 Mezz - mezzanine.

4 SSUP - senior support.

Alt-A Mortgage Exposure

AEGON USA's RMBS exposure includes exposure to securitized
home equity loans (Alt-A positions). This portfolio totals

EUR 743 million at December 31, 2008 (2007: EUR 844 million).
Unrealized losses amount to EUR 524 million at December 31,
2008 (2007: EUR 18 million). Alt-A loans are made to borrowers
whose qualifying mortgage characteristics do not meet the
standard underwriting criteria established by the GSEs
(Government-Sponsored Enterprises). The typical Alt-A
borrower has a credit score high enough to obtain an “A”
standing, which is especially important since the score must
compensate for the lack of other necessary documentation
related to borrower income and/or assets.
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AEGON's investments in Alt-A mortgages are in the form of
mortgage backed securities. AEGON's Alt-A investments are
primarily backed by loans with fixed interest rates for the entire
term of the loan. Additionally, one-third (2007: one-third) of the
Alt-A portfolio is invested in super-senior tranches. Mortgage-
backed securities classified as super-senior are those that
substantially exceed the subordination requirements of AAA-
rated securities. The tables below summarize the credit

quality of the underlying loans backing the securities and the
vintage year.



2008 2007

Rating Market value %  Market value %
AAA 606 81.6% 842 99.8%
AA 9 1.2% - 0.0%
A 29 3.9% 2 0.2%
BBB 28 3.8% - -
High yield 71 9.5% - -
AT DECEMBER 31 743 100.0% 844 100.0%

2008 2007
Vintage Market value %  Market value %
Prior 2005 65 8.8% 93 11.0%
2005 123 16.5% 262 31.1%
2006 176 23.7% 341 40.4%
2007 238 32.0% 148 17.5%
2008 141 19.0% - -
AT DECEMBER 31 743 100.0% 844 100.0%

Negative Amortization (Option ARMs) Mortgage Exposure

As part of AEGON USA's RMBS Exposure, AEGON USA holds
EUR 711 million of Negative Amortization mortgages

(2007: EUR 1.5 billion), unrealized losses on this portfolio
amount to EUR 974 million at December 31, 2008

(2007: EUR 73 million). Negative amortization mortgages (also
known as option ARMs) are loans whereby the payment made
by the borrower is less than the accrued interest due and the
difference is added to the loan balance. When the accrued
balance of the loan reaches the negative amortization limit
(typically 110% to 125% of the original loan amount), the loan
recalibrates to a fully amortizing level and a new minimum
payment amount is determined. The homeowner's new
minimum payment amount can be significantly higher than

the original minimum payment amount. The timing of when
these loans reach their negative amortization cap will vary,
and is a function of the accrual rate on each loan, the minimum
payment rate on each loan and the negative amortization limit
itself. Typically, these loans are estimated to reach their
negative amortization limit between 3 and 5 years from the
date of origination.

AEGON's exposure to negative amortization mortgages is
primarily AAA rated (2007 AAA rated), with a significant
portion of these positions being ‘super-senior’ AAA rated
securities. The following table provides the market values of the
Negative Amortization (Option ARMs) exposure by rating and
by vintage.
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2008 2007
Rating Market value %  Market value %
AAA 651 91.5% 1,484 99.7%
AA 5 0.7% B 0.3%
A 2 0.3% - 0.0%
High yield 53 7.5% - -
AT DECEMBER 31 711 100.0% 1,489 100.0%

2008 2007
Vintage Market value %  Market value %
2004 & Prior 24 3.4% 50 3.3%
2005 197 27.7% 488 32.8%
2006 276 38.8% 643 43.2%
2007 184 25.9% 308 20.7%
2008 30 4.2% - -
AT DECEMBER 31 711 100.0% 1,489 100.0%

COMMERCIAL MORTGAGE BACKED SECURITIES

AEGON USA holds EUR 4,468 million (2007: EUR 4,544 million)
of commercial mortgage backed securities (CMBS). The
unrealized loss on CMBS is EUR 1,817 million (2007:

EUR 89 million). The underlying mortgages have varying risk
characteristics and are pooled together and sold in different
rated tranches. The Company's CMBS include conduit, large
loan, single borrower, collateral debt obligations (CDOs),
government agency, and franchise loan receivable trusts.

Current delinquencies in the CMBS universe remain relatively
low in spite of the recent upward trend caused by the
deterioration in the fundamentals of the commercial real estate
market. The introduction of the 20% and 30% credit enhanced,
super senior AAA classes provide an offset to these negative
fundamentals. The lending market has become virtually frozen
as lenders have become more conservative with underwriting
standards, property transactions have diminished greatly, and
higher mortgage spreads have curtailed lending. A lack of
liquidity in the market combined with a broad re-pricing of risk
has led to increased credit spreads across the credit classes.

2008
CMBS exposure by quality AAA AA A BBB < BBB Cost price Market value
CMBS 5,247 553 170 103 16 6,089 4,372
CMBS and CRE CDOs 107 44 27 18 - 196 96
AT DECEMBER 31 5,354 597 197 121 16 6,285 4,468

Of the CMBS unrealized loss, over 16% is attributed to the
Lehman Brothers and UBS origination platform (‘LBUBS') deal
shelf which is collateralized by diversified mortgages. The
unrealized losses are primarily a function of the overall size of
AEGON's LBUBS holdings, EUR 0.9 billion (2007: EUR 0.6 billion),
and are not due to specific pool performance but relate to
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diminished demand over the last few months of 2008 for low
investment grade CMBS paper and historic widening of credit
spreads. Over 99% of the securities in an unrealized loss
position are rated investment grade. For all securities in an
unrealized loss position, the market to cost ratio is 70%
(2007: 97%).



AEGON USA NON HOUSING ABS EXPOSURE

AEGON USA holds EUR 4,683 million (2007: EUR 6,051 million)
of non housing related asset backed securities (ABS),
unrealized losses on this portfolio amount to EUR 1,948 million
at December 31, 2008 (2007: EUR 240 million). These are
securitizations of underlying pools of credit cards receivables,

auto financing loans, small business loans, bank loans and
other receivables. The underlying assets have varying credit
ratings and are pooled together and sold in tranches.

See the table below for the breakdown of the non housing
ABS exposure of AEGON USA.

2008
AAA AA A BBB <BBB Cost price  Market value
Credit cards 1,314 142 368 956 85 2,865 1,907
Autos 354 195 241 99 29 918 704
SBA/small business loans 463 9 8 34 1 515 343
CDOs backed by ABS,
corp bonds, bank loans 624 196 11 36 14 881 591
Other ABS 712 219 386 95 40 1,452 1,138
AT DECEMBER 31 3,467 761 1,014 1,220 169 6,631 4,683
The fair values of AEGON USA's ABS - non-housing instruments
were determined as follows:
2008 2007
Valuation Valuation Valuation Valuation
Published technique  techniques Published technique  techniques
price based on not price based on not
guotations market based on guotations market based on
in an active  observable  observable in an active  observable  observable
market inputs market data Total market inputs market data Total
ABSs - non-housing - 4,501 182 4,683 - 5,871 180 6,051

ABS - CREDIT CARDS

The unrealized loss on ABS - credit cards is EUR 958 million.
The issuer identified as having the largest unrealized loss is
Bank of America Credit Card Trust. This is a master trust made
up of several deals with all of AEGON's holdings carrying
investment grade ratings. AEGON owns EUR 697 million of
securities under the Bank of America Credit Card Trust name
with an unrealized loss of EUR 304 million. The unrealized loss
in the ABS credit card sector, including the Bank of America
Credit Card Trust, is primarily a function of decreased liquidity
and increased credit spreads in the structured finance and
financial institution market. While the credit card ABS portfolios
with large subprime segments may be negatively impacted by
the slowing domestic economy and housing market, there has

been little rating migration of the bonds held by AEGON. Over
95% of the ABS credit card bonds held by AEGON are rated
investment grade.

ABS - AUTOS

The unrealized loss on ABS - autos is EUR 214 million. The
unrealized loss in the ABS auto sector is primarily a function of
decreased liquidity and increased credit spreads with additional
pressure coming from depressed auto sales and lower margins
on incremental sales. While the auto ABS portfolio may be
negatively impacted by the slowing domestic economy and
concern over the future of the large automakers, there has
been little rating migration of the bonds held by AEGON.

Over 96% of the ABS auto bonds held by AEGON are rated
investment grade.
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SBA SMALL BUSINESS LOANS

The unrealized loss in the small business loan ABS portfolio is a
function of decreased liquidity and increased spreads as new
issuance within this sector has come to a halt. Additionally,
delinquencies and losses in the collateral pools within AEGON's
small business loan securitizations have increased since 2007,
as a result of the overall economic slowdown which has resulted
in decreased sales and profits at small businesses nationwide.
Banks and finance companies have also scaled back their
lending to small businesses.

AEGON's small business loan ABS portfolio is concentrated in
senior note classes (99% of par value). Thus in addition to
credit enhancement provided by the excess spread, reserve
account, and over-collateralization, AEGON's positions are also
supported by subordinated note classes. AEGON's small
business loan ABS portfolio is also primarily secured by
commercial real estate (99% of par value), with the original LTV
of the underlying loans typically ranging between 60-70%.

ABS - CDOS

ABS - Collateralized Debt Obligations are primarily secured by
pools of corporate bonds and leveraged bank loans. The
unrealized loss is a function of decreased liquidity and
increased credit spreads in the market for structured finance
and monoline guaranteed securities. Where there have been
rating downgrades to below investment grade, the individual
bonds have been modeled using the current collateral pool and
capital structure.

OTHER ABS

ABS - Other includes debt issued by securitization trusts
collateralized by various other assets including student loans,
timeshare loans, franchise loans and other asset categories.
The unrealized losses are a function of decreased liquidity and
increased credit spreads in the market. Over 98% of the
securities in an unrealized loss in this section are rated
investment grade. Where ratings have declined to below
investment grade, the individual bonds have been modeled to
determine if cash flow models indicate a credit event will impact
future cash flows and resulting impairments have been taken.

FINANCIAL

FINANCIAL - BANKING

AEGON holds EUR 8,367 million (2007: EUR 11,732 million) of
bonds issued by banks. The unrealized loss on these bonds
amount to EUR 2,355 million (2007: EUR 546 million). The
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capital bases of banks and other financial firms have been
strained as they are forced to retain assets on their balance
sheets that had previously been securitized and to write down
certain mortgage-related and corporate credit-related assets.
Financial companies within AEGON's financial sector are
generally high in credit quality, and as a whole represent a large
portion of the corporate debt market. The financial sector has
seen a large impact to valuations from the broader market
volatility given it is a focal point of the current concerns.
Governments across the world have attempted to stabilize
market liquidity and investor confidence via extraordinary
measures, including providing substantial support to banks and
insurance companies.

EXPOSURE TO CAPITAL SECURITIES IN THE

BANKING SECTOR

The value of AEGON's investments in deeply subordinated
securities in the financial services sector may be significantly
impacted if the issuers of such securities exercise the option to
defer payment of optional coupons or dividends, are forced to
accept government support or intervention, or grant majority
equity stakes to their respective governments. These securities
are broadly referred to as capital securities which can be
categorized as Trust Preferred, Hybrid, Tier 1 or Upper Tier 2.

The "Trust Preferred’ category is comprised of capital securities
issued by U.S.-based financial services entities where the capital
securities typically have an original maturity of 30 years
(callable after 10 years) and generally have common structural
features, including a cumulative coupon in the event of deferral.
The "Hybrid' category is comprised of capital securities issued
by financial services entities which typically have an original
maturity of more than 30 years and may be perpetual. In
addition, Hybrids have other features that may not be consistent
across issues such as a cumulative or non-cumulative coupon,
capital replacement and an alternative payment mechanism, and
could also be subordinate to the traditional Trust Preferred in
the company'’s capital structure. Capital securities categorized
as 'Tier 1" are issued by non-US banks and are perpetual with

a non-cumulative deferrable coupon. Capital securities
categorized as ‘Upper Tier 2" are also issued by non-US banks
but these positions are generally perpetual where the
deferrable coupon is cumulative.



The following table highlights AEGON's credit risk to capital
securities within the banking sector:

2008
The United Other

Amortized Cost Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries Cost price  Market value
Hybrid 277 - 12 - 289 173
Trust preferred 553 - 46 - 599 378
Tier 1 930 317 661 89 1,997 1,044
Upper Tier 2 616 88 317 14 1,035 640
AT DECEMBER 31 2,376 405 1,036 103 3,920 2,235

FINANCIAL - OTHER

The unrealized losses in the brokerage, insurance and other
finance sub-sector primarily reflect general spread widening on
financial services companies (due to broad housing, mortgage
market, equity market and economic issues plus increased
liquidity and capital markets concerns).

MONOLINE EXPOSURE

About EUR 2.6 billion of the bonds in AEGON USA's portfolio are
wrapped by monoline insurers (2007: EUR 2.8 billion), of which
EUR 792 million of bonds (2007: EUR 800 million) in the

EUR 2.6 billion subprime portfolio (2007: EUR 2.9 billion).
Expected claims against the monolines are less than

EUR 157 million (2007: EUR 14 million), although an insolvency
by one of the monolines could create significant market price
volatility for the affected holdings.

The following table breaks down bonds in AEGON USA's
portfolio that are wrapped by monoline insurers. The disclosure
by rating follows a hierarchy of Standard & Poor's, Moody's,
Fitch, internal, and National Association of Insurance
Commissioners.

2008 2007
Bonds wrapped by monoline insurers Cost price  Market price Cost price  Market price
AAA 551 391 2,753 2,652
AA 97 63 48 43
<AA 1,956 1,320 15 14
AT DECEMBER 31 2,604 1,774 2,816 2,709

The rating that is provided by the rating agencies on these
guaranteed bonds is the higher of the guarantor’s rating or the
rating of the underlying bond itself.

Of the EUR 2,604 million (2007: EUR 2,816 million) indirect
exposure on the monoline insurers 29% relates to MBIA, 25%
to AMBAC, 19% to FGIC and 15% to FSA (2007: 32% related to
MBIA, 28% to AMBAC, 16% to FGIC and 11% to FSA). Of the
remaining 12% (2007: 13%), no individual monoline insurer
represents more than 10% of the total wrapped portfolio.

In addition to its indirect exposure via wrapped bonds,

AEGON USA also has direct exposure of EUR 37 million (2007:
EUR 126 million) via holdings in monoline insurers and derivative
counterparty exposure where monoline insurers are AEGON's
counterparty. Of AEGON's direct exposure 34% relates to XL,
14% to MBIA and 29% to AMBAC (2007: 33% related to XL,
19% to MBIA, 17% to AMBAC and 14% to CIFG). There are no
other individual monoline insurers that represent more than
10% (2007: 10%) of the total direct exposure.
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PAST DUE AND IMPAIRED ASSETS year (2007: nil). At December 31, 2008 EUR 119 million

The tables that follow provide information on past due and (December 31, 2007: nil) collateral and other credit

individually impaired financial assets. An asset is past due when enhancements are held related to financial assets that were

a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually past due or individually impaired.

due. Assets are impaired when an impairment loss has been

charged to the income statement relating to this asset. After Property with a value of EUR 21 million collateralizing mortgage
the impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods, the loans was taken possession of in December 2008. As at

asset is no longer considered to be impaired. When the terms December 31, 2008, the property had not been disposed of.

and conditions of financial assets have been renegotiated, the

terms and conditions of the new agreement apply in AEGON's policy is to pursue realization of the collateral in an
determining whether the financial assets are past due. There orderly manner as and when liquidity permits. AEGON generally
were no renegotiated assets that would have been past due or does not use the non-cash collateral for its own operations.

impaired if they had not been renegotiated in the reporting

2008 2007
0-6 6-12 >1 0-6 6-12 >1

Past due but not individually impaired assets months months year  Total months months year Total
Debt securities - carried at fair value 36 - - 36 94 11 6 111
Mortgage loans 247 7 1 255 160 - - 160
Other loans - - 1 1 - - - -
Accrued Interest 1 - - 1 2 - - 2
AT DECEMBER 31 284 7 2 293 256 11 6 273

Carrying amount Carrying amount
Impaired financial assets 2008 2007
Shares 371 33
Debt securities - carried at fair value 203 126
Debt securities - carried at amortized cost 3 -
Money market and other short-term investments 51 56
Mortgage loans 131 71
Other loans 13 51
Other financial assets - carried at fair value 3 -
Other financial assets - carried at amortized cost - 5
Renegotiated assets 2 -
AT DECEMBER 31 777 342
EQUITY MARKET AND OTHER INVESTMENT RISKS in equities, such as variable annuities, unit-linked products and
Fluctuations in the equity, real estate and capital markets have mutual funds. Although most of the risk remains with the
affected AEGON's profitability, capital position and sales of policyholder, lower investment returns can reduce the asset
equity related products in the past and may continue to do so. management fee earned by AEGON on the asset balance in
Exposure to equity, real estate and capital markets exists in these products. In addition, some of this business has minimum
both assets and liabilities. Asset exposure exists through direct return or accumulation guarantees.
equity investment, where AEGON bears all or most of the
volatility in returns and investment performance risk. Equity The general account equity, real estate and other non-fixed-
market exposure is also present in insurance and investment income portfolio of AEGON is as follows:

contracts for account of policyholders where funds are invested
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The Holding
Equity, real estate and non-fixed Nether- United Other  and other Total
income exposure Americas lands Kingdom  Countries activities 2008
Equity funds 605 706 - 53 - 1,364
Common shares 284 317 41 105 52 799
Preferred shares 82 10 - - - 92
Investments in real estate 488 2,040 - - - 2,528
Hedge funds 854 264 - 23 - 1,141
Other alternative investments 1,449 - - - - 1,449
Other financial assets 615 112 - 13 - 740
AT DECEMBER 31 4,377 3,449 41 194 52 8,113
The tables that follow present specific market risk
concentration information for general account shares.
The United Other Total

Market risk concentrations - shares Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries 2008
Communication 27 - - 9 36
Consumer cyclical 2 1 - 7 10
Consumer non-cyclical 4 11 - - 15
Financials 499 28 5 25 555
Funds 432 1,027 34 58 1,551
Industries 1 7 - 11 19
Resources - 1 - - 1
Technology 1 1 - - 2
Transport - - - 1 1
Other 12 2 - 27 41

978 1,078 39 138 2,231
Past due and/or impaired 54 219 1 45 371
AT DECEMBER 31 1,032 1,297 40 183 2,602
' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.
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The United Other Total

Market risk concentrations - shares Americas  Netherlands Kingdom countries 2007
Communication 45 - - 17 62
Consumer cyclical 4 1 - - 5
Consumer non-cyclical 21 2 - 11 34
Financials 697 292 7 25 1,091
Funds 771 1,637 57 27 2,492
Industries - 33 - 36 69
Resources - 3 - - 3
Services cyclical - 1 - - 1
Services non-cyclical - 1 - - 1
Technology 23 1 - - 24
Transport 2 - - 9 11
Other 51 1 - 57 109

1,614 1,972 64 182 3,902
Past due and/or impaired 7 24 2 - 33
AT DECEMBER 31 1,621 1,996 66 182 3,935
' Includes investments of Holding and other activities.
The table that follows sets forth the closing levels of
certain major indices at the end of the last five years.
Year-end 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
S&P 500 903 1,468 1,418 1,248 1,212
Nasdag 1,212 2,652 2,415 2,205 2,175
FTSE 100 4,434 6,457 6,221 5,619 4,814
AEX 247 516 495 437 348

The sensitivity analysis of net income and equity to changes in
equity prices is presented in the table that follows. The sensitivity
of shareholders’ equity and net income to changes in equity and
real estate markets reflects changes in the market value of
AEGON's portfolio, changes in DPAC amortization, contributions
to pension plans for AEGON's employees and the strengthening
of the guaranteed minimum benefits, when applicable. The
results of equity sensitivity tests are non-linear. The main
reason for this is due to equity options sold to clients that are

1136

embedded in some of these products and that more severe
scenarios could cause accelerated DPAC amortization and
guaranteed minimum benefits provisioning, while moderate
scenarios may not. Changes in sensitivities between 2007 and
2008 arise as a result of the impact of guarantees contracts in
the money that exposes AEGON to more direct equity risk and
the impact of lower equity markets on DPAC amortization.

The equity sensitivities related to the guarantees are non linear
because of the impact of guarantees and DPAC amortization.



Sensitivity analysis of net income and shareholders’ equity

to equity markets
Immediate change of

Estimated approximate
effects on net income

Estimated approximate
effects on equity

2008

Equity increase 10% 183 274
Equity decrease 10% (355) (402)
Equity increase 20% 354 536
Equity decrease 20% (764) (840)
2007

Equity increase 10% 198 324
Equity decrease 10% (212) (341)

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is inherent in much of AEGON's business. Each
asset purchased and liability sold has liquidity characteristics
that are unique. Some liabilities are surrenderable while some
assets, such as privately placed loans, mortgage loans, real
estate and limited partnership interests, have low liquidity. If
AEGON requires significant amounts of cash on short notice in
excess of normal cash requirements and existing credit
facilities, AEGON may have difficulty selling these investments
at attractive prices, in a timely manner, or both.

AEGON operates a Liquidity Risk Policy under which country
units are obliged to maintain sufficient levels of highly liquid
assets to meet cash demands by policyholders and
accountholders over the next two years. Potential cash
demands are assessed under a stress scenario including spikes
in disintermediation risk due to rising interest rates and
concerns over AEGON's financial strength due to multiple
downgrades of the Company's credit rating. At the same time,
the liquidity of assets other than cash and government issues is
assumed to be severely impaired for an extended period of
time. All units and AEGON Group must maintain enough

liquidity without relying on surplus assets or bank lines in
order to meet all cash needs under this extreme scenario.

The maturity analysis on page 138 shows the remaining
contractual maturities of each category of financial liabilities
(including coupon interest). When the counterparty has a choice
of when an amount is paid, the liability is included on the basis
of the earliest date on which the country unit can be required to
pay. Financial liabilities that the country unit can be required to
repay on demand without any delay are reported in the
category “On demand". If there is a notice period, the country
unit should assume that notice is given immediately and
present the repayment at the earliest date after the end of the
notice period. When the amount payable is not fixed, the
amount reported is determined by reference to the conditions
existing at the reporting date. For example, when the amount
payable varies with changes in an index, the amount disclosed
may be based on the level of the index at the reporting date.
For gross settled derivatives only cash flows related to the pay
leg are shown in the following table. Including the receive leg
would significantly reduce the disclosed cash outflows for
financial derivatives. Credit risk on the receive leg is mitigated
through collateral agreements and ISDA master netting
agreements as set out under Credit risk.
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Maturity analysis - gross undiscounted on <1yr 1<5 yrs 5 <10 yrs >10 yrs Total
contractual cash flows demand Amount Amount Amount Amount  amount
2008

Trust pass-through securities - 30 32 41 197 300
Subordinated loans - 34 - - - 34
Borrowings' - 2,265 1,614 986 3,214 8,079
Investment contracts 2 9,090 9,938 13,769 2,196 4,038 39,031
Investment contracts for account of policyholders? 9,685 7,078 - - - 16,763
Other financial liabilities 9,802 6,438 135 - - 16,375
Financial derivatives? - 3,450 11,622 12,277 25,333 52,682
2007

Trust pass-through securities - 10 38 48 276 372
Subordinated loans - 2 36 - - 38
Borrowings' - 2,920 967 1,720 3,549 9,156
Investment contracts? 9,734 8,568 15,828 3,224 2,859 40,213
Investment contracts for account of policyholders? 11,219 10,329 = = = 21,548
Other financial liabilities 5,093 8,552 199 - - 13,844
Financial derivatives 3 - 4,889 18,891 9,634 19,199 52,613

! Borrowings include debentures and other loans, short term deposits, bank overdrafts and commercial paper; refer to note 24 for more details.

2 Excluding investment contracts with discretionary participating features.

3 Financial derivatives include all derivatives regardless whether they have a positive or a negative value. It does not include bifurcated embedded
derivatives. These are presented together with the host contract. For interest rate derivatives only cash flows related to the pay leg are taken into
account for determining the gross undiscounted cash flows.

AEGON's liquidity management is based on expected claims and morbidity and lapse assumptions comparable with AEGON's
benefit payments rather than on the contractual maturities. The historical experience, modified for recently observed trends.
projected cash benefit payments in the table below are based Actual payment obligations may differ if experience varies from
on management's best estimates of the expected gross benefits these assumptions. The cash benefit payments are presented
and expenses, partially offset by the expected gross premiums, on an undiscounted basis and are before deduction of tax and
fees and charges relating to the existing business in force. before reinsurance.

Estimated cash benefit payments are based on mortality,

i 138



Financial liabilities relating to insurance

<1yr 1<5yrs 5<10 yrs >10 yrs

and investment contracts'’ Amount Amount Amount Amount Total
2008

Insurance contracts 6,150 22,078 19,653 134,383 182,264
Insurance contracts for account of policyholders 3,480 19,162 15,960 76,503 115,105
Investment contracts 12,698 17,753 3,473 8,222 42,146
Investment contracts for account of policyholders 2,973 13,193 15,117 56,589 87,872
2007

Insurance contracts 6,129 19,058 17,274 125,945 168,406
Insurance contracts for account of policyholders 5,649 27,776 19,353 76,756 129,534
Investment contracts 11,590 18,149 5,332 10,249 45,320
Investment contracts for account of policyholders 4,789 19,434 21,729 86,430 132,382

The projected cash benefit payments are based on management's best estimates of the expected gross benefits and expenses partially offset by the

expected gross premiums, fees and charges relating to the existing business in force. Estimated cash benefit payments are based on mortality, morbidity
and lapse assumptions comparable with AEGON's historical experience, modified for recent observed trends. Actual payment obligations may differ if
experience varies from these assumptions. The cash benefit payments are presented on an undiscounted basis and are before deduction of tax and
before reinsurance. The liability amount in the consolidated financial statement reflects the discounting for interest as well as adjustments for the timing
of other factors as described above. As a result, the sum of the cash benefit payments shown for all years in the table exceeds the corresponding liability

amounts included in notes 20, 21 and 23.

UNDERWRITING RISK

AEGON's earnings depend significantly upon the extent to which
actual claims experience is consistent with the assumptions
used in setting the prices for products and establishing the
technical liabilities and liabilities for claims. To the extent that
actual claims experience is less favorable than the underlying
assumptions used in establishing such liabilities, income would
be reduced. Furthermore, if these higher claims were part of a
permanent trend, AEGON may be required to increase liabilities,
which could reduce income. In addition, certain acquisition costs
related to the sale of new policies and the purchase of policies
already in force have been recorded as assets on the balance
sheet and are being amortized into income over time. If the
assumptions relating to the future profitability of these policies
(such as future claims, investment income and expenses) are
not realized, the amortization of these costs could be
accelerated and may even require write offs due to
unrecoverability. This could have a materially adverse effect on
AEGON's business, results of operations and financial condition.

Sources of underwriting risk include policy lapses and policy
claims such as mortality, morbidity and expenses. In general,
AEGON is at risk if policy lapses increase as sometimes AEGON
is unable to fully recover up front expenses in selling a product
despite the presence of commission recoveries or surrender
charges and fees. For mortality and morbidity risk, AEGON sells
certain types of policies that are at risk if mortality or morbidity

increases, such as term life insurance and accident insurance,
and sells certain types of policies that are at risk if mortality
decreases (longevity risk) such as annuity products. AEGON is
also at risk if expenses are higher than assumed by management.

AEGON monitors and manages its underwriting risk by
underwriting risk type. Attribution analysis is performed on
earnings and reserve movements in order to understand the
source of any material variation in actual results from what was
expected. AEGON's units also perform experience studies for
underwriting risk assumptions, comparing AEGON's experience
to industry experience as well as combining AEGON's experience
and industry experience based on the depth of the history of
each source to AEGON's underwriting assumptions. Where policy
charges are flexible in products, AEGON uses these analyses as
the basis for modifying these charges, with a view to maintain a
balance between policyholder and shareholder interests. AEGON
also has the ability to reduce expense levels over time, thus
mitigating unfavorable expense variation.

Sensitivity analysis of net income and shareholders' equity to
various underwriting risks is shown in the table that follows. The
sensitivities represent an increase or decrease of mortality and
morbidity rates over 2008. Increases in mortality rates lead to
an increase in the level of benefits and claims. The impact on net
income and equity of sales transactions of investments required
to meet the higher cash outflow are reflected in the sensitivities.
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Sensitivity analysis of net income and shareholders’ 2008 2007
equity to changes in various underwriting risks On Net On Net
Estimated approximate effect (in EUR million) On Equity income On Equity income
20% increase in lapse rates (58) (58) (95) (95)
20% decrease in lapse rates 44 44 95 95
10% increase in mortality rates (142) (142) (93) (93)
10% decrease in mortality rates 122 122 90 90
10% increase in morbidity rates (72) (72) (70) (70)
10% decrease in morbidity rates 71 71 68 68
A shock in mortality or morbidity rates may not lead to a
change in the assumptions underlying the measurement of the
insurance liabilities as management may recognize that the
shock is temporary. Life insurers are also exposed to longevity
risk. In practice, however, this longevity risk can be mitigated,
for example by adjusting premium.
Note 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Holding
Income statement - Nether- United Other  and other Elimi-
Operating earnings - 2008 Americas lands Kingdom countries activities nations Total
Life and protection 623 98 58 16 - - 795
Individual savings and retirement products (920) (14) - 12 - - (922)
Pensions and asset management 62 111 66 12 - - 251
Institutional products 8 - - - - - 8
Life reinsurance (361) - - - - - (361)
Distribution - (2) - - - 1
General insurance - - 37 - - 45
Interest charges and other - - - - 95 18 113
Share in net results of associates 1 7 - 16 - - 24
Operating earnings before tax (587) 213 122 93 95 18 (46)
Gains and losses on investments (71) 20 (21) (10 117 - 35
Impairment charges (812) (138) (22) (68) (34) - (1,074)
Impairment reversals 36 - - - - - 36
Other non-operating income/ (charges) 4 - (17) 1 o9] 1 (12)
Income/ (loss) before tax (1,430) 95 62 16 177 19 (1,061)
Income tax 51 (1) 18 (25) (64) - (21)
Net income/(loss) (1,379) 94 80 9) 113 19 (1,082)
Attributable to minority interest - - - - - - -
NET INCOME /(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF AEGON N.V. (1,379) 94 80 9) 113 19 (1,082)
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The Holding
Income statement - Nether- United Other  and other Elimi-
Operating earnings - 2007 Americas lands'  Kingdom countries activities nations Total
Life and protection 969 180 78 57 = = 1,284
Individual savings and retirement products 521 = = 3 = = 524
Pensions and asset management 138 (170) 202 11 - - 181
Institutional products 339 - - - - - 339
Life reinsurance 135 - - - - - 135
Distribution - 16 (10) - = - 6
General insurance - 8 - 39 - - 47
Interest charges and other - - - - (195) 10 (185)
Share in net results of associates - 3 1 32 - - 36
Operating earnings before tax 2,102 37 271 142 (195) 10 2,367
Gains and losses on investments 275 465 (8) 14 - - 746
Impairment charges (104) (31) (4) = = = (139)
Impairment reversals 56 7 - - - - 63
Other non-operating income/ (charges) - 30 8 - 1 1 40
Income/ (loss) before tax 2,329 508 267 156 (194) 11 3,077
Income tax (733) 98 - (83) 192 - (526)
Net income/ (loss) 1,596 606 267 73 (2) 11 2,551
Attributable to minority interest - - - - - - -
NET INCOME /(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF AEGON N.V. 1,596 606 267 73 (2) 11 2,551

! The difference between fair value movement on certain guarantees and the fair value changes of derivatives that hedge certain risks of these

guarantees, amounting to EUR 325 million, are as of financial year 2008 reclassified from Gains and losses on investments to Operating earnings.
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The Holding

Income statement - Nether- United Other  and other Elimi-
Operating earnings - 2006 Americas lands Kingdom  countries  activities nations Total
Life and protection 920 316 20 27 = = 1,283
Individual savings and retirement products 598 35 - (2) - - 631
Pensions and asset management 111 720 211 (17) - - 1,025
Institutional products 382 - - - - - 382
Life reinsurance 163 - - - - - 163
Distribution - 18 (6) = - - 12
General insurance - 26 - 29 - - 55
Interest charges and other - - - - (238) (4) (242)
Share in net results of associates - 7 1 24 - - 32
Operating earnings before tax 2,174 1,122 226 61 (238) (4) 3,341
Gains and losses on investments (22) 513 16 20 42 - 569
Impairment charges (115) (27) (1) = = = (143)
Impairment reversals 103 15 - - - - 118
Other non-operating income/ (charges) - - 90 - - (4) 86
Income/ (loss) before tax 2,140 1,623 331 81 (196) (8) 3,971
Income tax (587) (203) (99) (45) 132 - (802)
Net income/ (loss) 1,553 1,420 232 36 (64) (8) 3,169
Attributable to minority interest - - - - - - -
NET INCOME /(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF AEGON N.V. 1,553 1,420 232 36 (64) (8) 3,169
The Group uses operating earnings before tax in its segment
reporting as an important indicator of its financial performance.
The reconciliation of this measure to the Income before tax is
shown below. AEGON believes that Operating earnings before
tax, together with the other information included in this report,
provides a meaningful measure for the investing public to
evaluate AEGON's business relative to the businesses of its peers.

Note 2008 2007! 2006
Operating earnings before tax (46) 2,367 3,341
Realized gains and losses on financial investments 36 99 957 597
Gains and losses on investments in real estate 36 (48) 137 134
Fair value changes on economic hedges for which no hedge accounting is applied 36 (46) (340) (193)
Ineffective portion of hedge transactions for which hedge accounting is applied 36 50 16 12
Realized gains and losses on repurchased debt 36 - - (12)
DPAC/VOBA offset 40 14 1 29
Impairment (charges)/reversals of financial assets, excluding receivables 41 (1,072) (88) (24)
Other income/ (charges) 37, 38, 43 (12) 27 87
INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (1,061) 3,077 3,971

' The difference between fair value movement on certain guarantees and the fair value changes of derivatives that hedge certain risks of these

guarantees, amounting to EUR 325 million, are as of financial year 2008 reclassified from Gains and losses on investments to Operating earnings.
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The Holding

Income statement - Nether- United Other and other Elimi-
Segment revenues - 2008 Americas lands  Kingdom countries  activities nations Total
Life and protection 6,888 2,574 2,855 1,998 - - 14,315
Individual savings and retirement products 2,256 213 - 34 - - 2,503
Pensions and asset management 708 3,108 8,762 58 - - 12,636
Institutional products 1,692 - - - - - 1,692
Life reinsurance 1,721 - - - - - 1,721
Distribution - 287 160 - - - 447
General insurance - 493 - 172 - - 665
Other 2 - - 2 744 (645) 103

13,267 6,675 11,777 2,264 744 (645) 34,082
Income from reinsurance ceded 1,427 10 190 322 - (316) 1,633
Results from financial transactions’ (16,256) (2,277) (9,316) (691) 230 19 (28,291)
Segment expenses? 1,162 (4,005) (2,501) (1,810) (130) 316 (6,968)
Interest charges and related fees (188) (197) (28) 8) (749) 644 (526)
Share in net results of associates 1 7 - 16 - - 24
OPERATING EARNINGS BEFORE TAX (587) 213 122 93 95 18 (46)

! Results from financial transactions exclude certain results on financial transactions (refer note 2.5).
2 Charges to policyholders in respect of income tax in AEGON UK for an amount of EUR 17 million are excluded from segment expenses and included in

other non-operating income/ (charges).

The Holding

Income statement - Nether- United Other and other Elimi-
Segment revenues - 2007 Americas lands® Kingdom countries  activities nations Total
Life and protection 7,217 2,434 2,419 2,594 - - 14,664
Individual savings and retirement products 2,515 246 = 14 = = 2,775
Pensions and asset management 1,394 2,927 11,064 40 - - 15,425
Institutional products 3,356 - - - - - 3,356
Life reinsurance 1,848 - - - - - 1,848
Distribution - 295 209 - - - 504
General insurance - 471 - 149 - - 620
Other 10 - - 1 907 (839) 79

16,340 6,373 13,692 2,798 907 (839) 39,271
Income from reinsurance ceded 1,288 (4) 253 271 - (262) 1,546
Results from financial transactions' 3,565 (846) 968 46 2 10 3,745
Segment expenses? (18,878) (5,413) (14,630) (3,003) (95) 262 (41,757)
Interest charges and related fees (213) (76) (13) (2) (1,009) 839 (474)
Share in net results of associates - 3 1 32 - - 36
OPERATING EARNINGS BEFORE TAX 2,102 37 271 142 (195) 10 2,367

! Results from financial transactions exclude certain results on financial transactions (refer note 2.5).
2 Charges to policyholders in respect of income tax in AEGON UK for an amount of EUR 8 million are excluded from segment expenses and included in

other non-operating income / (charges).

3 The difference between fair value movement on certain guarantees and the fair value changes of derivatives that hedge certain risks of these

guarantees, amounting to EUR 325 million, are as of financial year 2008 reclassified from Gains and losses on investments to Operating earnings.
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The Holding

Income statement - Nether- United Other and other Elimi-
Segment revenues - 2006 Americas lands  Kingdom countries  activities nations Total
Life and protection 7,552 2,335 1,836 2,074 - - 13,797
Individual savings and retirement products 2,872 230 = 8 = = 3,110
Pensions and asset management 996 2,767 9,872 25 - - 13,660
Institutional products 3,234 - - - - - 3,234
Life reinsurance 1,725 - - - - - 1,725
Distribution - 232 197 - - - 429
General insurance - 470 - 140 - - 610
Other - - - - 895 (845) 50

16,379 6,034 11,905 2,247 895 (845) 36,615
Income from reinsurance ceded 1,342 1 115 10 - - 1,468
Results from financial transactions’ 5,524 536 2,669 135 - (6) 8,858
Segment expenses ? (20,971) (5,403) (14,449) (2,355) (92) = (43,270)
Interest charges and related fees (100) (53) (15) - (1,041) 847 (362)
Share in net results of associates - 7 1 24 - - 32
OPERATING EARNINGS BEFORE TAX 2,174 1,122 226 61 (238) (4) 3,341

! Results from financial transactions exclude certain results on financial transactions (refer note 2.5).
2 Charges to policyholders in respect of income tax in AEGON UK to the amount of EUR 75 million are excluded from segment expenses and included

in other non-operating income/ (charges).

The Holding
Nether- United Other  and other

Other selected income statement items Americas lands Kingdom  countries activities Total
2008
Amortization of deferred expenses, VOBA and

future servicing rights 999 133 246 179 - 1,557
Depreciation 38 17 14 14 1 84
Impairment charges/ (reversals) on financial assets,

excluding receivables 815 138 22 70 34 1,079
Impairment charges/ (reversals) on non-financial

assets and receivables 38 - - 3 - 41
2007
Amortization of deferred expenses, VOBA and

future servicing rights 743 161 278 99 - 1,281
Depreciation 41 16 17 11 1 86
Impairment charges/ (reversals) on financial assets,

excluding receivables 44 24 3 - - 71
Impairment charges/ (reversals) on non-financial

assets and receivables 28 - - 2 - 30
2006
Amortization of deferred expenses, VOBA and

future servicing rights 999 199 276 83 - 1,557
Depreciation 47 13 40 10 2 112
Impairment charges/ (reversals) on financial assets,

excluding receivables 12 12 1 - - 25
Impairment charges/ (reversals) on non-financial

assets and receivables 9 - - - - 9
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The Holding
Nether- United Other  and other
Number of employees Americas lands Kingdom  countries activities Total
2008
Employees - excluding agents 13,431 5,226 5,068 3,000 254 26,979
Agent employees 1,641 945 121 1,739 - 4,446
TOTAL 15,072 6,171 5,189 4,739 254 31,425
2007
Employees - excluding agents 12,778 5,138 4,851 2,488 191 25,446
Agent employees 2,379 1,062 139 1,388 - 4,968
TOTAL 15,157 6,200 4,990 3,876 191 30,414
2006
Employees - excluding agents 11,753 5,048 4,489 2,113 173 23,576
Agent employees 2,483 1,356 150 1,161 = 5,150
TOTAL 14,236 6,404 4,639 3,274 173 28,726
Revenue from transactions between reporting segments were
not material during the financial period, with the exception of
the interest income on intercompany loans issued by a holding
company in the Holdings and other activities segment
amounting to EUR 645 million (2007: EUR 839 million and
2006: EUR 845 million) and transactions related to internal
reinsurance business amounting to EUR 316 million
(2007: EUR 262 million and 2006: nil). All intercompany loans
are transacted at an arms’ length basis, based on readily
available information.
AEGON ANNUAL REPORT 2008

145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON GROUP | NOTE 5

Accident General

Analysis of operating earnings before tax from non-life business & Health  insurance Total
2008

Premium income 1,997 616 2,613
Investment income 251 49 300
Fee and commission income 98 - 98
Income from reinsurance ceded 264 8 272
Gains and losses on investments (21) ) (23)
Premiums to reinsurers (294) (22) (316)
Policyholder claims and benefits (1,252) (360) (1,612)
Commissions and expenses (796) (244) (1,040)
TOTAL 247 45 292
2007

Premium income 2,124 568 2,692
Investment income 258 52 310
Fee and commission income 115 - 115
Income from reinsurance ceded 331 (2) 329
Gains and losses on investments 10 2 12
Premiums to reinsurers (307) (19) (326)
Policyholder claims and benefits (1,344) (345) (1,689)
Commissions and expenses (820) (209) (1,029)
TOTAL 367 47 414
2006

Premium income 2,241 561 2,802
Investment income 240 49 289
Fee and commission income 116 - 116
Income from reinsurance ceded 336 3 339
Gains and losses on investments 14 9 23
Premiums to reinsurers (318) (20) (338)
Policyholder claims and benefits (1,420) (348) (1,768)
Commissions and expenses (840) (199) (1,039)
TOTAL 369 55 424
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Summarized assets and liabilities Nether- United Other  and other Elimi-
per geographical segment Americas lands Kingdom countries activities nations Total
2008
ASSETS
VOBA and future servicing rights 3,530 174 732 205 - - 4,641
Investments general account 86,793 32,163 5,212 6,243 72 2) 130,481
Investments for account of policyholders 42,353 19,133 41,856 2,067 - 9) 105,400
Investments in associates 21 55 14 503 4 2) 595
Deferred expenses 8,815 520 2,762 434 - - 12,531
Other assets 14,095 11,766 4,057 1,021 17,568 (14,896) 33,611
TOTAL ASSETS 155,607 63,811 54,633 10,473 17,644 (14,909) 287,259
LIABILITIES
Insurance contracts general account 61,584 23,542 6,730 5,521 - - 97,377
Insurance contracts for account of

policyholders 32,787 18,563 7,520 1,938 - - 60,808
Investment contracts general account 30,233 5313 535 150 - - 36,231
Investment contracts for account

of policyholders 9,621 4 35,861 128 - - 45,614
Other liabilities 13,748 13,435 2,666 787 14,589 (11,756) 33,469
TOTAL LIABILITIES 147,973 60,857 53,312 8,524 14,589 (11,756) 273,499

The Holding

Summarized assets and liabilities Nether- United Other  and other Elimi-
per geographical segment Americas lands Kingdom  countries activities nations Total
2007
ASSETS
VOBA and future servicing rights 3,113 172 991 92 - - 4,368
Investments general account 91,487 30,813 5,668 4,801 98 (6) 132,861
Investments for account of policyholders 55,474 21,354 62,850 2,730 = (24) 142,384
Investments in associates 22 42 17 390 4 (3) 472
Deferred expenses 6,857 612 3,305 478 - - 11,252
Other assets 8,760 9,016 2,837 714 8,721 (7,265) 22,783
TOTAL ASSETS 165,713 62,009 75,668 9,205 8,823 (7,298) 314,120
LIABILITIES
Insurance contracts general account 55,923 21,652 6,550 4,371 - - 88,496
Insurance contracts for account of

policyholders 44,106 20,427 11,172 2,689 - - 78,394
Investment contracts general account 29,419 5,857 677 136 - - 36,089
Investment contracts for account

of policyholders 11,427 3 52,286 40 - - 63,756
Other liabilities 11,881 10,990 2,027 555 5,780 (3,810) 27,423
TOTAL LIABILITIES 152,756 58,929 72,712 7,791 5,780 (3,810) 294,158
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The Holding
Nether- United Other  and other Elimi-

Segment assets by line of business' Americas lands Kingdom countries activities nations Total
2008
Life and protection 38,109 18,117 6,319 9,128 - - 71,673
Individual savings and

retirement products 53,363 5,024 - 285 - - 58,672
Pensions and asset management 18,495 37,617 48,211 373 - - 104,696
Institutional guaranteed products 39,264 - - - - - 39,264
Life reinsurance 5,886 - - - - - 5,886
Distribution - 241 75 - - - 316
General insurance - 888 - 177 - - 1,065
Other - - - 1 19,521 (14,909) 4,613
Share in results of associates 21 - - 498 - - 519
TOTAL SEGMENT ASSETS 155,138 61,887 54,605 10,462 19,251 (14,909) 286,704
2007
Life and protection 39,101 23,622 6,886 8,345 - - 77,954
Individual savings and retirement

products 59,555 4,787 = 201 = = 64,543
Pensions and asset management 19,861 32,213 68,659 158 - - 120,891
Institutional guaranteed products 41,378 - - - - - 41,378
Life reinsurance 5,780 - - - - - 5,780
Distribution - 359 106 - - - 465
General insurance - 986 - 110 - - 1,096
Other - - - - 8,783 (7,298) 1,485
Share in results of associates 22 42 17 391 - - 472
TOTAL SEGMENT ASSETS 165,697 62,009 75,668 9,205 8,783 (7,298) 314,064

' Segment assets include all assets, except income tax receivables.

Cost to acquire real estate held for own use, software and
equipment were not material during the financial period.
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Note 6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

thgre
servicing

Net book value Goodwill VOBA rights Software Other Total
At January 1, 2007 221 3,959 119 34 5 4,338
At December 31, 2007 433 3,927 441 33 60 4,894
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 720 4,119 522 29 35 5,425
Cost
At January 1, 2007 221 7,106 217 268 8 7,820
Additions - 7 - 10 - 17
Acquisitions through business combinations 228 526 379 - 61 1,194
Disposals - = = (1) = (1)
Net exchange differences (16) (620) (41) (14) (5) (696)
Other - 5 - 5 - 10
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 433 7,024 555) 268 64 8,344
Accumulated amortization, depreciation
and impairment losses
At January 1, 2007 - 3,147 98 234 3 3,482
Amortization/depreciation through income statement - 210 27 13 1 251
Shadow accounting adjustments = (86) (1) = = (87)
Disposals - - = (1) = (1)
Net exchange differences - (287) (10) (15) = (312)
Other - 113 - 4 - 117
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 - 3,097 114 235 4 3,450
Cost
At January 1, 2008 433 7,024 555 268 64 8,344
Additions - 24 2 11 1 38
Acquisitions through business combinations 297 42 111 - 3 453
Disposals - - - (26) - (26)
Net exchange differences (6) (94) (18) (46) 1 (163)
Other (4) - - - - (4)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 720 6,996 650 207 69 8,642
Accumulated amortization, depreciation
and impairment losses
At January 1, 2008 - 3,097 114 235 3,450
Amortization/depreciation through income statement - 212 13 11 240
Shadow accounting adjustments - (444) - - - (444)
Impairment losses - - 10 - 26 36
Disposals - - - (25) - (25)
Net exchange differences - 12 9) (43) - (40)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 - 2,877 128 178 34 3,217
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In the preparation of the Opening Balance Sheet under IFRS as
at January 1, 2004, business combinations prior to that date
have not been restated and goodwill previously written off
through equity has not been reinstated.

Amortization and depreciation through the income statement is
included in ‘Commissions and expenses'.

None of the intangible assets have titles that are restricted or
have been pledged as security for liabilities.

Of the additions to goodwill in 2007, an amount of

EUR 187 million relates to the acquisitions of Clark Inc.,

Merrill Lynch Life Insurance Company and ML Life Insurance
Company of New York by AEGON USA during 2007, of which
EUR 12 million were reversed in 2008 after finalizing purchase

accounting. Of additions to goodwill in 2008 of EUR 297 million,

an amount of EUR 229 million relates to acquisitions of joint

ventures by AEGON Spain during 2008 and amounts of

EUR 6 million, EUR 30 million and EUR 39 million relates to
acquisition in Hungary, Turkey and Poland respectively. Refer to
note 52 for further information on the business combinations
entered into by AEGON in 2007 and 2008. An initial allocation
of goodwill provisionally allocated for the acquisitions in Spain,
Hungary, Turkey and Poland, will be finalized when the purchase
accounting is complete.

The goodwill balance has been allocated across the cash-
generating units which are expected to benefit from the
synergies inherent in the goodwill. Goodwill is tested for
impairment both annually and in addition, when there are
specific indicators of a potential impairment. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs
to sell for a cash-generating unit. A geographical summary of
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated is
as follows:

2008 2007
Americas
- USA 216 217
Other countries
- Spain 336 111
- Central and Eastern Europe 103 44
Other 65 61
AT DECEMBER 31 720 433

Value in use calculations have been actuarially determined
based on business plans covering a period of typically 5 years
and pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates ranging between 9%
and 17%. Projections beyond that date have been extrapolated
using a declining growth rate up to a maximum of 5%. Key
assumptions used for the calculation include new business,
renewals, value of new business, asset fees, investment return,
persistency, expense inflation and mortality.

Fair value less costs to sell calculations were estimated based
on the appraisal value for the cash-generating units using
embedded value principles. Appraisal value represents available
net asset value and the shareholders' interest in the long-term
business plus a multiple of the value of new business. Key
assumptions used for the calculation were pre-tax risk adjusted
discount rates of 11%, future premiums, commissions, inflation,
persistency, mortality, morbidity and future investment returns.

The operating assumptions used in all the calculations are best
estimate assumptions and based on historical data where
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available. The economic assumptions used in all the calculations
are based on observable market data and projections of future
trends.

All the cash-generating units tested showed that the
recoverable amounts were significantly higher than their
carrying values, including goodwill. A reasonably possible
change in any key assumption is not expected to cause the
carrying value of the cash-generating units to exceed its
recoverable amount.

With the exception of goodwill, all intangible assets have a finite
useful life and are amortized accordingly. VOBA and Future
servicing rights are amortized over the term of the related
insurance contracts, which can vary significantly depending on
the maturity of the acquired portfolio. The VOBA currently
recognized is amortized over an average period of 12 to 15 years,
with an average remaining amortization period of 11 years
(2007: 13 years). Future servicing rights are amortized over an
average period up to 35 years, of which 13 remains at



December 31, 2008 (2007: 10 years). Software is generally
depreciated over a period of three to five years.
At December 31, 2008, the remaining depreciation period was

2 years (2007: 2 years).

The
Nether- United Other

VOBA per line of business Americas lands Kingdom countries Total
2008
Life and protection 2,061 4 1 45 2,111
Individual savings and retirement products 361 - - - 361
Pensions and asset management 51 60 707 26 844
Institutional products 88 - - - 88
Life reinsurance 606 - - - 606
Distribution - 109 - - 109
AT DECEMBER 31 3,167 173 708 71 4,119
2007
Life and protection 1,739 5 2 22 1,768
Individual savings and retirement products 317 = = = 317
Pensions and asset management 46 65 953 15 1,079
Institutional products 54 - - - 54
Life reinsurance 607 - - - 607
Distribution - 102 - - 102
AT DECEMBER 31 2,763 172 955 37 3,927
Note 7 INVESTMENTS
Investments for general account comprise financial assets,
excluding derivatives, as well as investments in real estate.

Note 2008 2007
Available-for-sale (AFS) 94,747 98,047
Loans 25,333 22,554
Held-to-maturity (HTM) 2,270 1,876
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)' 5,603 7,863
Total financial assets, excluding derivatives 7.1 127,953 130,340
Investments in real estate 7.2 2,528 2,521
TOTAL INVESTMENTS FOR GENERAL ACCOUNT 130,481 132,861
! Refer to note 49 for a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Real estate held for own use, previously reported as part of
general account investments has been reclassified to other
assets and receivables - note 13.
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Note 7.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS, EXCLUDING DERIVATIVES

AFS FVTPL HTM Loans Total Fair value
2008
Shares 1,429 1,173 - - 2,602 2,602
Debt securities 84,019 2,282 2,255 - 88,556 88,690
Money market and other short-term investments 8,318 146 - - 8,464 8,464
Mortgages - - - 20,166 20,166 19,293
Private loans - - - 822 822 818
Deposits with financial institutions - - - 1,640 1,640 1,640
Policy loans - - - 2,473 2,473 2,473
Receivables out of share lease agreements - - - 54 54 54
Other 981 2,002 15 178 3,176 3,176
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 94,747 5,603 2,270 25,333 127,953 127,210
2007
Shares 1,933 2,002 - - 3,935 3,935
Debt securities 89,967 3,119 1,846 - 94,932 94,901
Money market and other short-term investments 5,280 107 - - 5,387 5,387
Mortgages - - - 17,853 17,853 17,813
Private loans - - - 804 804 831
Deposits with financial institutions - - - 1,322 1,322 1,322
Policy loans - - - 2,253 2,253 2,252
Receivables out of share lease agreements - - - 137 137 137
Other 867 2,635 30 185 3,717 3,717
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 98,047 7,863 1,876 22,554 130,340 130,295

Of the debt securities, money market and other short-term
investments, mortgages and private loans EUR 17,833 million is
current (2007: EUR 11,082 million).

DERECOGNITION

As part of the AEGON Levensverzekering N.V.'s funding program
the company entered into securitization contracts for its
mortgage loans. At December 31, 2008 a total of five publicly
placed and one privately placed securitization contracts were
outstanding with a total value of EUR 4.0 billion (2007:

EUR 4.7 billion). Although no new securitizations took place in
2008 there was one replenishment of SAECURE 6, the most
recent publicly placed securitization.

In 2007 the first of the publicly placed securitizations
(SAECURE 1) was called by the special purpose vehicle. When
these securitization programs were set up, the economic
ownership of mortgage receivables was conveyed to special
purpose companies. The special purpose companies funded the
purchase of mortgages from AEGON The Netherlands with the
issuance of mortgage-backed securities. The transfer of
ownership title will take place only if the borrowers are duly
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notified by the special purpose company upon the occurrence
of certain pre-defined 'notification events'. At the same time
AEGON entered into a fixed-to-floating swap agreement with
the contract parties under which AEGON agreed to pay the
floating rate (EURIBOR based) and receive the fixed rate (yield
from the mortgage receivables). After a period of seven years,
the interest of the notes issued by the special purpose
companies in respect of this transaction will step-up, together
with a similar step-up in the fixed-to-floating swap agreement.
At that same time, the special purpose companies have the
right to call the notes. A deferred purchase arrangement
forming part of the contracts to sell the mortgage loans to the
special purpose companies entitles AEGON Levensverzekering
N.V. to any specified residual positive value of the special
purpose entities at maturity.

A 3.3% portion of securitized mortgage loans forming part of
SAECURE 4 amounting to EUR 13 million (2007: EUR 18 million)
continues to be recognized as a financial asset on balance,
representing the interest rate risk retained by AEGON in respect
of the fourth publicly placed securitization contract.



In the year ended December 31, 2008, AEGON USA had sold
EUR 17 million (USD 23 million) of AAA-wrapped municipal debt
securities to SPEs. AEGON has no continuing involvement with
these SPEs. In 2007 AEGON consolidated SPEs in which it had
continuing involvement. The fair value of all such debt
securities reflected in investments and also measured at fair
value through profit or loss amounted to EUR 592 million as at
December 31, 2007. In 2008, AEGON terminated these SPEs.

MEASUREMENT
AEGON owns EUR 201 million (2007: EUR 120 million) of shares
in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines, lowa, that are

measured at par, which equals the amortized cost value.

The bank has implicit financial support from the United States
government. The redemption value of the shares is fixed at par
and can only be redeemed by the bank.

Only other insignificant amounts of unquoted equity
instruments are measured at cost.

Refer to note 3 for information on the fair value measurement.
OTHER

Movement on the loan allowance account during the year were
as follows:

2008 2007
At January 1 (58) (75)
Addition charged to income statement (49) (6)
Reversal to income statement - 10
Amounts written off 19 12
Net exchange differences 2) 1
AT DECEMBER 31 (90) (58)
Refer to note 51 for a discussion of collateral received and paid.
No financial assets were reclassified during the financial year.
Note 7.2 INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE

2008 2007
At January 1 2,521 2,243
Additions 161 254
Subsequent expenditure capitalized 4 8
Transfers from real estate held for own use and mortgage loans 102 49
Disposals (241) (115)
Fair value gains/ (losses) (48) 135
Net exchange differences 29 (53)
AT DECEMBER 31 2,528 2,521

In 2008, 95% of the value of AEGON's properties, both for
general account and for account of policyholders, were
appraised, of which 84% was performed by independent
external appraisers.

AEGON USA has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio, consisting of office, retail and
industrial buildings. These non-cancellable leases have
remaining lease terms up to 19 years. Most leases include a
clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an

annual basis according to either a fixed schedule or prevailing
market conditions.

AEGON the Netherlands has entered into long-term residential
property leases that can be terminated subject to a short-term
notice. Under Dutch law, the maximum annual rent increase on
residential property rented in the affordable housing segment is
specified by the Dutch national government and equals the
annual inflation rate plus a small margin.

Refer to note 50 for description of non-cancellable lease rights.
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Rental income of EUR 96 million (2007: EUR 89 million; 2006:
EUR 90 million) is reported as part of investment income in the
income statement. No amount (2007: nil; 2006: EUR 2 million)
is attributable to rent on foreclosed real estate. Direct operating
expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from
investment property that generated rental income during the
period amounted to EUR 53 million (2007: EUR 53 million;
2006: EUR 28 million). EUR 1 million (2007: EUR 1 million; 2006:
nil) of direct operating expenses is related to investment
property that did not generate rental income during the period.

There are no restrictions on the realizability of investment
property or the remittance of income and proceeds of disposal.

Refer to note 50 for a summary of contractual obligations to
purchase investment property or for repairs, maintenance or
enhancements.

Note 8 INVESTMENTS FOR ACCOUNT OF
POLICYHOLDERS

Investments for account of policyholders comprise financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, excluding derivatives,
and investments in real estate.

Note 2008 2007
Shares 24,799 41,681
Debt securities 25,312 29,091
Money market and other short-term investments 3,761 2,844
Deposits with financial institutions 3,070 3,740
Separate accounts and unconsolidated investment funds 46,273 61,484
Other 1,054 1,036
Total investments for account of policyholders at fair value
through profit or loss, excluding derivatives' 104,269 139,876
Investments in real estate 8.1 1,131 2,508
TOTAL INVESTMENTS FOR ACCOUNT OF POLICYHOLDERS 105,400 142,384
' Refer to note 49 for a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Real estate in use by AEGON, previously reported as part of
investments for account of policyholders has been reclassified
to other assets and receivables - note 13.
Note 8.1 INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE

2008 2007

At January 1 2,508 2,327
Additions - 835
Subsequent expenditure capitalized 3 9
Disposals (411) (37)
Fair value gains/ (losses) (550) (402)
Net exchange differences (419) (224)
AT DECEMBER 31 1,131 2,508

The investment property is fully leased out under operating
leases.

Rental income of EUR 115 million (2007: EUR 134 million) is
reported as part of investment income in the income statement.
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There are no restrictions on the realizability of investment
property or the remittance of income and proceeds of disposal.
Refer to note 50 for a summary of contractual obligations to
purchase investment property or for repairs, maintenance or
enhancements.



Note 9 DERIVATIVES

Derivative asset Derivative liability

2008 2007 2008 2007
Derivatives for general account
Derivatives not designated in a hedge 4,107 652 3,722 1,261
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges 761 179 1,362 601
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 1,584 336 507 197
Net foreign investment hedges 277 93 202 46
6,729 1,260 5,793 2,105
Derivatives for account of policyholders
Derivatives not designated in a hedge 1,328 356 296 121
1,328 356 296 121
TOTAL DERIVATIVES' 8,057 1,616 6,089 2,226

! Refer to note 49 for a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Of these derivatives EUR 1,998 million net asset is current
(2007: EUR 55 million net asset).

See note 3 for details on measurement of derivatives.

USE OF DERIVATIVES

Derivative asset Derivative liability

Derivatives not designated in a hedge - general account 2008 2007 2008 2007
Derivatives held as an economic hedge 3,786 575 343 148
Bifurcated embedded derivatives 112 21 2,628 998
Other 209 56 751 115
TOTAL 4,107 652 3,722 1,261

AEGON utilizes derivative instruments as a part of its asset
liability risk management practices. The derivatives held for risk
management purposes are classified as economic hedges to the
extent that they do not qualify for hedge accounting, or that
AEGON has elected not to apply hedge accounting. The
economic hedges of certain exposures relate to an existing
asset or liability or the future reinvestment risk. In all cases,
these are in accordance with internal risk guidelines and are
closely monitored for continuing compliance.

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contracts have been bifurcated and recorded at fair value in the
balance sheet. These bifurcated embedded derivatives are
embedded in various institutional products, modified
coinsurance and unit linked insurance contracts in the form of
guarantees for minimum benefits. As a result of the decline in
financial markets in 2008 the market value of the guarantees
embedded in the written insurance contracts increased

significantly. Please refer to note 47 for more disclosures about
these guarantees.

Derivatives are used to add risk by selling protection in the form
of single name credit default swaps and tranches of synthetic
collateralized debt and commodity obligations. Another
strategy used is to synthetically replicate corporate credit
exposures with credit derivatives. This involves the purchase of
high quality low risk assets and the sale of credit derivatives.
The program is designed to purchase asset positions that are
already subject to review by management, but may not be
available under the same terms and conditions in the cash bond
market. AEGON holds financial derivatives for trading purposes.

In addition, AEGON entered into standby liquidity asset purchase
agreements for which the Company received a fee for providing
liquidity on asset-backed commercial paper with a notional of
EUR 104 million. In August 2007, the Canadian asset backed
commercial paper market experienced a disruption, which
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included Canadian government intervention and subsequent
market litigation, resulting in AEGON and the counterparty
negotiating settlement terms for the facility agreement. Per
these terms, AEGON holds embedded contingent options, which
reflects potential exposure to underlying senior tranches of
synthetic CDOs with a notional of EUR 1.7 billion when losses
exceed the fair value of collateral assigned by the counterparty

(fair value of collateral is EUR 316 million at December 31, 2008).

These contingent embedded options were marked to market at
December 31, 2008 (EUR 15 million liability). When the
contingent options are exercised, AEGON is exposed to the
underlying tranches of the synthetic CDOs.

Furthermore, synthetic Guaranteed Investment Contracts
(GICs), liquidity agreements and principal protection
agreements have been sold by AEGON to earn a fee.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED

AS FAIR VALUE HEDGES

AEGON has entered into interest rate swap agreements that
effectively convert certain fixed-rate assets and liabilities to a
floating-rate basis (generally to six months or less LIBOR) in
order to more closely match the performance of the assets and
liabilities within AEGON's portfolio. These agreements involve
the payment or receipt of fixed-rate interest amounts in
exchange for floating-rate interest amounts over the life of the
agreement without the exchange of the underlying principal
amounts.

AEGON has entered into cross-currency interest rate swap
agreements that effectively convert certain foreign currency
fixed-rate and floating-rate assets and liabilities to US dollar
floating-rate assets and liabilities. These agreements involve
the exchange of the underlying principal amounts.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
AEGON recognized gains and losses related to the ineffective
portion of designated fair value hedges of EUR 38 million,
EUR 11 million and EUR 5 million respectively. No portion of
derivatives was excluded when assessing hedge effectiveness.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED

AS CASH FLOW HEDGES

AEGON has entered primarily into interest rate swap
agreements that effectively convert certain variable-rate assets
and liabilities to a fixed-rate basis in order to match the cash
flows of the assets and liabilities within AEGON's portfolio more
closely. These agreements involve the payment or receipt of
variable-rate interest amounts in exchange for fixed-rate
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interest amounts over the life of the agreement without the
exchange of the underlying principal amounts. AEGON is
hedging its exposure to the variability of future cash flows from
the interest rate movements for terms up to 28 years for
hedges converting existing floating-rate assets and liabilities to
fixed-rate assets.

AEGON uses forward starting interest rate swap agreements to
hedge the variability in future cash flows associated with the
forecasted purchase of fixed-income assets. These agreements
reduce the impact of future interest rate changes on the
forecasted transaction. Fair value adjustments for these interest
rate swaps are deferred and recorded in equity until the
occurrence of the forecasted transaction at which time the
interest rate swaps will be terminated. The accumulated gain or
loss in equity will be amortized into investment income as the
acquired asset affects income. AEGON is hedging its exposure
to the variability of future cash flows from interest rate
movements for terms up to 25 years. The cash flows from these
hedging instruments are expected to affect the profit and loss
for approximately the next 44 years. For the year ended
December 31, 2008, cash flow hedge accounting for one
contract was terminated. Due to default of the swap
counterparty, prospective effectiveness of the hedge could no
longer be asserted. As a result of the termination of cash flow
hedge accounting the fair value movement on this contract has
been recorded in the income statement since the date the swap
counterparty went into administration. A loss of EUR 19 million
has been recorded in result on financial transactions. For the
year ended December 31, 2007, none of AEGON's cash flow
hedges were discontinued, as it was probable that the original
forecasted transactions would occur by the end of the originally
specified time period documented at the inception of the
hedging relationship.

In addition, AEGON also makes use of cross currency swaps to
convert variable or fixed foreign currency cash flows into fixed
cash flows in local currencies. The cash flows from these hedging
instruments are expected to occur over the next 25 - 33 years.
These agreements involve the exchange of the underlying
principal amounts.

For the year ended December 31, 2008 AEGON recognized

a gain of EUR 12 million of hedge ineffectiveness on cash

flow hedges. In 2007 and 2006 gains of EUR 5 million and
EUR 7 million respectively of hedge ineffectiveness were
recorded in the income statement. The amount of deferred
gains or losses to be reclassified from equity into net income
during the next twelve months is expected to be EUR 5 million.



The periods when the cash flows are expected to occur are as
follows:

1-5 5 =10
<1year years years  >10 years Total
Cash inflows 298 1,864 2,154 2,148 6,464
Cash outflows 3 12 - - 15
NET CASH FLOWS 295 1,852 2,154 2,148 6,449

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED

AS NET FOREIGN INVESTMENT HEDGES

AEGON funds its investments in insurance subsidiaries with a
mixture of debt and equity. AEGON aims to denominate debt
funding in the same currency as the functional currency of the

investment. Investments outside the Eurozone, the United States,

United Kingdom and Canada are funded in Euros. When the
debt funding of investments is not in the functional currency of
the investment, AEGON uses derivatives to swap the currency

exposure of the debt instrument to the appropriate functional
currency. This policy will ensure that total capital will reflect
currency movements without distorting debt to shareholders’
equity ratios. AEGON utilizes various financial instruments as
designated hedging instruments of its foreign investments.
These instruments include subordinated borrowings, long-term
and short-term borrowings, short-term debts to credit
institutions, cross currency swap contracts and forward foreign
exchange contracts.

Note 10 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Note 2008 2007
At January 1 472 478
Additions 111 26
Share in net income 24 36
Share in changes in associate’s equity 15.5 (7) (58)
Dividend 4) (7)
Other (1) (3)
AT DECEMBER 31 595 472

All associates are unlisted and are accounted for using

the equity method and are considered to be non-current.
The investments in associates include interest in insurance
companies that are required to maintain a minimum solvency
margin based on local directives. Such restrictions can affect

the ability of these associates to transfer funds in the form of
cash dividends, or repayment of loans or advances, and therefore,
there can be no assurance that these restrictions will not
become a limitation in the future. There are no unrecognized
shares of losses of associates.

Summarized financial information of associates 2008 2007
Assets 10,176 10,807
Liabilities 9,832 10,509
Revenue 1,788 1,781
Net income 24 36

The summarized financial information is based on the Group's
relative holding and excludes any goodwill included in the
measurement of the investment in associates. Refer to note 53
for a listing of the principal investments in associates and the
Group's percentage holding.
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Note 11 REINSURANCE ASSETS

Assets arising from reinsurance contracts related to: 2008 2007
Life insurance general account 3,890 3,279
Life insurance for account of policyholders 177 237
Non-life insurance 858 792
Investment contracts 88 3
AT DECEMBER 31 5,013 4,311

Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid
by the Group on the contracts that are reinsured are included in

other assets and receivables (note 13).

EUR 56 million of the reinsurance assets are current
(2007: EUR 90 million).

Movements during the year in reinsurance assets

Life insurance

Life insurance

general  for account of _ Total life
relating to life insurance: account policyholders insurance
At January 1, 2007 2,901 279 3,180
Acquisitions through business combinations 15 - 15
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions 420 (76) 344
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 933 94 1,027
Unwind of discount/interest credited 146 3 149
Insurance liabilities released (897) (50) (947)
Changes to valuation of expected future benefits 13 3 10
Net exchange differences (224) (10) (234)
Other movements (28) = (28)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 3,279 237 3,516
At January 1, 2008 3,279 237 3,516
Acquisitions through business combinations 10 - 10
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions 300 (19) 281
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 803 77 880
Unwind of discount/interest credited 167 (4) 163
Insurance liabilities released (832) (85) (917)
Changes to valuation of expected future benefits 147 (4) 143
Net exchange differences (51) (25) (76)
Other movements 67 - 67
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 3,890 177 4,067
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Movements during the year in reinsurance assets relating to non-life insurance: 2008 2007
At January 1 792 785
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 239 282
Unwind of discount/interest credited 35 34
Insurance liabilities released (138) (170)
Changes to valuation of expected future benefits 2) 7
Changes in unearned premiums (94) (95)
Changes in unexpired risks (3) (3)
Incurred related to current year 70 110
Incurred related to prior years 2 22
Release for claims settled current year (15) (15)
Release for claims settled prior years (74) (87)
Change in IBNR 4 3
Net exchange differences 42 (83)
Other movements - 2
AT DECEMBER 31 858 792
Note 12 DEFERRED EXPENSES AND REBATES

2008 2007
DPAC for insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation features 12,224 10,957
Deferred transaction costs for investment management services 307 295
Unamortized interest rate rebates 263 236
AT DECEMBER 31 12,794 11,488
Current 1,116 1,130
Non-current 11,678 10,358

Deferred Unamortized

transaction interest rate

DPAC costs rebates

At January 1, 2007 10,938 281 239
Costs deferred/rebates granted during the year 1,803 88 42
Amortization through income statement (998) (48) (45)
Shadow accounting adjustments 117 - -
Net exchange differences (922) (29) =
Other 19 3 -
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 10,957 295 236
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Deferred Unamortized
transaction interest rate
DPAC costs rebates
At January 1, 2008 10,957 295 236
Costs deferred/rebates granted during the year 1,720 72 77
Amortization through income statement (1,302) (30) (50)
Disposal of group assets
Shadow accounting adjustments 1,396 - -
Net exchange differences (530) (32) -
Other (17) 2 -
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 12,224 307 263
The
Nether- United Other
DPAC per line of business Americas lands Kingdom countries Total
2008
Life and protection 5,248 453 193 424 6,318
Individual savings and retirement products 2,217 - - - 2,217
Pensions and asset management - 68 2,430 - 2,498
Institutional products 295 - - - 295
Life reinsurance 894 - - - 894
General insurance - - - 2 2
AT DECEMBER 31 8,654 521 2,623 426 12,224
2007
Life and protection 4,519 535 231 474 5,759
Individual savings and retirement products 1,197 = = = 1,197
Pensions and asset management - 77 2916 1 2,994
Institutional products 219 - - - 219
Life reinsurance 786 - - - 786
General insurance - - - 2 2
AT DECEMBER 31 6,721 612 3,147 477 10,957
Note 13 OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES
Note 2008 2007
Real estate held for own use and equipment 13.1 540 673
Receivables 13.2 4,673 4,249
Accrued income 13.3 2,163 2,352
AT DECEMBER 31 7,376 7,274
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Note 13.1 REAL ESTATE HELD FOR OWN USE
AND EQUIPMENT

General account
real estate held

Account of
policyholders
real estate held

Net book value for own use for own use Equipment Total
At January 1, 2007 313 150 236 699
At December 31, 2007 329 142 202 673
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 343 6 191 540
Cost

At January 1, 2007 341 150 589 1,080
Additions 75 - 75 150
Acquired through business combinations - 6 10
Capitalized subsequent expenditure - - 3
Disposals (2) - (64) (66)
Unrealized gains/ (losses) through equity 9 = - 9
Realized gains/ (losses) through income statement 3 - - 3
Transfers to investments in real estate (49) - = (49)
Net exchange differences (21) (12) (36) (69)
Other - 4 (15) (11)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 363 142 555 1,060
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At January 1, 2007 28 - 353 381
Depreciation through income statement 8 - 65 73
Disposals - = (30) (30)
Net exchange differences (2) = (21) (23)
Other - - (14) (14)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 34 - 353 387
Cost

At January 1, 2008 363 142 555 1,060
Additions 86 - 73 159
Acquired through business combinations - - 7 7
Capitalized subsequent expenditure 5 - - 5
Disposals (11) (115) (101) (227)
Unrealized gains/ (losses) through equity 7 - - 7
Realized gains/ (losses) through income statement 1 (7) - (6)
Transfers to investments in real estate (78) - - (78)
Net exchange differences 10 (14) (18) (22)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 383 6 516 905
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At January 1, 2008 34 - 353 387
Depreciation through income statement 7 - 62 69
Disposals - - (78) (78)
Transfers to investments in real estate (1) - - (1)
Net exchange differences 1 - (12) (11)
Other 1) - - (1)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 40 - 325 365
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Included in the net book value is equipment held for lease of
EUR O million (2007: EUR 16 million). Equipment has not been
pledged as security for liabilities, nor are there any restrictions
on title. Depreciation expenses have been charged in
‘Commissions and expenses' in the income statement.
Equipment is generally depreciated over a period of three to
five years.

General account real estate held for own use are mainly held by
AEGON USA and AEGON The Netherlands, with relatively
smaller holdings in Hungary and Spain and are carried at
revalued amounts. The carrying value under a historical cost
model amounts to EUR 210 million (2007: EUR 213 million).

Note 13.2 RECEIVABLES

47% of the value of the general account real estate held for
own use was last revalued in 2008, based on market value
appraisals by qualified internal and external appraisers. 76% of
the appraisals in 2008 were performed by independent external
appraisers.

General account real estate held for own use has not been
pledged as security for liabilities, nor are there any restrictions
on title. Depreciation expenses are charged in ‘Commissions
and expenses' in the income statement. The useful lives of
buildings range between 40 and 50 years.

Refer to note 50 for a summary of contractual commitments for
the acquisition of general account real estate held for own use.

2008 2007
Loans to associates 41 24
Finance lease assets 37 39
Receivables from policyholders 2,178 1,783
Receivables from brokers and agents 126 162
Receivables from reinsurers 469 363
Cash outstanding from assets sold 108 26
Trade receivables 246 545
Cash collateral 128 333
Reverse repurchase agreements 8 66
Income tax receivable 555 56
Other 919 1,015
Provision for impairment (142) (163)
AT DECEMBER 31 4,673 4,249
Current 4,165 3,813
Non-current 508 436
Fair value non-current receivables 467 411
The movements in the provision for impairment during the year
were as follows:

2008 2007
At January 1 (163) (158)
Additions charged to earnings (4) (2)
Net exchange differences (3) 8
Other 28 (11)
AT DECEMBER 31 (142) (163)
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Note 13.3 ACCRUED INCOME

2008 2007
Accrued interest 2,159 2,347
Other 4 5
AT DECEMBER 31 2,163 2,352
All accrued income is current.
Note 14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2008 2007
Cash at bank and in hand 880 808
Short-term deposits 4,179 1,795
Money market investments 489 355
Short term collateral 4,675 5,473
AT DECEMBER 31 10,223 8,431

The carrying amounts disclosed reasonably approximate the
fair values as at the year end.

EUR 9.0 billion (2007: EUR 9.0 billion) cash collateral is received
of which EUR 4.7 billion is included in cash and cash
equivalents. A corresponding liability to repay the cash is
recognized in other liabilities (note 29). Refer to note 51 for a
discussion of collateral received and paid. Investment of cash
collateral received is restricted through limitations on credit
worthiness, duration, approved investment categories and
borrower limits. AEGON earns a share of the spread between
the collateral earnings and the rebate paid to the borrower of
the securities. Income from security lending programs was

approximately EUR 47 million (2007: EUR 23 million; 2006:
EUR 26 million).

The weighted effective interest rate on short-term deposits was
1.96% (2007: 4.46%) and these deposits have an average
maturity of 8.52 days (2007: 6.39 days).

Included in the short-term deposits is EUR 105 million (2007:
EUR 205 million) of deposits which have a charge over them
relating to loans made by banks to unit-linked funds.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise the following:

Note 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 10,223 8,431
Bank overdrafts 24 (717) (1,046)
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 9,506 7,385

The majority of cash is not subject to any restrictions. However,
the Dutch Central Bank requires AEGON The Netherlands to
hold 2% of its assets relating to banking activities in an account
with the Dutch Central Bank. This amount on deposit is
reassessed on a monthly basis and carries interest at
approximately 2.5%. The balance at the end of the year was
EUR 86 million (2007: EUR 81 million).
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Note 15 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Issued share capital and reserves attributable to shareholders

of AEGON N.V.

Note 2008 2007 2006
Share capital - par value 15.1 251 258 255
Share premium 15.2 7,096 7,101 7,104
Total share capital 7,347 7,359 7,359
Retained earnings 8,818 12,402 10,923
Treasury shares' 15.3 (725) (2,053) (787)
Total retained earnings 8,093 10,349 10,136
Revaluation reserves 15.4 (7,167) (516) 1,648
Other reserves 15.5 (2,218) (2,041) (538)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6,055 15,151 18,605

T As of January 1, 2008, AEGON's treasury shares are included in ‘Retained earnings’ instead of ‘Share capital’. The comparative 2007 and 2006
information has been reclassified accordingly.

Note 151 SHARE CAPITAL - PAR VALUE

2008 2007 2006

Common shares 189 196 195
Preferred shares A 53 53 53
Preferred shares B 9 9 7
AT DECEMBER 31 251 258 255
Common shares 2008 2007 2006
Authorized share capital 360 360 360
Number of authorized shares (in million) 3,000 3,000 3,000
Par value in cents per share 12 12 12
Number of shares Total

(thousands) amount

At January 1, 2006 1,598,977 192
Share dividend 23,950 3
At December 31, 2006 1,622,927 195
Withdrawal (11,600) (2)
Share dividend 25,218 3
At December 31, 2007 1,636,545 196
Withdrawal (99,770) (12)
Share dividend 41,452 5
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 1,578,227 189
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Preferred shares

2008 2007 2006

Authorized share capital
Par value in cents per share

250 250 250
25 25 25

Preferred shares A Preferred shares B

Number of Number of

shares Total shares Total

(thousands) amount (thousands) amount

At January 1, 2006 211,680 68 23,850 6
Shares issued - - 5,440 1
At December 31, 2006 211,680 53 29,290 7
Shares issued - - 5,880 2
At December 31, 2007 211,680 53 35,170 9
Shares issued - - - -
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 211,680 53 35,170 9

All issued common and preferred shares are fully paid.
Repayment of capital can only be initiated by the Executive
Board, is subject to approval of the Supervisory Board and must
be resolved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. Moreover,
repayment on preferred shares needs approval of the related
shareholders. Refer to Other information for further
information on dividend rights.

There are restrictions on the amount of funds that companies
within the Group may transfer in the form of cash dividends or
otherwise to the parent company. These restrictions stem from
solvency and legal requirements. Refer to note 48 for a
description of these requirements.

Vereniging AEGON, based in The Hague, holds all of the issued
preferred shares.

Vereniging AEGON, in case of an issuance of shares by
AEGON N.V., may purchase as many class B preferred shares
as would enable Vereniging AEGON to prevent or correct
dilution to below its actual percentage of voting shares,
unless Vereniging AEGON as a result of exercising these
option rights would increase its voting power to more than
33 percent. Class B preferred shares will then be issued at
par value (EUR 0.25), unless a higher issue price is agreed.

In the years 2003 through 2007, 35,170,000 class B
preferred shares were issued under these option rights.
In 2008, no option rights existed.

AEGON N.V. and Vereniging AEGON have entered into a
preferred shares voting rights agreement, pursuant to which
Vereniging AEGON has voluntarily waived its right to cast 25/12
vote per class A or class B preferred share. Instead, Vereniging
AEGON has agreed to exercise one vote only per preferred
share, except in the event of a ‘special cause’, such as the
acquisition of a 15% interest in AEGON N.V., a tender offer for
AEGON N.V. shares or a proposed business combination by any
person or group of persons, whether individually or as a group,
other than in a transaction approved by the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board. If, in its sole discretion, Vereniging
AEGON determines that a ‘special cause' has occurred,
Vereniging AEGON will notify the General Meeting of
Shareholders and retain its right to exercise the full voting
power of 25/12 vote per preferred share for a limited period of
six months.

With regard to granted share appreciation rights and option
rights and their valuation refer to note 40.
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Note 15.2 SHARE PREMIUM

| NOTE15.2-15.4

2008 2007 2006
At January 1 7,101 7,104 7,106
Share dividend (5) (3) (2)
AT DECEMBER 31 7,096 7,101 7,104
Share premium relating to:
- Common shares 5,044 5,049 5,052
- Preferred shares 2,052 2,052 2,052
TOTAL SHARE PREMIUM 7,096 7,101 7,104
The share premium account reflects the balance of paid-in
amounts above par value at issuance of new shares less the
amounts charged for share dividends.
Note 15.3 TREASURY SHARES
On the balance sheet date AEGON N.V. and its subsidiaries held
62,778,194 of its own common shares with a face value of
EUR 0.12 each.
Movements in the number of repurchased own shares held by
AEGON N.V. were as follows:
2008 2007 2006
Number of shares Number of shares Number of shares
(thousands) (thousands) (thousands)
At January 1 133,828 37,724 18,651
Transactions in 2008:
Purchase: 10 transactions, average price EUR 8.32 26,300 - -
Sale: 1 transaction, price EUR 14.65 (93) = =
Withdrawal of common share capital (99,770) = =
Transactions in 2007:
Purchase: 3 transactions, average price EUR 13.71 - 33,200 -
Share repurchase program: various transactions,
average price EUR 13.41 - 74,570 -
Sale: 7 transactions, average price EUR 15.53 - (66) =
Withdrawal of common share capital - (11,600) =
Transactions in 2006:
Purchase: 30 transactions, average price EUR 14.78 - - 19,076
Sale: 2 transactions, average price EUR 13.46 - - (3)
AT DECEMBER 31 60,265 133,828 37,724

As part of their insurance and investment operations,
subsidiaries within the Group also hold AEGON N.V. common

shares, both for their own account and for account of received.
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2008 2007 2006

Number of Number of Number of
shares Total shares Total shares Total
(thousands) amount  (thousands) amount (thousands) amount
Held by AEGON N.V. 60,265 679 133,828 2,007 37,724 724
Held by subsidiaries 2,513 46 2,503 46 3,086 63
AT DECEMBER 31 62,778 725 136,331 2,053 40,810 787

Note 15.4 REVALUATION RESERVES

Available- Real estate Cash flow

for-sale held for hedging
investments own use reserve Total
At January 1, 2006 2,450 25 169 2,644
Gross revaluation (629) 15 (17) (631)
Net (gains)/losses transferred to income statement (527) - (130) (657)
Foreign currency translation differences (70) (3) (4) (77)
Tax effect 235 (5) 51 281
Other 77 - 11 88
AT DECEMBER 31, 2006 1,536 32 80 1,648
At January 1, 2007 1,536 32 80 1,648
Gross revaluation (2,150) 9 (5) (2,146)
Net gains/ (losses) transferred to income statement (891) - 25 (866)
Foreign currency translation differences 46 (2) (12) 32
Tax effect 823 (2) (34) 787
Other (43) (1) 73 29
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 (679) 36 127 (516)
At January 1, 2008 (679) 36 127 (516)
Gross revaluation (10,970) 7 429 (10,534)
Net (gains)/losses transferred to income statement 718 - 306 1,024
Foreign currency translation differences (162) 1 63 (98)
Tax effect 3,236 (3) (269) 2,964
Other (7) - = (7)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 (7,864) 41 656 (7,167)

The revaluation accounts for both available-for-sale

investments and for real estate held for own use include
unrealized gains and losses on these investments, net of tax.
Upon sale, the amounts realized are recognized in the income

statement or transferred to retained earnings.

Upon impairment, unrealized losses are recognized in the

income statement. There are restrictions on the distribution of

the balance of the revaluation reserve related to real estate

held for own use to shareholders.
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The closing balances of the revaluation reserve for available-
for-sale investments relate to the following instruments:
2008 2007 2006
Shares 54 278 909
Debt securities (7,910) (992) 612
Other (8) 35 15
REVALUATION RESERVE FOR AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (7,864) (679) 1,536
The cash flow hedging reserve is made up of (un)realized gains
and losses on the effective portions of hedging instruments,
net of tax. The amounts are recognized in the income statement
at the moment of realization of the hedged position to offset
the gain or loss from the hedged cash flow. No amounts
have been released from equity to be included in the initial
measurement of non-financial assets or liabilities.
Note 15.5 OTHER RESERVES
Foreign Net foreign
currency investment Equity
translation hedging movements
reserve reserve of associates Total
At January 1, 2006 1,316 (556) 93 853
Movement in foreign currency translation and
net foreign investment hedging reserves (1,478) 153 - (1,325)
Disposals - - 2 2
Equity movements of associates - = (68) (68)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2006 (162) (403) 27 (538)
At January 1, 2007 (162) (403) 27 (538)
Movement in foreign currency translation and
net foreign investment hedging reserves (1,598) 153 - (1,445)
Equity movements of associates - - (58) (58)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 (1,760) (250) (31) (2,041)
At January 1, 2008 (1,760) (250) (31) (2,041)
Movement in foreign currency translation
and net foreign investment hedging reserves (407) 237 - (170)
Equity movements of associates - - (7) (7)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 (2,167) (13) (38) (2,218)

The foreign currency translation reserve includes the currency
results from investments in non-euro denominated subsidiaries.
The amounts are released to the income statement upon the
sale of the subsidiary.

The net foreign investment hedging reserve is made up of

unrealized gains and losses on the effective portions of hedging
instruments, net of tax. The amounts are recognized in the

i 168

income statement at the moment of realization of the hedged

position to offset the gain or loss from the net foreign

investment.

The equity movements of associates reflect AEGON's share of

changes recognized directly in the associate's equity.



Note 16 CONVERTIBLE CORE CAPITAL SECURITIES

2008 2007 2006
At January 1 - - -
Additions 3,000 - -
AT DECEMBER 31 3,000 - -

On December 1, 2008, AEGON's core capital was increased
through a transaction with the State of the Netherlands in
view of the ongoing uncertainty regarding the financial and
economic environment during the year. Via Vereniging
AEGON a senior loan of EUR 3 billion was provided against
issuance of 750 million non-voting convertible core capital
securities at EUR 4.00 per security. The newly issued
securities rank equal to common shares (pari passu), but
carry no voting rights. This structure is designed to avoid
dilution of voting rights of existing shareholders. The
convertible core capital securities may only be used for
general corporate purposes in the ordinary course of
business; investments in subsidiaries chargeable to the
additional capital of in excess of EUR 300 million outside
the European Union require prior approval from the Dutch
Central Bank.

Before December 1, 2009 AEGON has the right to
repurchase 250 million of the securities at a price between
EUR 4 and EUR 4.52 per security, depending on AEGON's
share price at the date of the repurchase, and after that
date at EUR 6 per security. AEGON may at any time

repurchase the remaining 500 million securities at EUR 6
per security. Alternatively, after three years, AEGON may
choose to convert these securities into common shares on a
one-for-one basis. In this situation, the Dutch State may opt
for repayment either in cash (at the original issue price of
EUR 4) or in shares.

AEGON retains full discretion over its policy regarding
dividends paid on common shares. The coupon on the non-
voting securities will be paid only if a dividend is also paid to
holders of common shares.

As the holder of the non-voting securities, Vereniging
AEGON will receive either an annual coupon of EUR 0.34
per security or, if higher, an amount linked to the value of
the dividend paid on AEGON common shares. This amount
has been fixed at 110% for 2009, rising to 120% for 2010
and 125% for 2011 and beyond. The coupon is not tax
deductible. Vereniging AEGON will use income from the non-
voting securities to service the loan from the Dutch State.
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Note 17 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Junior Perpetual Share
perpetual cumulative options
capital subordinated not yet
securities bonds exercised Total
At January 1, 2006 2,809 567 3 3,379
Instruments issued 638 - - 638
Share options granted - - 13 13
Deferred tax - - 2 2
AT DECEMBER 31, 2006 3,447 567 18 4,032
At January 1, 2007 3,447 567 18 4,032
Instruments issued 745 - - 745
Share options granted - - 18 18
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 4,192 567 36 4,795
At January 1, 2008 4,192 567 36 4,795
Share options granted - - 19 19
Redemptions - (114) = (114)
Share options forfeited - - (1) (1)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 4,192 453 54 4,699
Junior perpetual Coupon Year of
capital securities rate Coupon date first call 2008 2007 2006
USD 500 million 6.5% Quarterly, December 15 2010 424 424 424
USD 250 million Floating LIBOR rate ! Quarterly, December 15 2010 212 212 212
USD 550 million 6.875% Quarterly, September 15 2011 438 438 438
EUR 200 million 6.0% Annually, July 21 2011 200 200 200
USD 1,050 million 7.25% Quarterly, December 15 2012 745 745 -
EUR 950 million Floating DSL rate 2 Quarterly, July 15 2014 950 950 950
USD 500 million Floating CMS rate 3 Quarterly, July 15 2014 402 402 402
USD 1 billion 6.375% Quarterly, June 15 2015 821 821 821
AT DECEMBER 31 4,192 4,192 3,447

' The coupon of the USD 250 million junior perpetual capital securities is reset each quarter based on the then prevailing three-month LIBOR yield plus
a spread of 87.5 basis points, with a minimum of 4%.

2 The coupon of the EUR 950 million junior perpetual capital securities is reset each quarter based on the then prevailing ten-year Dutch government
bond yield plus a spread of ten basis points, with a maximum of 8%.

3 The coupon of the USD 500 million junior perpetual capital securities is reset each quarter based on the then prevailing ten-year US dollar interest rate
swap yield plus a spread of ten basis points, with a maximum of 8.5%.

The interest rate exposure on some of these securities has been optional and required coupon payment deferral and mandatory

swapped to a three-month LIBOR yield. payments events. Although the securities have no stated
maturity, AEGON has the right to call the securities for

The securities have been issued at par. The securities have redemption at par for the first time on the coupon date in the

subordination provisions and rank junior to all other liabilities. years as specified, or on any coupon payment date thereafter.

The conditions of the securities contain certain provisions for
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Perpetual cumulative Coupon Coupon Year of

subordinated bonds rate date first call 2008 2007 2006
EUR 114 million 7.625% July 10 2008 - 114 114
EUR 203 million 7.125% 14 March 4 2011 203 203 203
EUR 114 million 4.156% 2 June 8 2015 114 114 114
EUR 136 million 5.185% 34 October 14 2018 136 136 136

AT DECEMBER 31

453 567 567

! The coupon of the EUR 203 million bonds is set at 7.125% until March 4, 2011.

2 The coupon of the EUR 114 million bonds was originally set at 8% until June 8, 2005. As of this date, the coupon is reset at 4.156% until 2015.
3 The coupon of the EUR 136 million 7.25% bonds was originally set at 7.25% until October 14, 2008. As of this date, the coupon is reset at 5.185% until

October 14, 2018.

4 If the bonds are not called on the respective call dates and after consecutive period of ten years, the coupons will be reset at the then prevailing
effective yield of ten-year Dutch government securities plus a spread of 85 basis points.

The bonds have the same subordination provisions as dated
subordinated debt. In addition, the conditions of the bonds
contain provisions for interest deferral and for the availability
of principal amounts to meet losses.

Note 18 TRUST PASS-THROUGH SECURITIES

Although the bonds have no stated maturity, AEGON has the
right to call the bonds for redemption at par for the first time
on the coupon date in the years as specified.

Coupon Coupon Year of Year of Year of
rate date issue maturity first call 2008 2007
USD 15 million’ Floating Quarterly, February 23 2003 2033 2008 - 11
USD 12 million' Floating Quarterly, January 8 2003 2034 2009 9 8
USD 18 million' Floating Quarterly, July 23 2004 2034 2009 11 13
USD 225 million? 7.65% Semi-annually, December 1 1996 2026 n.a. 105 77
USD 190 million? 7.625% Semi-annually, November 15 1997 2037 n.a. 36 34

AT DECEMBER 31
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! Issued by a subsidiary of AEGON N.V.
2 Issued by a subsidiary of, and guaranteed by AEGON N.V.

Trust pass-through securities are securities through which the
holders participate in a trust. The assets of these trusts
consist of junior subordinated deferrable interest debentures
issued by Transamerica Corporation and Clark Consulting Inc.
The trust pass-through securities carry provisions with

regard to deferral of distributions for extension periods up to
a maximum of ten consecutive semi-annual periods.

The trust pass-through securities are subordinated to all other
unsubordinated borrowings and liabilities. There were no defaults
or breaches of conditions during the period.

The fair value of these loans amounts to EUR 161 million
(2007: EUR 143 million).
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Note 19 SUBORDINATED BORROWINGS

NOTE 19 - 20

2008 2007
AT DECEMBER 31 41 34
These loans are subordinated to all other unsubordinated
borrowings and liabilities. There were no defaults or breaches
of conditions during the period. The fair value of these loans
amounts to EUR 41 million (2007: EUR 34 million).
Note 20 INSURANCE CONTRACTS

2008 2007
Life insurance 89,163 81,247
Non-life insurance
- Unearned premiums and unexpired risks 2,860 2,605
- Outstanding claims 1,550 1,496
- Incurred but not reported claims 790 704
Incoming reinsurance 3,014 2,444
AT DECEMBER 31 97,377 88,496

2008 2007
Non-life insurance:
- Accident and health insurance 4,439 4,030
- General insurance 761 775
TOTAL NON-LIFE INSURANCE 5,200 4,805
Movements during the year in life insurance: 2008 2007
At January 1 81,247 81,781
Acquisitions through business combinations 593 4,337
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions 204 361
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 12,027 9,771
Unwind of discount/interest credited 3,059 3,324
Insurance liabilities released (11,174) (11,657)
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits 2,474 (420)
Losses recognized as a result of liability adequacy testing - 15
Shadow accounting adjustments 133 (138)
Net exchange differences 569 (6,169)
Other 31 42
AT DECEMBER 31 89,163 81,247
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Movements during the year in non-life insurance: 2008 2007

At January 1 4,805 4,886
Acquisitions through business combinations 2 17
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions - 3
Gross premiums - existing and new business 2,143 2,274
Unwind of discount/interest credited 181 179
Insurance liabilities released (1,026) (1,150)
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits (13) (10)
Change in unearned premiums (1,132) (1,070)
Change in unexpired risks (4) (6)
Incurred related to current year 638 592
Incurred related to prior years 114 104
Release for claims settled current year (281) (241)
Release for claims settled prior years (477) (435)
Change in IBNR 70 64
Net exchange differences 183 (391)
Other (3) (11)
AT DECEMBER 31 5,200 4,805

Prior year run-off results, compared to opening balances of the
non-life reserve, are immaterial.

Movements during the year in incoming reinsurance: 2008 2007
At January 1 2,444 2,527
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 1,093 1,539
Unwind of discount /interest credited 83 189
Insurance liabilities released (1,161) (1,550)
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits 244 45
Net exchange differences 163 (280)
Other 148 (26)
AT DECEMBER 31 3,014 2,444
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Note 21 INSURANCE CONTRACTS FOR ACCOUNT
OF POLICYHOLDERS

2008 2007
Insurance contracts for account of policyholders 60,808 78,394
2008 2007
At January 1 78,394 72,143
Acquisitions through business combinations 8 9,185
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions (395) (419)
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 5,931 7,873
Unwind of discount/interest credited (14,778) 3,185
Insurance liabilities released (6,379) (7,492)
Fund charges released (968) (877)
Changes in valuation of expected future benefits (76) (56)
Net exchange differences (1,212) (5,114)
Other 283 (34)
AT DECEMBER 31 60,808 78,394
Note 22 INVESTMENT CONTRACTS
2008 2007
Investment contracts' 36,231 36,089
! Refer to note 49 for a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Without With
discretionary discretionary
participation participation
features features Total
At January 1, 2007 36,027 591 36,618
Acquisitions through business combinations 99 - 99
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions (79) = (79)
Deposits 13,889 - 13,889
Withdrawals (13,115) = (13,115)
Insurance liabilities released - 145 145
Interest credited 1,676 - 1,676
Fund charges released (12) = (12)
Movements related to fair value hedges 167 - 167
Net exchange differences (3,345) (60) (3,405)
Other 106 - 106
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 35,413 676 36,089
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Without
discretionary
participation

With
discretionary
participation

features features Total
At January 1, 2008 35,413 676 36,089
Portfolio transfers and acquisitions 110 - 110
Deposits 10,189 - 10,189
Withdrawals (13,824) - (13,824)
Insurance liabilities released - 17 17
Interest credited 1,285 - 1,285
Fund charges released (11) - (11)
Movements related to fair value hedges 564 - 564
Net exchange differences 1,628 (158) 1,470
Other 342 - 342
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 35,696 535 36,231
2008 2007
Fair value of investment contracts without discretionary participation features 35,077 36,078
Investment contracts consist of the following: 2008 2007
Institutional guaranteed products 23,578 24,004
Fixed annuities 5,753 5,012
Savings accounts 4,619 5,173
Investment contracts with discretionary participation features 535 677
Other 1,746 1,223
AT DECEMBER 31 36,231 36,089
Note 23 INVESTMENT CONTRACTS FOR
ACCOUNT OF POLICYHOLDERS
2008 2007
Investment contracts for account of policyholders'’ 45,614 63,756
! Refer to note 49 for a summary of all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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| NOTE 24

Without
discretionary
participation

With
discretionary
participation

features features Total
At January 1, 2007 22,764 41,333 64,097
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 4,984 8,512 13,496
Withdrawals (4,186) = (4,186)
Interest credited 1,313 2,161 3,474
Insurance liabilities released - (7,077) (7,077)
Fund charges released (111) = (111)
Net exchange differences (2,134) (3,796) (5,930)
Other (959) 952 (7)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 21,671 42,085 63,756
At January 1, 2008 21,671 42,085 63,756
Gross premium and deposits - existing and new business 4,645 6,366 11,011
Withdrawals (3,118) - (3,118)
Interest credited (4,251) (6,007) (10,258)
Insurance liabilities released - (4,690) (4,690)
Fund charges released (99) - (99)
Net exchange differences (1,661) (8,969) (10,630)
Other (358) - (358)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 16,829 28,785 45,614
Note 24 BORROWINGS

2008 2007

Debentures and other loans 3,840 4,682
Commercial papers 428 258
Bank overdrafts 717 1,046
Short term deposits 354 35
AT DECEMBER 31 5,339 6,021
Current 1,716 2,680
Non-current 3,623 3,341
Total fair value of borrowings 5,464 6,096

Bank overdrafts are largely part of cash pool agreements with
banks and matched by cash balances. IFRS does not permit net
presentation of these cash balances and bank overdrafts under
the current agreements with these banks.

i 176



Issue/

Debentures and other loans Coupon rate  Coupon date Maturity 2008 2007
USD 100 million Domestic Debentures' 9.375% Semi-annually 1996/08 - 68
EUR 1,000 million Medium-Term Notes 4.625% April 16 2003/08 - 1,000
USD 147 million Domestic Debentures' 6.4% Semi-annually 1998/08 - 94
USD 133 million Zero Coupon Bonds' 1982/10 82 68
USD 200 million Zero Coupon Bonds' 1982/12 89 74
USD 750 million Senior Notes 4.75% Semi-annually 2003/13 539 509
EUR 500 million Medium-Term Notes 4.125% December 8 2004/14 421 474
EUR 75 million Medium-Term Notes 4.625% December 9 2004/19 57 70
USD 500 million Senior Notes' 5.75% Semi-annually 2005/20 333 858
GBP 92 million Note issue agreement 234 April 21 2007/21 34 83
GBP 250 million Note issue agreement 234 April 21 2008/23 262 =
GBP 250 million Medium-Term Notes 6.125% December 15 1999/31 258 341
USD 1.54 billion Variable Funding Surplus Note"3 Floating Quarterly 2006/36 705 569
USD 1.5 billion Variable Funding Surplus Note '3 Floating Quarterly 2007/37 295 204
USD 550 million Floating Rate Guaranteed Note %3 Floating Quarterly 2007/37 395 374
Other 370 401

3,840 4,682

' Issued by subsidiaries of, and guaranteed by AEGON N.V.
2 Issued by a subsidiary of AEGON N.V.

3 Outstanding amounts can vary up to the maximum stated nominal amount.
4 Private Value-in-Force (ViF) securitization by AEGON UK to monetize a portion of future profits associated with an existing book of unit-linked business.

Included in debentures and other loans is EUR 845 million

(2007: EUR 980 million) relating to borrowings measured at fair

value. Proceeds have been swapped to US Dollar floating-rate.

AEGON's credit spread had a positive impact of EUR 225 million
on income before tax and EUR 156 million on shareholders’ equity.

Undrawn committed borrowing facilities: 2008 2007
Floating-rate

- Expiring within one year 269 255
- Expiring beyond one year 2,263 2,140
AT DECEMBER 31 2,532 2,395

There were no defaults or breaches of conditions during
the period.
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Note 25 PROVISIONS

2008 2007
Provisions 495 293
Current 274 161
Non-current 221 132
At January 1 293 262
Acquisition of a subsidiary 96 21
Additional provisions 210 78
Unused amounts reversed through the income statement (7) (14)
Unwinding of discount and change in discount rate 5 3
Used during the year (109) (46)
Net exchange differences 7 (12)
Other - 1
AT DECEMBER 31 495 293
The provisions include litigation provisions and provisions for
contingent consideration relating to business combinations.
Note 26 DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

2008 2007
Retirement benefit plans 1,416 1,550
Other post-employment benefit plans 216 199
TOTAL DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS 1,632 1,749
Retirement benefit plans in deficit 448 -
Retirement benefit plans in surplus - 387
TOTAL DEFINED BENEFIT ASSETS 448 387
Retirement benefit plans in deficit 1,864 1,937
Other post-employment benefit plans in deficit 216 199
TOTAL DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITIES 2,080 2,136
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2008 2007
Retirement Other post- Other post-
Movements during the year benefit employment Retirement employment
in defined benefit plans: plans benefit plans Total benefit plans benefit plans Total
At January 1 1,550 199 1,749 1,433 209 1,642
Acquisitions through business
combinations - - - - 1 1
Defined benefit expenses 125 22 147 137 6 143
Contributions paid (90) - (90) (24) = (24)
Benefits paid (91) (15) (106) (77) (15) (92)
Net exchange differences (59) 8 (51) 7 (16) 9)
Other (19) 2 (17) 74 14 88
AT DECEMBER 31 1,416 216 1,632 1,550 199 1,749
The amounts recognized in the balance sheet are determined
as follows:
Retirement benefit plans: 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Present value of wholly or partly funded obligations 2,144 2,357 2,487 2,542 2,091
Fair value of plan assets (1,786) (2,541) (2,620) (2,570) (2,125)
358 (184) (133) (28) (34)
Present value of wholly unfunded obligations 1,644 1,622 1,768 1,817 1,543
Unrecognized actuarial gains/ (losses) (586) 110 (201) (420) (111)
Unrecognized past service cost - 2 (1) = =
AT DECEMBER 31 1,416 1,550 1,433 1,369 1,398
Other post-employment benefit plans: 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Present value of wholly or partly funded obligations 4 4 4 4 -
Fair value of plan assets - - - - -
4 4 4 4 -
Present value of wholly unfunded obligations 231 224 247 254 246
Unrecognized actuarial gains/ (losses) (19) (29) (42) (21) 9)
Unrecognized past service cost - - - - -
AT DECEMBER 31 216 199 209 237 237
Defined benefit plans: 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Present value of wholly or partly funded obligations 2,148 2,361 2,491 2,546 2,091
Fair value of plan assets (1,786) (2,541) (2,620) (2,570) (2,125)
362 (180) (129) (24) (34)
Present value of wholly unfunded obligations' 1,875 1,846 2,015 2,071 1,789
Unrecognized actuarial gains/ (losses) (605) 81 (243) (441) (120)
Unrecognized past service cost - 2 (1) = =
AT DECEMBER 31 1,632 1,749 1,642 1,606 1,635

! Assets held by AEGON The Netherlands for retirement benefits do not meet the definition of plan assets and as such were not deducted in calculating
this amount. Instead, these assets are recognized as general account assets. Consequently, the return on these assets also does not form part of the

calculation of defined benefit expenses.
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The fair value of AEGON's own financial instruments included in
plan assets and the fair value of other assets used by AEGON
included in planned assets was nil in both 2008 and 2007.
2008 2007
Other post- Other post-
Retirement employment Retirement employment
Defined benefit expenses: benefit plans benefit plans Total benefit plans benefit plans Total
Current year service costs 89 6 95 106 4 110
Interest cost 229 14 243 220 12 232
Expected return on plan assets (193) - (193) (193) = (193)
Actuarial gains/ (losses) recognized 2 - 2 4 1 5)
Past service cost 2) 2 - - (11) (11)
TOTAL DEFINED BENEFIT
EXPENSES 125 22 147 137 6 143
2006
Other post-
Retirement employment
Defined benefit expenses: benefit plans benefit plans Total
Current year service costs 119 4 123
Interest cost 211 12 223
Expected return on plan assets (190) = (190)
Actuarial (gains)/losses recognized 6 - 6
Past service cost - (13) (13)
Losses on curtailment 1 = 1
TOTAL DEFINED BENEFIT EXPENSES 147 3 150
Defined benefit expenses are included in ‘Commissions and
expenses' in the income statement.
2008 2007
Other post- Other post-
employment Retirement employment
Retirement benefit plans Total benefit plans benefit plans Total
Actual return on plan assets and
reimbursement rights (689) - (689) 257 - 257
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Movements during the year of the present value of the defined benefit obligations: 2008 2007

At January 1 4,207 4,506
Acquired through business combinations - 1
Current year service costs 95 110
Interest cost 243 233
Contributions by plan participants 5 5
Actuarial (gains)/losses (214) (235)
Benefits paid (196) (185)
Past service cost 4 (12)
Net exchange differences (101) (288)
Other (20) 72
AT DECEMBER 31 4,023 4,207
Movements during the year in plan assets for retirement benefit plans: 2008 2007
At January 1 2,541 2,620
Expected return on plan assets 193 193
Actuarial gains/ (losses) (882) 64
Contributions by employer 90 24
Contributions by plan participants 5 6
Benefits paid (90) (94)
Net exchange differences (71) (272)
AT DECEMBER 31 1,786 2,541

All other post-employment benefits plans are unfunded.

Breakdown of plan assets for retirement benefit plans: 2008 2007
Equity instruments 926 1,727
Debt instruments 684 698
Other 176 116
AT DECEMBER 31 1,786 2,541

All other post-employment benefits plans are unfunded.

SENSITIVITY OF ASSUMED MEDICAL COST TREND RATES
Assumed medical cost trend rates have an effect on the
amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage
change in assumed medical cost trend rates would have the
following effects:

2008 2007
+1% -1% + 1% -1%

Aggregate of current service cost and interest cost components of net periodic
post-employment medical costs 2 (1) 1 (1)
Accumulated post-employment benefit obligation for medical cost 17 (16) 17 (16)
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Experience adjustments arising on: 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Plan liabilities (3) (37) (76) (28) 90
Plan assets (882) 64 112 52 66

An experience adjustment on plan liabilities is the difference
between the actuarial assumptions underlying the scheme and
the actual experience during the period. This excludes the
effect of changes in the actuarial assumptions that would also

qualify as actuarial gains and losses. Experience adjustments on
plan assets are the difference between expected and actual
return on assets.

Best estimate of contributions expected for the next annual period 171
Pension Other
Estimated future benefits: benefits benefits Total
2009 168 17 185
2010 202 18 220
201 183 19 202
2012 192 19 211
2013 200 20 220
2014 to 2018 1,129 101 1,230

Defined benefit plans are mainly operated by AEGON USA,
AEGON The Netherlands and AEGON UK. The following sections
contain a general description of the plans in each of these
subsidiaries, a summary of the principal actuarial assumptions
applied in determining the value of defined benefit plans and a
description of the basis used to determine the overall expected
rate of return on plan assets.

AEGON USA

AEGON USA has defined benefit plans covering substantially all
its employees that are qualified under the Internal Revenue
Service Code. The benefits are based on years of service and

the employee’s compensation during the highest five, complete,
consecutive years of employment. The defined benefit plans
were unfunded by EUR 171 million at December 31, 2008

(2007: EUR 467 million overfunded).

AEGON USA also sponsors supplemental retirement plans to
provide senior management with benefits in excess of normal
pension benefits. These plans are unfunded and non-qualified
under the Internal Revenue Service Code. The unfunded
amount related to these plans, for which a liability has been
recorded, is EUR 191 million (2007: EUR 171 million).

2008 2007
Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at year end:
Discount rate 6.50% 6.25%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 4.56% 4.50%
Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the year ended December 31:
Discount rate 6.25% 5.90%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.56% 4.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.10% 8.10%

i 182



The expected return on plan assets is set at the long-term rate
expected to be earned based on the long-term investment
strategy and the various classes of the invested funds. For each
asset class, a long-term asset return assumption is developed
taking into account the long-term level of risk of the asset and
historical returns of the asset class. A weighted average
expected long-term rate was developed based on long-term
returns for each asset class and the target asset allocation

of the plan.

AEGON USA provides health care benefits to retired
employees, which are predominantly unfunded. The
post-retirement health benefit liability amounts to
EUR 164 million (2007: EUR 147 million).

The principal actuarial assumptions that apply for the
year ended December 31, 2008 are as follows:

2008 2007
Assumed health care trend rates:
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.00% 10.00%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually declines to 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the rate that it is assumed to remain at 2013 2013
Target allocation of plan assets for retirement benefit plans for the next annual period is:
Equity instruments 53-73%
Debt instruments 15-35%
Other 0-15%

The overall goal of the plans is to maximize total investment
returns to provide sufficient funding for the present and
anticipated future benefit obligations within the constraints of
a prudent level of portfolio risk and diversification. AEGON
believes that the asset allocation is an important factor in
determining the long-term performance of the plans. From time
to time the actual asset allocation may deviate from the desired
asset allocation ranges due to different market performance
among the various asset categories. If it is determined that
rebalancing is required, future additions and withdrawals will be
used to bring the allocation to the desired level.

Pension plan contributions were not required for AEGON USA in
2008 or 2007.

AEGON THE NETHERLANDS

AEGON The Netherlands has a number of defined benefit plans
and a small defined contribution plan. The contributions to the
retirement benefit plan of AEGON The Netherlands are paid by
both the employees and the employer, with the employer

contribution being variable. The benefits covered are retirement
benefits, disability, death and survivor pension and are based
on an average salary system. Employees earning more than
EUR 42,490 per year (as at January 1, 2008) have an option to
contribute to a defined contribution plan for the excess salary.
However, the cost for the company remains the same. The
defined benefit plans were unfunded by EUR 1,438 million at
December 31, 2008 (2007: EUR 1,432 million). Assets held by
AEGON The Netherlands for retirement benefits do not meet
the definition of plan assets and as such were not deducted in
calculating this amount. Instead, these assets are recognized as
general account assets. Consequently, the return on these assets
do not form part of the calculation of defined benefit expenses.

AEGON The Netherlands also has a post-retirement medical
plan that contributes to the health care coverage of employees
and beneficiaries after retirement. The liability related to this
plan amounted to EUR 48 million at December 31, 2008

(2007: EUR 48 million).
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The principal actuarial assumptions that apply for the year
ended December 31, 2008 are as follows:

2008 2007
Discount rate 5.75% 5.50%
Salary increase rate 2.50% 2.50%
Social security increase rate 2.50% 2.50%
Pension increase rate 2.00% 2.00%

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually declines to
Year that the rate reaches the rate it is assumed to remain at

1.50-2.00%  1.50-2.00%
1.50-2.00%  1.50-2.00%

n.a. n.a.

AEGON UK

AEGON UK operates a defined benefit pension scheme
providing benefits for staff based on final pensionable salary.
The assets of the scheme are held under trust separately from
those of the Group. The assets of the scheme are held in
policies effected with Scottish Equitable plc. The scheme is
closed to new entrants. Under IAS 19, the defined benefit plan
has a deficit of EUR 186 million at December 31, 2008

(2007: EUR 283 million).

For each asset class, a long-term return assumption is derived
taking into account market conditions, historical returns (both
absolute returns and returns relative to other asset classes) and
general forecasts for future returns. Government bonds are
taken as providing the return with the least risk. The expected
long-term rate of return is calculated as a weighted average of
these assumed rates, taking account of the long-term strategic
allocation of funds across the different classes adopted by the
trustees of the scheme.

The principal actuarial assumptions that apply for the year
ended December 31, 2008 are as follows:

2008 2007
Discount rate 5.90% 5.20%
Salary increase rate 5.60% 4.40%
Pension increase rate 3.30% 2.90%
Price inflation 3.30% 2.90%
Expected long-term return on assets 6.70% 6.60%
Target allocation of plan assets for retirement benefit plans for the next annual period is:
Equity instruments 50% 67%
Debt instruments 50% 33%

OTHER COUNTRIES

The other countries mostly operate defined contribution
plans, with the exception of smaller defined benefit plans in
AEGON Canada and AEGON Taiwan.
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Note 27 DEFERRED REVENUE LIABILITIES

2008 2007
At January 1 50 43
Income deferred 13 23
Release to income statement 9) (12)
Net exchange differences (12) (4)
AT DECEMBER 31 42 50
Note 28 DEFERRED TAX
2008 2007
Deferred tax assets 1,447 2
Deferred tax liabilities 424 1,605
TOTAL NET DEFERRED TAX (1,023) 1,603
Deferred
expenses,
VOBA
and other Defined
Financial Insurance intangible benefit
Real estate assets contracts assets plans Losses Other Total
At January 1, 2007 508 1,206 (2,340) 3,973 (8) (635) (47) 2,657
Acquisitions through
business combinations - - - 10 - (2) 9 17
Charged to income
statement 10 215 (41) (80) (13) 33 5 129
Charged to equity 2 (886) (7) 6 - - 2 (883)
Net exchange differences 9) (72) 153 (312) (5) 37 6 (202)
Other - 5 (28) (17) = (10) (65) (115)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 511 468 (2,263) 3,580 (26) (577) (90) 1,603
At January 1, 2008 511 468 (2,263) 3,580 (26) (577) (90) 1,603
Acquisitions through
business combinations - 2 - 37 - - - 39
Charged to income
statement (15) 1,012 (449) 52 27 (345) (194) 88
Charged to equity 3 (3,142) (6) 12 - 121 115 (2,897)
Net exchange differences 4 (101) 137 (228) 21 10 33 (124)
Other 10 68 41 (74) 13 216 (6) 268
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 513 (1,693) (2,540) 3,379 35 (575) (142) (1,023)
AEGON ANNUAL REPORT 2008

185 :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON GROUP | NOTE 29 - 30

Deferred tax assets comprise temporary differences on: 2008 2007
Real estate (296) (2)
Financial assets 1,683 1
Insurance and investment contracts 1,999 -
Deferred expenses, VOBA and other intangible assets (2,284) 2
Defined benefit plans (86) 2
Losses 431 -
Other - (1)
AT DECEMBER 31 1,447 2
Deferred tax liabilities comprise temporary differences on: 2008 2007
Real estate 217 509
Financial assets (10) 469
Insurance and investment contracts (541) (2,263)
Deferred expenses, VOBA and other intangible assets 1,095 3,582
Defined benefit plans (51) (24)
Losses (144) (577)
Other (142) (91)
AT DECEMBER 31 424 1,605

Deferred corporate income tax assets are recognized for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that the realization of
the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is

probable. For an amount of EUR 513 million (2007: EUR 1 million,

2006: EUR 49 million) the realization of the deferred tax asset
is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits
arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences.

For an amount of EUR 280 million (2007: nil, 2006: nil) the
utilization of tax losses is dependent on retaining bonds and
similar investments until the earlier of market recovery or

maturity. For an amount of EUR 233 million (2007: EUR 1 million,

2006: EUR 49 million) the utilization of tax losses is
dependent on the projection of future taxable income from
existing business.

Deferred corporate income tax assets in respect of deductible
temporary differences relating to available for sale financial
assets are recognized to the extent that the realization of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The realization of the deferred tax asset of EUR 3,761 million
(2007: nil, 2006: nil) is dependent on future taxable profits in
excess of the profits arising from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences. For the whole amount the
realization of the deferred tax asset is dependent on retaining
bonds and similar investments until the earlier of market
recovery or maturity.
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AEGON did not recognize deferred corporate income tax assets
in respect of tax losses amounting to EUR 1,512 million (2007:
EUR 1,199 million, 2006: EUR 642 million) that can be carried
forward to future taxable income. Tax losses amounting to

EUR 687 million (2007: EUR 423 million, 2006: EUR 83 million)
can be carried forward indefinitely; tax losses amounting to
EUR 340 million (2007: EUR 736 million, 2006: EUR 517 million)
will expire within the next five years; tax losses amounting to
EUR 391 million (2007: EUR 40 million, 2006: EUR 42 million)
will expire in five to ten years; tax losses amounting to

EUR 67 million (2007: nil, 2006: nil) will expire in ten to fifteen
years; tax losses amounting to EUR 27 million (2007: nil,

2006: nil) will expire in fifteen to twenty years.

AEGON did not recognize deferred corporate income tax assets
in respect of deductible temporary differences relating to
deferred acquisition costs, insurance contracts, available for
sale financial assets and other items for the amount of

EUR 424 million (2007: EUR 7 million, 2006: nil).

Deferred corporate income tax liabilities have not been
recognized for withholding tax and other taxes that would

be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries,
branches, associates and joint ventures. The unremitted
earnings totaled EUR 1,808 million (2007: EUR 1,856 million;
2006: EUR 1,810 million). All deferred taxes are non-current
by nature.



Note 29 OTHER LIABILITIES

2008 2007
Payables due to policyholders 874 608
Payables due to brokers and agents 867 613
Payables out of reinsurance 774 912
Social security and taxes payable 81 34
Income tax payable 17 426
Investment creditors 661 394
Cash collateral 9,040 8,993
Repurchase agreements 3,929 14
Share appreciation rights 5 41
Other creditors 1,989 2,423
AT DECEMBER 31 18,237 14,458
Current 17,398 13,606
Non-current 839 852
Fair value 18,142 14,416
Refer to note 40 for a description of share appreciation rights
and related expenses.
Note 30 ACCRUALS

2008 2007
Accrued interest 443 306
Accrued expenses 118 151
AT DECEMBER 31 561 457
The carrying amounts disclosed reasonably approximate
the fair values as at the year end.
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Note 31 PREMIUM INCOME AND PREMIUMS TO
REINSURERS
Total
Gross Reinsurance
2008
Life 19,795 1,255
Non-life 2,614 316
TOTAL 22,409 1,571
2007
Life 24,210 1,280
Non-life 2,690 326
TOTAL 26,900 1,606
2006
Life 21,768 1,333
Non-life 2,802 338
TOTAL 24,570 1,671
Note 32 INVESTMENT INCOME
2008 2007 2006
Interest income 8,886 9,183 9,011
Dividend income 868 1,051 1,186
Rental income 211 223 179
TOTAL INVESTMENT INCOME 9,965 10,457 10,376
Investment income related to general account 7,041 7,496 7,467
Investment income for account of policyholders 2,924 2,961 2,909
TOTAL 9,965 10,457 10,376
Investment income from financial assets held for general account: 2008 2007 2006
Available-for-sale 5217 5,661 5,643
Loans 1,303 1,276 1,231
Held-to-maturity 49 48 34
Financial assets designated fair value through profit or loss 223 255 305
Real estate 96 89 90
Derivatives 67 85 120
Other 86 82 44
TOTAL 7,041 7,496 7,467
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Investment income from: 2008 2007 2006
Shares 868 1,051 1,186
Debt securities and money market instruments 7,419 7,708 7,591
Loans 1,303 1,276 1,231
Real estate 211 223 179
Other 164 199 189
TOTAL 9,965 10,457 10,376
Included in interest income is EUR 10 million (2007:
EUR 7 million; 2006: EUR 28 million) in respect of interest
income accrued on impaired financial assets. The interest
income on financial assets that are not carried at fair value
through profit or loss amounted to EUR 6,603 million (2007:
EUR: 6,930 million 2006: EUR 6,839 million).
Note 33 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2008 2007 2006
Fee income from asset management 763 700 686
Sales commissions 438 547 440
Commissions from intermediary activities 284 313 233
Other 218 340 306
TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 1,703 1,900 1,665
Included in fee and commission income is EUR 85 million of
fees on trust and fiduciary activities (2007: EUR 74 million;
2006: EUR 62 million). EUR 25 million of fees were recognized
on financial assets and liabilities that are not carried at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognized in the income
statement (2007: EUR 6 million; 2006: EUR 14 million).
Note 34 OTHER REVENUES

2008 2007 2006
OTHER REVENUES 5 14 4
Other revenues relate to non-core activities.
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Note 35 INCOME FROM REINSURANCE CEDED
2008 2007 2006

Recovered claims and benefits 1,907 1,755 1,170
Change in technical provisions (430) (380) 124
Commissions 156 171 173
TOTAL 1,633 1,546 1,467
Income from reinsurance ceded represents mainly claims made
under reinsured insurance policies.
Note 36 RESULTS FROM FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS
Results from financial transactions comprise: 2008 2007 2006
Net fair value change of general account financial investments at fair value

through profit or loss, other than derivatives (1,261) 573 775
Realized gains and losses on financial investments 99 957 597
Gains and (losses) on investments in real estate (48) 137 134
Net fair value change of derivatives 996 (926) (255)
Net fair value change on for account of policyholder financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (27,490) 4,380 7,953
Net fair value change on investments in real estate for account of policyholders (557) (402) 187
Net foreign currency gains and (losses) (39) (172) (24)
Net fair value change on borrowings and other financial liabilities 105 2) 42
Realized gains and (losses) on repurchased debt - - (12)
TOTAL (28,195) 4,545 9,397
Net fair value change of general account financial investments at fair value
through profit or loss, other than derivatives comprise: 2008 2007 2006
Shares (639) 96 344
Debt securities and money market investments (317) 86 61
Other (305) 391 370
TOTAL (1,261) 573 775
Realized gains and losses on financial investments comprise: 2008 2007 2006
Shares 37 870 622
Debt securities and money market investments 140 96 (10)
Loans 9 34 61
Other (87) (43) (76)
TOTAL 99 957 597
Realized gains and losses on financial investments relate to: 2008 2007 2006
Available-for-sale investments 90 923 536
Loans 9 34 61
Other - - -
TOTAL 99 957 597
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Net fair value change of derivatives comprise:

2008 2007 2006

Net fair value change on free standing derivatives 2,713 (12) 105
Net fair value change on embedded derivatives (1,721) (590) (179)
Ineffective portion of hedge transactions to which hedge accounting is applied 50 16 12
Fair value changes on economic hedges for which no hedge accounting is applied (46) (340) (193)
TOTAL 996 (926) (255)
The ineffective portion of hedge transactions to which hedge accounting is

applied comprises: 2008 2007 2006
Fair value change on hedging instruments in a fair value hedge (164) (242) (22)
Fair value change on hedged items in a fair valued hedge 202 253 27
Ineffectiveness fair value hedges 38 11 5
Ineffectiveness cash flow hedges 12 5 7
TOTAL 50 16 12
Net fair value change on for account of policyholder financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss comprise: 2008 2007 2006
Shares (11,238) 1,760 3,754
Debt securities and money market investments (827) (884) (1,124)
Deposits with financial institutions 5 (1) =
Separate accounts and unconsolidated investment funds (15,481) 3,580 5,323
Other 51 (75) =
TOTAL (27,490) 4,380 7,953

Investments for account of policyholders comprise of financial
assets and investments in real estate. Refer to note 8 for
further information. Financial assets for account of
policyholders are classified as at fair value through profit or

Note 37 OTHER INCOME

loss. Investment income on investments for account of
policyholders is included in investment income. Refer to note 32
for further information.

2008 2007 2006

Other income

6 214 11

Other income in 2007 relates mainly to the acquisition of
OPTAS N.V. ('OPTAS"). The acquired net assets amounted to
EUR 1.7 billion, EUR 212 million higher than the acquisition price
of EUR 1.5 billion resulting in a one-time gain at acquisition that
is reported as part of Other income.
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Note 38 POLICYHOLDER CLAIMS AND BENEFITS

2008 2007 2006
Claims and benefits paid to policyholders 17,248 17,889 16,235
Gains/losses on separate accounts and investment funds (14,020) 3,244 4,962
Change in valuation of liabilities for insurance and investment contracts (4,036) 13,002 14,070
TOTAL (808) 34,135 35,267
The change in valuation of liabilities for insurance and
investment contracts include EUR 17 million of losses
(2007: gains of EUR 7 million, 2006: gains of EUR 75 million)
of other charges that for segment reporting are excluded
from Operating earnings before tax.
Note 39 PROFIT SHARING AND REBATES

2008 2007 2006
Amortization of interest rate rebates 50 46 48
Surplus interest bonuses 10 22 16
Profit appropriated to policyholders 38 15 69
TOTAL 98 83 133
Note 40 COMMISSIONS AND EXPENSES

2008 2007 2006
Commissions 3,072 3,312 3,444
Employee expenses 1,899 1,903 1,821
Administration expenses 1,373 1,334 1,236
Deferred expenses (1,792) (1,891) (1,973)
Amortization of deferred expenses 1,332 1,062 1,286
Amortization of VOBA and future servicing rights 225 219 271
TOTAL 6,109 5,939 6,085
Included in administration expenses above is depreciation EUR 26 million (2007: EUR 23 million and 2006: EUR 23 million)
amounting to EUR 84 million (2007: EUR 86 million and regarding defined contribution expenses.
2006: EUR 112 million) that relates to equipment, software and
real estate held for own use. The direct operating expenses Included in the amortization of deferred expenses and VOBA is
relating to investments in real estate that generated rental EUR 14 million (2007: EUR 1 million and 2006: EUR 29 million)
income was EUR 59 million (2007: EUR 62 million and that is classified for segment reporting purposes as non
2006: EUR 32 million). Minimum lease payments recognized operating earnings as an offset against realized gains and
as expense amounted to EUR 6 million (2007: EUR 10 million losses on financial investments.

and 2006: EUR 6 million). Included in employee expenses is
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Employee expenses 2008 2007 2006
Salaries 1,285 1,286 1,206
Post-employment benefit costs 180 168 178
Social security charges 146 140 140
Other personnel costs 303 307 258
Share appreciation rights and share options (15) 2 39
TOTAL 1,899 1,903 1,821

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS AND SHARE OPTIONS
Senior executives of AEGON companies, as well as other AEGON
employees, have been offered both share appreciation rights
and share options. These share appreciation rights and share
options have been granted at an exercise price equal to the
market price of the shares at the date of the grant. The rights
and options granted in 2004-2008 vest after three years and
can only be exercised during the four years after the vesting
date. The rights and options granted in 2003 and 2002 vest
after two years and can only be exercised during the five years
after the vesting date. Vesting and exercisability depend on
continuing employment of the individual employee to whom
the rights and options have been granted. Option plans are
settled in equity, whilst stock appreciation rights are settled in
cash or provide the employee with the choice of settlement.

Decisions by the Executive Board to implement share
appreciation rights and share option plans are subject

to approval by the Supervisory Board. If, subsequently, the
Executive Board decides to implement such plans, that decision
has to be approved by the Supervisory Board. Options granted
pursuant to the purchase agreement with Providian have
various expiration dates. The options granted in 1997 to senior
executives of former Providian business units fully vest in three
years and the exercise period is up to ten years, with the latest
period ended in August 2008.

In compliance with regulations under Dutch law, share
appreciation rights and share options cannot be exercised
in blackout periods.

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS

The following tables present the movements in number of
share appreciation rights outstanding (SARs), as well as the
breakdown by the year in which they were granted.

Weig.ht.ed
average remaining
Weighted average contractual Aggregate intrinsic
Number of SARs exercise price in EUR termin years  value in EUR million
Qutstanding at January 1, 2007 23,865,888 15.15 3.55 77
Granted 309,500 14.98
Exercised (3,014,100) €)fsl5)
Forfeited (1,250,426) 17.06
Expired - -
OUTSTANDING AT JANUARY 1, 2008 19,910,862 15.87 2.59 30
Granted 300,300 893
Exercised (168,400) 7.99
Forfeited (1,898,621) 20.21
Expired -
OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 18,144,141 15.30 1.71
EXERCISABLE AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 17,431,241 15.42 1.57
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The weighted average share price at which the share
appreciation rights were exercised in 2008 is EUR 10.46
(2007: EUR 15.07).

NOTE 40

Original number Outstanding Outstanding Exercise price

SARs granted January 1, 2008 December 31, 2008 in EUR Exercise period
2002 11,555,700 7,146,732 5,912,204 26.70 Until March 12, 2009
2003 11,447,300 2,950,744 2,770,637 6.30 Until March 11, 2010
2004 11,574,850 5,668,016 5,323,882 10.56 Until March 17, 2011
2005 4,575,600 3,672,270 3,424,518 10.86 Until March 8, 2012
2006 244,300 187,200 207,100 14.00 Until March 14, 2013
2007 309,500 285,900 231,900 14.98 Until March 13, 2014
2008 300,300 - 273,900 8.93 Until March 11, 2015
TOTAL 40,007,550 19,910,862 18,144,141
The following assumptions are used in estimating the fair value
of share appreciation rights at December 31:

2008 2007 2006
Volatility 56.43% 29.0% 26.3%
Expected dividend yield 777% 7.18% 3.99%
Expected term (in years) 5.93 6.01 5.68
Risk-free rate 3.11% 4.14% 3.87%
AEGON share price at year end 4525 12.09 14.44

The volatility is derived from quotations from external market
sources and the expected dividend yield is derived from
quotations from external market sources and the binomial
option pricing model. Refer to note 3 for a further description
of the method used to estimate the fair value and a description
of the significant assumptions.
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The liability related to share appreciation rights is valued at
fair value at each balance sheet date. Refer to note 29 for
details. The costs related to the share appreciation rights

amount to EUR (34) million (2007: EUR (16) million and
2006: EUR 26 million) and are recognized in the income
statement as part of ‘Commissions and expenses'.



SHARE OPTIONS

The following tables present the movements in number of
share options, as well as the breakdown by the year in which
they were granted.

Weighted
average remaining
Number of Weighted average contractual Aggregate intrinsic
share options exercise price in EUR termin years  value in EUR million
QOutstanding at January 1, 2007 13,919,255 13.25 5.64 21
Granted 9,522,200 14.98
Exercised (182,352) 12.26
Forfeited (1,895,491) 14.09
Expired (95,850) 12.39
OUTSTANDING AT JANUARY 1, 2008 21,267,762 13.91 5.38 5
Granted 10,269,900 8.93
Exercised (300) 10.86
Forfeited (2,170,196) 12.33
Expired (188,650) 30.63
OUTSTANDING AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 29,178,516 12.17 5.01
EXERCISABLE AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 4,085,210 10.86 3.21

The weighted average share price at which the share options
were exercised in 2008 is EUR 5.99 (2007: EUR 14.00).

Original number Outstanding Outstanding Exercise price

SARs granted January 1, 2008 December 31, 2008 in EUR Exercise period
Providian 7,204,384 188,650 -
2005 5,586,160 4,370,910 4,085,210 10.86 Until March 8, 2012
2006 9,149,500 7,903,623 7,328,519 14.00 Until March 14, 2013
2007 9,522,200 8,804,579 8,161,651 14.98 Until March 13, 2014
2008 10,269,900 - 9,603,136 8.93 Until March 11, 2015
TOTAL 41,732,144 21,267,762 29,178,516
The following assumptions are used in estimating the fair value
of share options at the grant date:

2008 2007 2006
Volatility 36% 24.4% 28.0%
Expected dividend yield 9.84% 4.53% 4.23%
Expected term (in years) 6.53 6.57 6.46
Risk-free rate 3.47% 3.84% 3.47%
Exercise price 893 14.98 14.00
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The costs related to the share options amount to EUR 19 million
(2007: EUR 18 million and 2006: EUR 13 million) and are
recognized in the income statement as part of ‘Commissions
and expenses'.

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS AND SHARE OPTIONS
The fair value of a share appreciation right or share option at
the grant date in 2008 amounted to EUR 1.57 (2007: EUR 2.87
and 2006: EUR 3.14). These amounts are equal to the weighted
average fair value for the respective years. The total intrinsic value
of share options exercised and SARs paid during 2008 amounts
to EUR 1 million (2007: EUR 15 million and 2006: EUR 11 million).

At December 31, 2008, the total compensation cost related
to non-vested awards not yet recognized is estimated at
EUR 19 million. The weighted average period over which it is
expected to be recognized is 1.3 years.

No cash is received from exercise of share options during 2008,
2007 and 2006. Cash used to settle share appreciation rights

amounts to EUR 0.4 million in 2008 (2007: EUR 17 million and
2006: EUR 10 million).

The exposure from the issued share appreciation rights and
share options is economically hedged by a position in treasury
shares. At December 31, 2008, AEGON N.V. held 42,464,790 of
its own common shares with a face value of EUR 0.12 each by
virtue of acquisitions for this purpose.

There have been no modifications to the plans during the
financial year.

The breakdown of the share appreciation rights and share
options granted in 2008 is as follows: senior executives
4,747,500 and other employees 5,822,700 (2007: 4,157,500
and 5,674,200; 2006: 4,009,800 and 5,384,000).

Refer to note 54 for detailed information about the SARs /share
options and the shares and options conditionally granted to the
Executive Board.

Note 41 IMPAIRMENT CHARGES /(REVERSALS)

Impairment charges/ (reversals) comprise: 2008 2007 2006
Impairment charges on financial assets, excluding receivables' 1,115 135 142
Impairment reversals on financial assets, excluding receivables' (36) (64) (118)
Impact of the above impairments on the valuation of insurance assets and liabilities' (7) 16 -
Impairment charges on non-financial assets and receivables 41 30 9
TOTAL 1,113 117 33

! Impairment charges/ (reversals) on financial assets, excluding receivables are for segment reporting excluded from operating earnings before tax

(refer to note 5).

Impairment charges on financial assets, excluding receivables, from: 2008 2007 2006
Shares 203 45 36
Debt securities and money market instruments 862 76 80
Loans 49 6 15
Other 1 8 11
TOTAL 1,115 135 142
Impairment reversals on financial assets, excluding receivables, from: 2008 2007 2006
Debt securities and money market instruments (36) (51) (103)
Loans - (10) (15)
Other - (3) =
TOTAL (36) (64) (118)
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Note 42 INTEREST CHARGES AND RELATED FEES

2008 2007 2006
Capital securities 8 10 29
Subordinated loans 2 2 14
Borrowings 410 339 252
Other 106 123 67
TOTAL 526 474 362
The interest charges accrued on financial assets and liabilities
that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to EUR 375 million (2007: EUR 314 million and
2006: EUR 331 million).
Note 43 OTHER CHARGES

2008 2007 2006
Other charges 2 181 1

In 2007, AEGON refined its method of calculating the fair value
of the guarantees included in its unit-linked products in order
to align these calculations with the calculations currently used
for the group pension contracts and traditional products. This
change in accounting estimate has been applied prospectively.

In 2007, the pre-tax cumulative charges amounted to
EUR 181 million and were reported as part of Other charges.

Other charges is for segment reporting purposes fully excluded
from Operating earnings (refer to note 2.5).

Note 44 INCOME TAX

Note 2008 2007 2006
Current tax
Current year (103) 501 304
Adjustments to prior year 36 (104) (27)

(67) 397 277

Deferred tax 28
Origination/ (reversal) of temporary differences 16 234 616
Changes in tax rates/bases 7 (64) (51)
Recognition of previously unrecognized tax loss/tax credit (3) 27 (65)
Write off / (reversal of write off) of deferred tax assets 134 37 25
Adjustment to prior year (66) (105) -
INCOME TAX FOR THE PERIOD 21 526 802
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Reconciliation between standard and effective income tax: 2008 2007 2006
Income before tax (1,061) 3,077 3,971
Income tax calculated using weighted average applicable statutory rates (423) 973 1,272
Difference due to the effects of:
Non-taxable income 2 (261) (247)
Non-tax deductible expenses 42 35 22
Changes in tax rate/base 7 (64) (51)
Different tax rates on overseas earnings 467 38 (34)
Tax credits (82) (89) (122)
Other taxes (85) 34 94
Adjustments to prior years (23) (108) (90)
Origination and change in contingencies (7) (101) (40)
Changes in deferred tax assets as a result of recognition/write off of previously not

recognized/recognized tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences 3) 27 (12)
Non-recognition of deferred tax assets 134 38 47
Tax effect of profit/losses from associates (2) (1) (2)
Other (6) 5 (35)
INCOME TAX FOR THE PERIOD 21 526 802

The weighted average applicable tax rate is 39.9% (2007: 31.6%
and 2006: 32.0%). The change from 2007 to 2008 is due to a
change in the profitability of the countries and a change in
applicable statutory tax rates. The change in the applicable
statutory tax rates has however a minor effect. The increase of
the weighted average applicable tax rate compared to 2007 and
2006 is caused by losses that are taxed at a higher rate than
the compensating profits. In Spain, the corporate tax rate
decreased from 32.5% in 2007 to 30% in 2008. In the

Czech Republic, the corporate tax rate decreased from 24% in
2007 to 21% in 2008. The rate will decrease to 20% in 2009
and 19% in 2010. In China, the corporate tax rate decreased
from 33% in 2007 to 25% in 2008. In the United Kingdom,

the corporate tax rate decreased from 30% in 2007 to 28% in
2008. The federal corporate tax rate in Canada will decrease as
from 2008 to 2012 from 19.5% to 15%.
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Different tax rates on overseas earnings in the reconciliation
between standard and effective income tax primarily consists of
results on intercompany reinsurance treaties between Ireland
and the United States. These reinsurance treaties are accounted
for at fair value in both tax jurisdictions and eliminated in
AEGON's consolidated result, while gains in the United States
are taxed at 35% and losses in Ireland are taxed at 12.5%.

Note 45 EARNINGS PER SHARE

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net
income attributable to equity holders, after deduction of
preferred dividends declared and accrued coupons on
perpetuals, by the weighted average number of common
shares, excluding common shares purchased by the company
and held as treasury shares (refer to note 15).



2008 2007 2006

Net income attributable to equity holders (1,082) 2,551 3,169
Dividends on preferred shares (112) (85) (80)
Coupons on perpetuals (189) (175) (143)
Net income/ (loss) attributable to common shareholders

for basic earnings per share calculation (1,383) 2,291 2,946
Weighted average number of common shares (thousands) 1,506,862 1,561,395 1,578,631
Basic earnings per share (EUR per share) (0.92) 1.47 1.87

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
average number of shares outstanding for share options.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share,
AEGON assumed that all dilutive share options have been
exercised at the exercise price, or adjusted exercise price if
necessary. The proceeds are regarded as having been received
from the issue of common shares at the average market

price of the AEGON N.V. share during the year. The difference
between the number of dilutive options issued and the number
of common shares that would have been issued at the average

market price has been treated as an issue of common shares
for no consideration.

The number of share options that has not been included in
the weighted average number of common shares used in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share, because these
share options were anti-dilutive for the periods presented,
amounted to 29,178,516 (2007: EUR 8,993,229 and

2006: 9,151,195). The exercise prices of these share options
range from EUR 14.98 to EUR 8.93.

2008 2007 2006
Net income attributable to equity holders (1,082) 2,551 3,169
Dividends on preferred shares (112) (85) (80)
Coupons on perpetuals (189) (175) (143)
Net income attributable to common shareholders for
diluted earnings per share calculation (1,383) 2,291 2,946
Weighted average number of common shares (thousands) 1,506,862 1,561,395 1,578,631
Adjustments for:
- Share options (thousands) - 1,182 1,072
Weighted average number of common shares for diluted earnings
per share calculation (thousands) 1,506,862 1,562,577 1,579,703
Diluted earnings per share (EUR per share) (0.92) 1.47 1.86

Note 46 DIVIDEND PER COMMON SHARE

The dividend per common share paid in 2008 (final 2007 and
interim 2008) and 2007 (final 2006 and interim 2007) was

EUR 0.62 and EUR 0.61 respectively. It was decided to forego
the final dividend for 2008. Consequently, the dividend for 2008
will total EUR 0.30 per common share, an amount already paid
out to shareholders as interim dividend in September 2008.
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Note 47 GUARANTEES IN INSURANCE CONTRACTS
For financial reporting purposes AEGON distinguishes between
the following types of minimum guarantees:

# Financial guarantees: these guarantees are treated as
bifurcated embedded derivatives, valued at fair value and
presented as derivatives (refer note 2.10 and note 3);

# Total return annuities: these guarantees are not bifurcated
from their host contracts because they are valued at fair
value and presented as part of insurance contracts (refer to
note 2.19);

# Life contingent guarantees in the United States: these
guarantees are not bifurcated from their host contracts,
valued in accordance with insurance accounting (SOP 03-1
Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for
Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for
Separate Accounts) and presented together with insurance
liabilities (refer to note 2.19 and note 3); and

# Life contingent guarantees in the Netherlands: these
guarantees are not bifurcated from their host contracts,
valued at fair value (the accounting policy for these
guarantees was changed to fair value in 2007) and presented
together with the underlying insurance contracts (refer to
note 2.19 and note 3).

In addition to the guarantees mentioned above, AEGON has
traditional life insurance contracts that include minimum
guarantees that are not valued explicitly; however, the
adequacy of all insurance liabilities, net of VOBA and DPAC,
are assessed periodically (refer to note 2.19).

A) FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

In the United States and United Kingdom, a guaranteed
minimum withdrawal benefit (GMWB) is offered directly on
some variable annuity products AEGON issues and is also
assumed from a ceding company. Variable annuities allow a
customer to provide for the future on a tax-deferred basis and
to participate in equity or bond market performance.
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Variable annuities allow a customer to select payout options
designed to help meet the customer’s need for income upon
maturity, including lump sum payment or income for life or for
a period of time. This benefit guarantees that a policyholder
can withdraw a certain percentage of the account value,
starting at a certain age or duration, for either a fixed period or
during the life of the policyholder.

In Canada, variable products sold are known as ‘Segregated
Funds'. Segregated funds are similar to variable annuities,
except that they include a capital protection guarantee for
mortality and maturity benefits (quaranteed minimum
accumulation benefits). The initial guarantee period is ten
years. The ten-year period may be reset at the contractholder’s
option for certain products to lock-in market gains. The reset
feature cannot be exercised in the final decade of the contract
and for many products can only be exercised a limited number
of times per year. The management expense ratio charged to
the funds is not guaranteed and can be increased at
management's discretion.

In the Netherlands, individual variable unit linked products have
a minimum benefit guarantee if premiums are invested in
certain funds. The initial guarantee period is 10 years and may
be reset at the policyholder’s option to lock in market gains.
The reset feature cannot be exercised in the final decade of the
contract and for many products can only be exercised a limited
number of times per year. The management expense ratio
charged to the funds is not guaranteed and can be increased at
management's discretion. The sum insured at maturity or upon
the death of the beneficiary has a minimum guaranteed return
(in the range of 3% to 4%) if the premium has been paid for a
consecutive period of at least ten years and is invested in a
mixed fund and/or fixed-income funds. No guarantees are given
for equity investments only.

The following table provides information on the liabilities for
financial guarantees for minimum benefits:



2008 2007
The The
United Nether- United Nether-
Amounts in EUR million States' Canada’ UK lands? Total® States' Canada' UK lands? Total3
At January 1 (18) 595 - 377 954 (28) 492 - 275 739
Acquired through business
combinations - - - - - 13 - - - 13
Incurred guarantee benefits 350 580 28 779 1,737 (5) 75 = 102 172
Paid guarantee benefits - (11) - - (11) - (2) = = )
Net exchange differences 18 (136) (5) - (123) 2 30 - - 32
AT DECEMBER 31 350 1,028 23 1,156 2,557 (18) 595 - 377 954
Account value 3,395 1,993 258 5,763 11,409 3,623 3,423 - 6,675 13,721
Net amount at risk 4 1,007 930 23 554 2,514 11 619 - 62 692

! Guaranteed minimum accumulation and withdrawal benefits.
2 Fund plan and unit-linked guarantees.

3 Balances are included in the derivatives liabilities on the face of the balance sheet; refer to note 9.
4 The net amount at risk represents the difference between the maximum amount payable under the guarantees and the account value.

In addition, AEGON reinsures the elective guaranteed minimum
withdrawal benefit rider issued with a ceding company's
variable annuity contracts. The rider is essentially a return of
premium guarantee, which is payable over a period of at least
fourteen years from the date that the policyholder elects to
start withdrawals. At contract inception, the guaranteed
remaining balance is equal to the premium payment. The
periodic withdrawal is paid by the ceding company until the
account value is insufficient to cover additional withdrawals.
Once the account value is exhausted, AEGON pays the periodic
withdrawals until the guaranteed remaining balance is
exhausted. At December 31, 2008, the reinsured account value
was EUR 4.2 billion (2007: EUR 6.9 billion) and the guaranteed
remaining balance was EUR 4.6 billion (2007: EUR 4.5 billion).

The reinsurance contract is accounted for as a derivative and is
carried in AEGON's balance sheet at fair value. At December 31,
2008, the contract had a value of EUR 442 million (2007:
EUR 1 million). AEGON entered into a derivative program to
mitigate the overall exposure to equity market and interest rate
risks associated with the reinsurance contract. This program
involves selling S&P 500 futures contracts to mitigate the
effect of equity market movement on the reinsurance contract
and the purchase of over-the-counter interest rate swaps to
mitigate the effect of movements in interest rates on the
reinsurance contracts.

B) TOTAL RETURN ANNUITIES

Total Return Annuity (TRA) is an annuity product in the United
States which provides customers with a pass-through of the
total return on an underlying portfolio of investment securities
(typically a mix of corporate and convertible bonds) subject to
a cumulative minimum guarantee. Both the assets and liabilities

are carried at fair value, however, due to the minimum
guarantee not all of the changes in the market value of the
asset will be offset in the valuation of the liability. This product
exists in both the fixed annuity and life reinsurance lines of
business and in both cases represents closed blocks.

Product balances as of December 31, 2008 were
EUR 790 million in fixed annuities (2007: EUR 1,000 million) and
EUR 300 million in life reinsurance (2007: EUR 350 million).

C) LIFE CONTINGENT GUARANTEES

IN THE UNITED STATES

Certain variable insurance contracts in the United States

also provide guaranteed minimum death benefits (GMDB) and
guaranteed minimum income benefits (GMIB). Under a
guaranteed minimum death benefit, the beneficiaries receive
the greater of the account balance or the guaranteed amount
upon the death of the insured. The net amount at risk for GMDB
contracts is defined as the current guaranteed minimum death
benefit in excess of the capital account balance at the balance
sheet date.

The guaranteed minimum income benefit feature provides for
minimum payments if the contractholder elects to convert to an
immediate payout annuity. The guaranteed amount is calculated
using the total deposits made by the contractholder, less any
withdrawals and sometimes includes a roll-up or step-up feature
that increases the value of the guarantee with interest or with
increases in the account value.

The additional liability for guaranteed minimum benefits that
are not bifurcated are determined (based on SOP 03-1) each
period by estimating the expected value of benefits in excess of
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the projected account balance and recognizing the excess over
the accumulation period based on total expected assessments.
The estimates are reviewed regularly and any resulting
adjustment to the additional liability is recognized in the income
statement. The benefits used in calculating the liabilities are
based on the average benefits payable over a range of
stochastic scenarios. Where applicable, the calculation of

the liability incorporates a percentage of the potential

| NOTE 47

annuitizations that may be elected by the contract holder.

The following table provides information on the liabilities

for guarantees that are included in the valuation of the
host contracts.

2008 2007
Amounts in EUR million GMDB' GMIB? Total 4 GMDB' GMIB?2 Total 4
At January 1 188 121 309 117 123 240
Acquired through business combinations - - - 56 1 57
Incurred guarantee benefits 308 306 614 48 16 64
Paid guarantee benefits (95) (7) (102) (29) (14) (43)
Net exchange differences 8 14 22 (4) (5) 9)
AT DECEMBER 31 409 434 843 188 121 309
GMDB' GMIB?2 Total 3 GMDB' GMIB?2 Total 3
Account value 21,177 5,758 26,935 26,646 8,798 35,444
Net amount at risk® 8,025 1,934 9,959 1,833 229 2,062
Average attained age of contractholders 65 64 - 65 63 -

! Guaranteed minimum death benefit in the United States.
2 Guaranteed minimum income benefit in the United States.

3 Note that the variable annuity contracts with guarantees may offer more than one type of guarantee in each contract; therefore, the amounts listed are

not mutually exclusive.

4 Balances are included in the insurance liabilities on the face of the balance sheet; refer to note 20.
5 The net amount at risk is defined as the present value of the minimum guaranteed annuity payments available to the contract holder determined in
accordance with the terms of the contract in excess of the current account balance.

D) LIFE CONTINGENT GUARANTEES IN

THE NETHERLANDS
The group pension contracts offered by AEGON in the
Netherlands include large group contracts that have an
individually determined asset investment strategy underlying
the pension contract. The guarantee given is that the profit
sharing is the minimum of 0% or the realized return (on an
amortized cost basis), both adjusted for technical interest rates
ranging from 3% to 4%. If there is a negative profit sharing,
the 0% minimum is effective, but the loss in any given year is
carried forward to be offset against any future surpluses. In
general, a guarantee is given for the life of the underlying
employees so that their pension benefit is guaranteed. Large
group contracts also share technical results (mortality risk and
disability risk). The contract period is typically five years and
the premiums are fixed over this period. Separate account
guaranteed group contracts provide a guarantee on the
benefits paid.

The traditional life and pension products offered by AEGON in

the Netherlands include various products that accumulate a
cash value. Premiums are paid by customers at inception or
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over the term of the contract. The accumulation products pay
benefits on the policy maturity date, subject to survival of the
insured. In addition, most policies also pay death benefits if
the insured dies during the term of the contract. The death
benefits may be stipulated in the policy or depend on the gross
premiums paid to date. Premiums and amounts insured are
established at inception of the contract. The amount insured
can be increased as a result of profit sharing, if provided for
under the terms and conditions of the product. Minimum
interest guarantees exist for all generations of accumulation
products written, except for universal life type products for
which premiums are invested solely in equity funds. Older
generations contain a 4% guarantee; in recent years the
guarantee has decreased to 3%.

These guarantees are valued at fair value and are included as
part of insurance liabilities with the underlying host insurance
contracts in note 20.

The table on the following page provides information on the
liabilities for guarantees that are included in the valuation of
the host contracts.



2008 2007

Amounts in EUR million GMB "2 GMB'?
At January 1 436 768
Incurred guarantee benefits 1,974 (332)
AT DECEMBER 31 2,410 436
Account value 13,071 13,089
Net amount at risk? 779 54

! Guaranteed minimum benefit in the Netherlands.

2 Balances are included in the insurance liabilities on the face of the balance sheet; refer to note 20.
3 The net amount at risk represents the difference between the maximum amount payable under the guarantees and the account value.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF GUARANTEES

IN INSURANCE CONTRACTS

The fair values of guarantees mentioned above (with the
exception of life contingent guarantees in the United States) are
calculated as the present value of future expected payments to
policyholders less the present value of assessed rider fees
attributable to the guarantees. Given the long-term nature of
these guarantees, their fair values are determined by using
complex valuation techniques. Because of the dynamic and
complex nature of these cash flows, AEGON uses stochastic
techniques under a variety of market return scenarios. A variety
of factors are considered, including expected market rates of
return, equity and interest rate volatility, credit risk, correlations
of market returns, discount rates and actuarial assumptions.

Since the price of these guarantees is not quoted in any market,
the fair value of these guarantees is computed using valuation
models which use observable market data supplemented with
the Group's assumptions on developments in future interest
rates, volatility in equity prices and other risks inherent in
financial markets. All the assumptions used as part of this
valuation model are calibrated against actual historical
developments observed in the markets. Since many of the
assumptions are unobservable and are considered to be
significant inputs to the liability valuation, the liability has been
reflected within the category ‘Valuation techniques not based
on observable market data’ of the fair value hierarchy. Refer to
note 3 for more details on AEGON's fair value hierarchy.

The expected returns are based on risk-free rates, such as the
current London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) forward curve.
AEGON added a premium to reflect the credit spread as
required. The credit spread is set by using the credit default
swap (CDS) spreads of a reference portfolio of life insurance
companies, adjusted to reflect the subordination of senior debt
holders at the holding company level to the position of
policyholders at the operating company level (who have priority
in payments to other creditors). Because CDS spreads for
United States life insurers differed significantly from that for

European life insurers, AEGON's assumptions reflect these
differences in the valuation. If the credit spreads were 20 basis
points higher or lower respectively, and holding all other
variables constant in the valuation model, 2008 income before
tax would have been EUR 255 million higher or lower.

For equity volatility, AEGON uses a term structure with market
based implied volatility inputs for the first five years.
Correlations of market returns across underlying indices are
based on actual observed market returns and their inter-
relationships over a number of years preceding the valuation
date. The volume of observable option trading from which
volatilities are implied diminishes markedly after five years, and
therefore, AEGON uses a volatility curve which grades from
actual implied volatilities for five years to a long-term forward
rate of 25%. Certain AEGON subsidiaries previously used a
single parameter approach for equity volatilities and moved to
a term structure in 2008. Assumptions on customer behavior,
such as lapses, included in the models are derived in the same
way as the assumptions used to measure insurance liabilities.
Had AEGON used a long term equity implied volatility
assumption that was 5 volatility points higher or lower, the
impact on income before tax would have been a decrease or
increase of EUR 100 million, respectively, in 2008 income
before tax.

These assumptions are reviewed at each valuation date, and
updated based on historical experience and observable market
data, including market transactions such as acquisitions and
reinsurance transactions.

AEGON utilizes different risk management strategies to
mitigate the financial impact of the valuation of these
guarantees on the results including asset and liability
management and derivative hedging strategies to hedge certain
aspects of the market risks embedded in these guarantees.
Guarantees valued at fair value contributed a net loss before
tax of EUR 0.7 billion to operating earnings. This net loss is
attributable to an increase in the total guarantee reserves of
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EUR 4.3 billion. The main drivers of this increase are EUR 1.1 billion
related to a decrease in equity markets, EUR 0.8 billion related
to increases in equity volatilities and EUR 3.5 billion related to
decreases in risk free rates offset by EUR 1.2 billion related to
the increase in the spread of credit risk. Hedges related to these
guarantee reserves contributed fair value gains of EUR 3.6 billion
to income before tax.

Note 48 CAPITAL AND SOLVENCY

AEGON's capital base reflects the capital employed in insurance
activities and consists of shareholders’ equity, convertible core
capital securities, perpetual capital securities and dated
subordinated debt and senior debt. AEGON targets its capital
base to comprise at least 70% core capital (excluding the
revaluation reserve), and targets 25% perpetual capital
securities (consisting of junior perpetual capital securities and
perpetual cumulative subordinated bonds) and 5% dated
subordinated and senior debt related to insurance activities.

Additionally, AEGON manages capital adequacy at the level of
its country units and their operating companies. The goal is to
ensure that AEGON companies maintain their strong financial
strength, now and into the future, even after sustaining losses
from severely adverse business and market conditions. AEGON

maintains its companies’ capital adequacy levels at whichever is
the higher of local regulatory requirements and the relevant
local Standard & Poor's requirements for very strong
capitalization, and any additionally self-imposed economic
requirements.

Core capital, which consists of shareholders’ equity and the
convertible core capital securities that were issued in 2008
(see below), was EUR 9,055 million at December 31, 2008,
compared to EUR 15,151 million at December 31, 2007.
Shareholders equity decreased by EUR 9,096 million due to
the change in the revaluation reserve of EUR 6,651 million, a
net loss of EUR 1,082 million and a number of other effects
including dividends paid (EUR 660 million).

Group equity consists of core capital plus Other Equity
Securities (see note 17) such as the junior perpetual
capital securities and the perpetual cumulative capital
securities as well as other equity reserves. Group equity
was EUR 13,760 million at December 31, 2008, compared
to EUR 19,962 million at December 31, 2007.

The table that follows reconciles total shareholders’ equity
to the total capital base:

2008 2007
Total shareholders’ equity 6,055 15,151
Convertible core capital securities 3,000 -
Junior perpetual capital securities 4,192 4,192
Perpetual cumulative subordinated bonds 453 567
Share options not yet exercised 54 36
Minority interest 6 16
Trust pass-through securities 161 143
Subordinated borrowings 41 34
Borrowings 5,340 6,021
Borrowings not related to capital funding of insurance activities (5,271) (4,766)
TOTAL CAPITAL BASE 14,031 21,394

In the context of the unprecedented market conditions that
materialized in 2008, AEGON felt it was prudent to reinforce
the capital buffer to a level substantially in excess of
AA-requirements. On December 1, 2008, AEGON secured

EUR 3 billion of additional core capital from Vereniging AEGON,
funded by the Dutch State. AEGON issued 750 million non-voting
convertible core capital securities at EUR 4.00 per security to
Vereniging AEGON. In turn Vereniging AEGON was funded on
back-to-back terms and conditions by the Dutch State. The
securities rank equal to common shares (pari passu), but carry
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no voting rights. Before December 1, 2009, AEGON has the right
to repurchase 250 million of the securities at a price between
EUR 4.00 and EUR 4.52 per security, depending on AEGON's
share price at the date of the repurchase, and after that date at
EUR 6.00 per security. AEGON may at any time repurchase the
remaining 500 million securities at EUR 6.00 per security
(equivalent to 150% of the original issue price). Alternatively,
after three years, AEGON may choose to convert these
securities into common shares on a one-for-one basis.



In this situation, the Dutch State may opt for repayment either
in cash (at the original issue price of EUR 4) or in shares.

AEGON retains full discretion over its policy regarding dividends
paid on common shares. The coupon on the non-voting
securities will be paid only if a dividend is also paid to holders
of common shares. As the holder of the non-voting securities,
Vereniging AEGON will receive either an annual coupon of

EUR 0.34 per security or, if higher, an amount linked to the value
of the dividend paid on AEGON common shares. This amount has
been fixed at 110% for 2009, rising to 120% for 2010 and 125%
for 2011 and beyond. The coupon is not tax deductible.

Borrowings not related to capital funding of insurance activities
mainly include operational funding of US regulation XXX and
guideline AXXX redundant reserves. In the ordinary course of
business, AEGON N.V. may at times have borrowings, which are
offset by cash and cash equivalents available for future capital
management activities, such as funding capital contributions in
its subsidiaries, redemption of borrowings or payment of
dividends to its shareholders. The Total Capital Base is a non-
IFRS measure, as IFRS does not permit separate presentation of
borrowings based on the deployment of the proceeds.

AEGON N.V. is subject to certain financial covenants in some

of its financial agreements (such as issued debentures, credit
facilities and ISDA agreements). Under these financial
covenants, an event of default may occur if and when any
financial indebtedness of any member of the group is not paid
when due, or not paid within any applicable grace period. The
financial agreements may also include a cross default provision
which may be triggered if and when any financial indebtedness
of any member of the group is declared to be or otherwise
becomes due and payable prior to its specified maturity as

a result of an event of default.

All financial agreements are closely monitored periodically to
asses the likelihood of a breach of any financial covenant and
the likelihood thereof in the near future. On the basis of this

assessment, a breach of any such covenant has not occurred.

Insurance, reinsurance, investment management and banking
companies are required to maintain a minimum solvency margin
based on applicable local regulations. For managing AEGON's
capital, the life insurance and life reinsurance regulations in the
European Union and the United States are of main importance.

In the United States, requlation of the insurance business is

principally at the state level. State insurance regulators and the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners have adopted
risk-based capital (RBC) requirements for insurance companies.

RBC calculations measure the ratio of a company's statutory
capital, which is measured on a prudent regulatory accounting
basis, to a minimum capital amount determined by the RBC
formula. The RBC formula measures exposures to investment
risk, insurance risk, market risk, and general business risk.

Life reinsurance is treated as life insurance. The most pertinent
RBC measure is the company action level (CAL) RBC. This is the
highest requlatory intervention level and is the level at which a
company has to submit a plan to its state requlators. The CAL is
200% of the authorized control level (ACL), the level at which
regulators are permitted to seize control of the company. At the
end of 2008, the combined risk based capital ratio of AEGON's
life insurance subsidiaries in the United States was approximately
350% of the CAL RBC and approximately 700% of the ACL RBC.

For the insurance and reinsurance undertakings of AEGON in
the European Union, the European Solvency | directives are
applicable, as implemented in the relevant member states.
Solvency | allows member states to require solvency standards,
exceeding the minimum requirements set by the Solvency |
directives. The Netherlands and the United Kingdom have set
higher solvency standards, as explained below. For life
insurance companies the Solvency | capital requirement is by
and large, the sum of 4% of insurance and investment liabilities
for general account and 1% of insurance and investment
liabilities for account policyholders if no guaranteed investment
returns are given. At the end of 2008, AEGON The Netherlands
solvency capital ratio for the whole group based on IFRS was
approximately 158%.

The Financial Services Authority regulates insurance companies
in the United Kingdom under the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and sets minimum solvency standards. Companies
must manage their solvency positions according to the most
stringent of the published Solvency | measure (Pillar 1) and a
privately submitted economic capital measure (Pillar 2). For
AEGON UK, the published measure continues to be the most
stringent requirement. At the end of 2008 AEGON UK's
aggregate Pillar 1 capital ratio was approximately 200%.

AEGON N.V. is subject to legal restrictions on the amount of
dividends it can pay to its shareholders. Under Dutch law the
amount that is available to pay dividends consists of total
shareholders’ equity less the issued and outstanding capital and
less the reserves required by law. The revaluation account and
legal reserves, foreign currency translation reserve and other,
cannot be freely distributed. In case of negative balances for
individual reserves legally to be retained, no distributions can
be made out of retained earnings to the level of these negative
amounts. Total distributable reserves under Dutch law amount
to EUR 2,660 million at December 31, 2008.
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In addition, AEGON's subsidiaries, principally insurance
companies, are subject to restrictions on the amounts of funds
they may transfer in the form of cash dividends or otherwise to
their parent companies. There can be no assurance that these
restrictions will not limit or restrict AEGON in its ability to pay
dividends in the future.

OPTAS N.V., an indirect subsidiary of AEGON N.V., holds
statutory reserves of EUR 821 million (2007: EUR 770 million)
which are restricted. Included in AEGON N.V.'s legal reserves
is an amount of EUR 69 million related to OPTAS N.V. which
represents the increase in statutory reserves since the
acquisition of OPTAS N.V. by AEGON.

NOTE 49 - 50

Note 49 SUMMARY OF TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The table that follows summarizes the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities that are classified as at
fair value through profit or loss, with appropriate distinction
between those financial assets and financial liabilities held for
trading and those that, upon initial recognition, were designated
as at fair value through profit or loss.

2008 2007

Trading Designated Trading Designated

Investments for general account 16 5,587 71 7,792
Investments for account of policyholders - 104,269 - 139,876
Derivatives with positive values not designated as hedges 5,435 - 1,008 -
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,451 109,856 1,079 147,668
Investment contracts for account of policyholders - 16,829 = 21,671
Derivatives with negative values not designated as hedges 4,018 - 1,382 -
Borrowings - 845 - 980
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,018 17,674 1,382 22,651

INVESTMENTS FOR GENERAL ACCOUNT

The Group manages certain portfolios on a total return basis
which have been designated as at fair value through profit or
loss. This includes portfolios of investments in limited
partnerships and limited liability companies (primarily hedge
funds) for which the performance is assessed internally on a
total return basis. In addition, some investments that include an
embedded derivative that would otherwise have required
bifurcation, such as convertible instruments, preferred shares
and credit linked notes, have been designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Investments for general account backing
insurance and investment liabilities that are carried at fair value
with changes in the fair value recognized in the income
statement are designated at fair value through profit or loss.
The Group elected to designate these investments for account
of policyholders at fair value through profit or loss, a
classification of financial assets as available-for-sale would
result in accumulation of unrealized gains and losses in a
revaluation reserve within equity whilst changes to the liability
would be reflected in net income (accounting mismatch).
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INVESTMENTS FOR ACCOUNT OF POLICYHOLDERS
Investments held for account of policyholders comprise assets
that are linked to various insurance and investment contracts
for which the financial risks are borne by the customer. Under
the Group's accounting policies these insurance and investment
liabilities are measured at the fair value of the linked assets
with changes in the fair value recognized in the income
statement. To avoid an accounting mismatch the linked assets
have been designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

In addition the investment for account of policyholders include
with profit assets, where an insurer manages these assets
together with related liabilities on a fair value basis in accordance
with a documented policy of asset and liability management.

In accordance with Group's accounting policies, these assets
have been designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS FOR ACCOUNT OF
POLICYHOLDERS

With the exception of the financial liabilities with discretionary
participating features that are not subject to the classification
and measurement requirements for financial instruments, all
investment contracts for account of policyholders that are
carried at fair value or at the fair value of the linked assets are
included in the table above.



DERIVATIVES

With the exception of derivatives designated as a hedging
instrument, all derivatives held for general account and held
for account of policyholders are included in the table on the
previous page.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings designated as at fair value through profit or
loss includes financial instruments that are managed on a
fair value basis together with related financial assets and
financial derivatives.

Gains and losses recognized in the income statement on
financial assets and financial liabilities classified as at fair
value through profit or loss can be summarized as follows:

2008 2007
Trading Designated Trading Designated
Net gains and losses (651) (27,049) (875) 5,023

No loans and receivables were designated as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of investment contracts for account
of policyholders designated at fair value through profit and loss
were not attributable to changes in AEGON's credit spread.
There are also no differences between the carrying amounts of
these financial liabilities and the contractual amounts payable
at maturity (net of surrender penalties).

Note 50 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
INVESTMENTS CONTRACTED

In the normal course of business, the Group has committed
itself through purchase and sale transactions of investments,
mostly to be executed in the course of 2009. The amounts
represent the future outflow and inflow, respectively, of cash
related to these investment transactions that are not reflected
in the consolidated balance sheet.

2008 2007
Purchase Sale Purchase Sale
Real estate - - 3 (4)
Mortgage loans 296 - 594 -
Debt securities 11 - - (1)
Private loans 569 - 555 -
Other 1,119 - 1,240 (1)
Mortgage loans commitments represent undrawn mortgage
loan facility provided and outstanding proposals on mortgages.
Other commitments include future purchases of interests in
investment funds and limited partnerships.
OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
2008 2007
Guarantees 348 225
Standby letters of credit 106 103
Share of contingent liabilities incurred in relation to interests in joint ventures 480 675
Other guarantees 3 33
Other commitments and contingent liabilities 44 44
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Guarantees include those given on account of asset management
commitments and guarantees associated with the sale of
investments in low-income housing tax credit partnerships in the
United States. Standby letters of credit amounts reflected above
are the liquidity commitment notional amounts. In addition to
the guarantees shown in the table, guarantees have been given
for fulfillment of contractual obligations, such as investment
mandates related to investment funds.

AEGON N.V. has entered into a net worth maintenance
agreement with its indirect subsidiary AEGON Financial
Assurance Ireland Limited (AFA), pursuant to which AEGON N.V.
will cause AFA to have a tangible net worth of at least 3% of its
total liabilities under financial guaranty policies which it issues
up to a maximum of EUR 3 billion.

A group company entered into a net worth maintenance
agreement with AEGON subsidiary Transamerica Life
International (Bermuda) Ltd ensuring the company is
adequately capitalized and has sufficient cash for its operations.

AEGON N.V. has guaranteed and is severally liable for

the following:

# Due and punctual payment of payables due under letter of
credit agreements applied for by AEGON N.V. as co-applicant
with its subsidiary companies Transamerica Corporation,
AEGON USA, Inc. and Commonwealth General Corporation.
At December 31, 2008, the letter of credit arrangements
amounted to EUR 3,544 million; as that date no amounts
had been drawn or were due under these facilities;

# Due and punctual payment of payables by the consolidated
Group companies Transamerica Corporation, AEGON Funding
Company LLC, Commonwealth General Corporation and
Transamerica Finance Corp. with respect to bonds, capital trust
pass-through securities and notes issued under commercial
paper programs (EUR 694 million), as well as payables with
respect to certain derivative transactions of Transamerica
Corporation (nominal amount EUR 1,003 million);

# Due and punctual payment of any amounts owed to third
parties by the consolidated group company AEGON
Derivatives N.V. in connection with derivative transactions.
AEGON Derivatives N.V. only enters into derivative
transactions with counterparties with which ISDA master
netting agreements including collateral support annex
agreements have been agreed; net (credit) exposure on
derivative transactions with these counterparties was
therefore minimal as at December 31, 2008.
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AEGON is involved in litigation in the ordinary course of
business, including litigation where compensatory or punitive
damages and mass or class relief are sought. In particular,
certain current and former customers, and groups representing
customers, have initiated litigation and certain groups are
encouraging others to bring lawsuits in respect of certain
products in the Netherlands. The products involved, include
securities leasing products and unit-linked products (so called
‘beleggingsverzekeringen’ including the KoersPlan product).
AEGON has established adequate litigation policies to deal with
the claims defending when the claim is without merit and
seeking to settle in certain circumstances. This and any other
litigation AEGON has been involved in over the last twelve
months have not had any significant effects on the financial
position or profitability of AEGON N.V. or the Group. However,
there can be no assurances that AEGON will be able to resolve
existing litigation in the manner it expects, or that existing or
future litigation will not result in unexpected liability.

In addition, in recent years, the insurance industry has
increasingly been the subject of litigation, investigations and
regulatory activity by various governmental and enforcement
authorities concerning certain practices. AEGON subsidiaries
have received inquiries from local authorities in various
jurisdictions including the United States, the United Kingdom
and the Netherlands. In certain instances, AEGON subsidiaries
modified business practices in response to such inquiries or the
findings thereof. Certain AEGON subsidiaries have been
informed that the requlators may seek fines or other monetary
penalties or changes in the way AEGON conducts its business.

AEGON is involved in a dispute between AEGON N.V., the
foundation that sold the insurance company OPTAS, and the
unions and employers in the harbors of Rotterdam and
Amsterdam on the pensions insured by AEGON's subsidiary
OPTAS. This dispute led to litigation on the accuracy of
AEGON's financial statements over 2007 further to the
allegation of the plaintiff (a foundation representing the
employers and insured employees in the harbors) that the
equity of OPTAS should not have been consolidated as AEGON's
equity and that as a result, the profit of OPTAS should not have
been reported as being part of AEGON's consolidated profit.
Parties expect the judgment in near future after which they
may appeal from it with the supreme court of the Netherlands.



2008 2007

Not later 1-5 Later than Not later 1-5 Later than

Future lease payments than 1 year years 5 years than 1 year years 5 years

Finance lease obligations 3 8 - 1 2 -

Operating lease obligations 98 305 499 93 305 493

Operating lease rights 38 103 63 35 99 69
The operating lease obligations relate mainly to office space Note 51 SECURITIES LENDING AND REPURCHASE

leased from third parties. The total of future minimum sublease
payments expected to be received on non-cancelable subleases
is EUR 8 million.

The operating lease rights relate to non-cancelable commercial
property leases.

ACTIVITIES AND ASSETS ACCEPTED AND
PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL
SECURITIES LENDING AND REPURCHASE ACTIVITIES
The following table reflects the carrying amount of non-cash
financial assets that have been transferred to another party
under security lending and repurchase activities where the
counterparty has the right to sell or repledge.

Financial assets for general account 2008 2007
Available-for-sale 6,618 13,804
Loans - 1,236
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 39 113
TOTAL 6,657 15,153
Financial assets for account of policyholders 947 9,214

AEGON retains substantially all risks and rewards of the
transferred assets, this includes credit risk, settlement risk,
country risk and market risk. The assets are transferred in
return for cash collateral or other financial assets.

The carrying amount of non-cash financial assets that have
been transferred to another party under security lending and
repurchase activities where the counterparty does not have the
right to sell or repledge the security lending and repurchase
activities amount to EUR 139 million (2007: EUR 212 million).

ASSETS ACCEPTED

AEGON receives collateral related to securities lending and
reverse repurchase activities. Non-cash collateral is not
recognized in the balance sheet.

Cash collateral is recorded on the balance sheet as an asset
and an offsetting liability is established for the same amount
as AEGON is obligated to return this amount upon termination
of the lending arrangement or repurchase agreement. Cash
collateral is usually invested in pre-designated high quality
investment strategies. The sum of cash and non-cash collateral
is typically greater than the market value of the related
securities loaned.

The following table analyses the fair value of the collateral
received in relation to securities lending and (reverse)
repurchase activities:

2008 2007
Cash collateral
- Securities lending 3,577 8,280
- Repurchase agreements 3,929 14
Non-cash collateral 436 9,648
TOTAL 7,942 17,942
Non-cash collateral that can be sold or repledged in the absence of default 259 9,648

Non-cash collateral that has been sold or transferred
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In addition, AEGON can receive collateral related to derivative
transactions that it enters into. The credit support agreement
will normally dictate the threshold over which collateral needs
to be pledged by AEGON or its counterparty. Transactions
requiring AEGON or its counterparty to post collateral are
typically the result of over-the-counter derivative trades,
comprised mostly of interest rate swaps, currency swaps and
credit swaps.

The above items are conducted under terms that are usual and
customary to standard derivative, and securities lending
activities, as well as requirements determined by exchanges
where the bank acts as intermediary.

ASSETS PLEDGED

AEGON pledges assets that are on its balance sheet in securities
borrowing transactions, in repurchase transactions, and against
long-term borrowings. In addition, in order to trade derivatives
on the various exchanges, AEGON posts margin as collateral.

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual
and customary to standard long-term borrowing, derivative
and securities borrowing activities, as well as requirements
determined by exchanges where the bank acts as intermediary.

AEGON has pledged EUR 9,034 million (2007: EUR 3,723 million)
financial assets as collateral for general account liabilities and
contingent liabilities. None (2007: none) of the financial assets
pledged can be sold or repledged by the counterparty.

EUR 56 million of the financial assets and other assets were
pledged as collateral for liabilities and contingent liabilities for
account of policyholders in 2008 (2007: none).

Non-cash financial assets that are borrowed or purchased under
agreement to resell are not recognized in the balance sheet.

To the extent that cash collateral is paid, a receivable is
recognized for the corresponding amount. If other non-cash
financial assets are given as collateral, these are not
derecognized.

AEGON has pledged EUR 128 million (2007: EUR 333 million)
cash collateral on securities borrowed and derivative
transactions and EUR 8 million (2007: EUR 66 million) on
reverse repurchase agreements, refer to note 13.2.

Note 52 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

ACQUISITIONS

In December 2008, AEGON acquired an additional 40% stake in
the Spanish Caja Cantabria Vida y Pensiones, of which already
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10% was acquired in 2007. As a result, AEGON holds a 50%
stake as of December 31, 2008. The total purchase price
amounted to EUR 27 million for the 40% stake. Acquired
assets included EUR 2 million cash positions. Goodwill of

EUR 63 million was recognized. Since the acquisition date,

the company has attributed EUR O million to net income. If the
acquisition had been as of January 1, 2008, contribution to net
income and total revenues would amount to EUR O million and
EUR 12 million respectively.

On October 1, 2008, AEGON signed an agreement to acquire

a 50% interest in Mongeral SA Seguros e Previdéncia (Brazil).
The transaction is expected to close by the end of the first
quarter of 2009, subject to approval from Brazil's regulatory
authorities. The total consideration to be paid up front will
amount to EUR 44 million. Based on the performance of the
company, AEGON may pay a maximum additional consideration
to the company of EUR 11 million.

In October 2008, AEGON acquired a 50% stake in Caixa Terrassa
Vida y Pensiones, a Spanish life insurance, pension and health
company. The total purchase price amounted to EUR 186 million.
Acquired assets included EUR 11 million cash positions. Goodwill
of EUR 167 million was recognized. Since the acquisition date,
the company has attributed EUR O million to net income. If the
acquisition had been as of January 1, 2008, contribution to net
income and total revenues would amount to EUR 4 million and
EUR 109 million respectively.

In July 2008, AEGON finalized the acquisition of 100% of the
shares of the Turkish life insurance and pension company
Ankara Emeklilik Anonim Sirketi. The total purchase price
amounted to EUR 34 million. Since the acquisition date, the
company has attributed EUR (3) million (loss) to net income.

If the acquisition had been as of January 1, 2008, contribution
to net income and total revenues would amount to respectively
EUR (7) million (loss) and EUR 11 million. As a result of the
acquisition, assets and liabilities were recognized for

EUR 54 million and EUR 20 million respectively, including a cash
position of EUR 5 million. Goodwill of EUR 30 million reflects the
future new business and synergies with existing business.

In June 2008, AEGON acquired 100% of the shares of the
Polish pension fund company PTE Skarbiec-Emerytura SA.

The total purchase price amounted to EUR 139 million. Since the
acquisition date, the company has attributed EUR 1 million to
net income. If the acquisition had been as of January 1, 2008,
contribution to net income and total revenues would amount

to respectively EUR 4 million and EUR 14 million.



As a result of the acquisition, assets and liabilities were
recognized for EUR 156 million and EUR 17 million respectively,
including a cash position of EUR 4 million. Goodwill of

EUR 39 million reflects the future new business and potential
synergies with existing businesses.

In June 2008, AEGON completed the acquisition of 100% of the
shares of Heller-Saldo 2000 Pension Fund Management Co.,
UNIQA Investment Service Co. and UNIQA Financial Service Co.
in Hungary for a total purchase price of EUR 21 million.

The companies merged subsequently. Since the acquisition
date, the company has attributed EUR 1 million to net income.
If the acquisition had been as of January 1, 2008, contribution
to net income and total revenues would amount to respectively
EUR 2 million and EUR 4 million. As a result of the acquisition,
assets and liabilities were recognized for EUR 24 million and
EUR 3 million respectively, including cash position of

EUR 1 million. Goodwill of EUR 6 million reflects the future new
business and potential synergies with existing business.

In April 2008, AEGON acquired a 49% stake in Industrial Fund
Management Co., Ltd, a Chinese mutual fund manager. The
company is renamed AEGON Industrial Fund Management Co.
The total purchase consideration amounted EUR 22 million. As
a result of the acquisition, assets and liabilities were recognized
for EUR 28 million and EUR 6 million respectively, including
EUR 6 million of goodwill and EUR 15 million cash and cash
equivalents. The company is accounted for as a joint venture.

In December 2007, AEGON USA acquired 100% of the shares of
Merrill Lynch Life Insurance Company and ML Life Insurance
Company of New York, companies that sell non-participation life
insurance and annuity products such as variable life insurance,
variable annuities, market value adjusted annuities and
immediate annuities. The total purchase price amounted to
EUR 849 million cash consideration. The opening balance sheet
of the acquired business was recorded provisionally at
December 31, 2007, as the acquisition occurred within a few
days of year end. The provisionally determined opening balance
sheet includes total assets of EUR 10.8 billion, including

EUR 8.3 billion separate account assets, EUR 1.8 billion general
account investments and EUR 149 million cash and cash
equivalents. Total liabilities are EUR 9.9 billion and comprise
separate account liabilities of EUR 8.3 billion and insurance
contract liabilities of EUR 1.7 billion. Goodwill amounted to

EUR 111 million reflecting the expected profitability of new
business. The carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of
the acquired companies amounted to EUR 10.8 billion and

EUR 9.9 billion respectively. As the acquisition was completed at
the end of December 2007, the net income of the acquired
operations was not material to the AEGON's consolidated net

income. Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2007,
the contribution of these companies to the Group's net income
is estimated at EUR 75 million; contribution to revenues would
have been approximately EUR 271 million.

In June 2007, AEGON acquired OPTAS N.V., a Dutch life
insurance company specializing in employee benefit products
and services within the Dutch group pension market for

EUR 1.5 billion OPTAS N.V., the successor of Stichting
Pensioenfonds voor de Vervoer- en Havenbedrijven (a pension
fund for companies active in the transport and port industries),
was converted into a public company in 1997. At the end of
2006, OPTAS had 60,000 policyholders and reported total
gross written premiums of EUR 86 million, with total assets of
EUR 4.5 billion. Assets held as investment amounted to

EUR 3.4 billion, the insurance liabilities were EUR 2.9 billion.

A portion of the shareholders’ equity of OPTAS is subject to
restrictions as set out in the articles of association of the
company. These restrictions assure continued fulfillment of
existing policy obligations and will remain in force after the
acquisition. OPTAS has contributed EUR 11 million to AEGON's
income before tax in 2007. Had the acquisition taken place on
January 1, 2007, OPTAS' contribution to the Group's net income
is estimated at EUR 22 million, contribution to revenues would
have been approximately EUR 251 million.

In March 2007, AEGON USA completed the acquisition of 100%
of the shares of Clark Inc., a public company specializing in the
sale of corporate-owned life insurance, bank-owned life
insurance and other benefit programs. The total purchase price
was EUR 263 million, consisting of EUR 207 million cash
consideration, EUR 36 million of Clark debt assumed by AEGON
and EUR 20 million cost basis of Clark common stock already
owned by AEGON and transaction costs. Since the acquisition
date, Clark has contributed EUR 4.6 million to the net income of
AEGON. If the acquisition had taken place as of January 1, 2007,
Clark should have contributed an amount of EUR 90 million to
total revenues and EUR 4.7 million to net income of AEGON
USA. AEGON has disposed operations for an amount of

EUR 42 million regarding Clark business, not considered to be
core to AEGON, to Clark's former management after the
acquisition. As a result of the acquisition, assets and liabilities
were recognized for EUR 549 million and EUR 325 million
respectively, which included a cash position of EUR 14 million.
Goodwill was recognized for an amount of EUR 84 million,
reflecting the future commission revenue from inforce
contracts. In addition an intangible asset was established for
the present value of future commission receivables in the
amount of EUR 365 million.
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In March 2007, AEGON has completed the acquisition of the
Polish pension fund management company PTE Ergo Hestia
S.A. The company was renamed to PTE AEGON Poland. The cost
of the acquisition amounted to EUR 72 million, which was paid
in cash. Since the acquisition date, the company has contributed
EUR 2 million to net income. If the acquisition had been as of
January 1, 2007, contribution to net income and total revenues
would amount to respectively EUR 3 million and EUR 12 million.
Assets of EUR 81 million and liabilities of EUR 9 million were
recognized due to the acquisition. Goodwill amounting to

EUR 23 million reflects the future new business to be generated
and potential synergies with existing businesses.

In September 2006, AEGON The Netherlands acquired the
remaining 55% of the Unirobe shares. The distribution activities
of the Dutch operations are placed under the Unirobe MeelUs
Groep. No operations have been disposed off as a result of the
combination. The cost of acquiring the remaining 55% of the
shares was EUR 59 million, which was paid in cash. In total an
amount of EUR 96 million was paid to acquire the 100% interest.
At the acquisition date assets and liabilities were recognized for
EUR 186 million and EUR 134 million respectively which included
a cash position of EUR O million. Since the acquisition date,
Unirobe has contributed EUR 5 million to the net income of
AEGON in 2006. The acquisition resulted in the recognition of
EUR 49 million goodwill, of which EUR 18 million had previously
been included in the measurement of the interest held in Unirobe
as an associate. Goodwill reflects the commission income that is
expected to be generated by Unirobe in future years.

DISPOSALS

During 2006 AEGON sold its interest in Scottish Equitable
International S.A. for EUR 29 million, together with an earn-out
arrangement. The cash and cash equivalents held at the end of
March by Scottish Equitable International S.A. prior to the sale
was EUR 20 million. The acquiring company, La Mondiale
Participations S.A., is a 35% associate of AEGON. 35% of the
gain on the sale was eliminated on consolidation.

Note 53 GROUP COMPANIES

SUBSIDIARIES

The principal subsidiaries of the parent company AEGON N.V.
are listed by geographical segment. All are wholly owned,
directly or indirectly, unless stated otherwise, and are involved
in insurance or reinsurance business, asset management or
services related to these activities. The voting power in these
subsidiaries held by AEGON is equal to the shareholdings.
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AMERICAS

® AEGON USA, LLC., Cedar Rapids, lowa (United States)

8 Commonwealth General Corporation, Wilmington, Delaware
(United States)

# Merrill Lynch Life Insurance Company, Little Rock, Arkansas
(United States)

# ML Life Insurance Company of New York, New York, New York
(United States)

# Monumental Life Insurance Company, Cedar Rapids, lowa
(United States)

# Stonebridge Casualty Insurance Company, Columbus, Ohio
(United States)

# Stonebridge Life Insurance Company, Rutland, Vermont
(United States)

# Transamerica Corporation, Wilmington, Delaware
(United States)

# Transamerica Financial Life Insurance Company, Inc.,
Purchase, New York (United States)

# Transamerica Life Canada, Toronto, Ontario (Canada)

# Transamerica Life Insurance Company, Cedar Rapids, lowa
(United States)

# Western Reserve Life Assurance Co. of Ohio, Columbus, Ohio
(United States)

# Transamerica Life International Ltd, Hamilton (Bermuda)

# Transamerica International Re Ltd, Hamilton (Bermuda)

# Transamerica International Reinsurance Ireland Ltd, Dublin
(Ireland)

# AEGON Global Institutional markets Plc, Dublin (Ireland)

# AEGON Financial Assurance Ireland Ltd, Dublin (Ireland)

THE NETHERLANDS

AEGON Bank N.V., Utrecht

AEGON International B.V., The Hague
AEGON Derivatives N.V., The Hague
AEGON Investment Management B.V., The Hague
AEGON Levensverzekering N.V., The Hague
AEGON NabestaandenZorg N.V., Groningen
AEGON Nederland N.V., The Hague

AEGON Schadeverzekering N.V., The Hague
AEGON Spaarkas N.V., The Hague

AEGON Vastgoed Holding B.V., The Hague
OPTAS Pensioenen N.V., Rotterdam

TKP Pensioen B.V., Groningen

9 39 9 9 v 8 8 8 8 v 8 8 8

Unirobe Meeus Groep B.V., The Hague

UNITED KINGDOM

# AEGON Asset Management UK plc, London

# AEGON UK Distribution Holdings Ltd., London
# AEGON UK plc, London

# Guardian Assurance plc, Lytham St Annes



# Guardian Linked Life Assurance Limited, Lytham St Annes
# Guardian Pensions Management Limited, Lytham St Annes
# HS Administrative Services Limited, Chester

# Scottish Equitable International Holdings plc, London

# Scottish Equitable plc, Edinburgh

OTHER COUNTRIES

® AEGON Espafia S.A., Madrid (Spain) (99.98%)

® AEGON Life Insurance (Taiwan) Inc., Taipei (Taiwan)

» AEGON Magyarorszag Altaldnos Biztosité Zrt., Budapest
(Hungary)

# AEGON Pension Fund Management Company Slovakia,
Bratislava (Slovakia)

# AEGON Pojistévna a.s., Prague (Czech Republic)

# AEGON Towarzystwo Ubezpieczen na Zycie S.A., Warsaw
(Poland)

# AEGON Emeklilik, Ankara (Turkey)

The legally required list of participations as set forth in articles
379 and 414 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code has been
registered with the Trade Register in The Hague. AEGON N.V.
has issued a statement of liability as meant in article 403 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code for its subsidiary company
AEGON Derivatives N.V.

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
JOINT VENTURES FOR 2008 ACCOUNTED FOR
USING PROPORTIONATE CONSOLIDATION:

JOINT VENTURES

The principal joint ventures are listed by geographical segment.

THE NETHERLANDS

# AMVEST Vastgoed B.V., Utrecht (50%), property

management and development

OTHER COUNTRIES

# AEGON-CNOOC Life Insurance Company Ltd, Shanghai

(China), life insurance company (50%)

» Caja Badajoz Vida y Pensiones, Sociedad Anénima de
Seguros, Badajoz (Spain), life and accident insurance and

pension company (50%)

# CAN Vida y Pensiones, Sociedad Anénima de Seguros,
Pamplona (Spain), life insurance and pension company (50%)

» Caja Cantabria Vida y Pensiones, Sociedad Anénima de
Seguros, Santander (Spain), life insurance company (50%)

» Caixa Terrassa Vida y Pensiones, Sociedad Anénima de
Seqguros, Terrassa (Spain) life and accident insurance and

pension company (50%)

# AEGON Industrial Fund Management Co., Ltd, Shanghai

(China) (49%)

# BT AEGON Fond de Pensii, S.A., Cluj (Romania) (50%)
# Religare AEGON Asset Management Company, Mumbai

(India) (50%)

Current  Long-term Current  Long-term

assets assets liabilities liabilities Income Expenses
AMVEST 72 1,122 10 741 53 29
AEGON-CNOOC 28 124 8 129 63 75
Caja Badajoz Vida y Pensiones 6 86 12 76 34 32
CAN Vida y Pensiones 11 583 8 504 179 171
Caja Cantabria Vida y Pensiones 5 72 - 49 2 2
Caixa Terrassa Vida y Pensiones 43 810 9 656 22 21
AEGON Industrial Fund Management 15 18 4 - 18 9
TOTAL 180 2,815 51 2,155 371 339

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
The principal investments in associates are listed by
geographical segment.

THE NETHERLANDS
# N.V. Levensverzekering-Maatschappij 'De Hoop’, The Hague
(33.3%)

UNITED KINGDOM

# Tenet Group Limited, Leeds (19.6%)

OTHER COUNTRIES

v CAM AEGON Holding Financiero, Alicante (Spain) (49.99%)
# La Mondiale Participations S.A., Lille (France) (35%)

® Seqguros Argos, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City (Mexico) (49%)

# Afore Argos, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City (Mexico) (49%)

# AEGON Religare Life Insurance Company, Mumbai (India) (26%)
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AEGON owns a 57% limited partnership interest in Prisma
Capital Partners LP (‘Prisma LP’) which serves as an investment
manager for certain of AEGON's hedge fund investments as well
as for other third parties, in exchange for management fees.
The remaining 42% limited partnership interest is owned by
unrelated entities made up of various employees and
individuals. Prisma GP LLC is the general partner with a 1%
interest and is responsible for day-to-day activities. A
management board with seven voting members (three
appointed by AEGON, three appointed by Prisma GP LLC and
one independent member appointed collectively by the other
six voting members) must approve certain actions, including
restructuring transactions, hiring senior management and the
annual operating budget. As a result, notwithstanding AEGON's
57% economic interest, the company can not exercise voting
control since AEGON only appoints three out of the seven board
members, AEGON cannot remove the majority of the
management board members and AEGON does not have other
arrangements, contractual or otherwise, that would give AEGON
more than half of the voting power of Prisma LP.

Refer to note 10 for further details on investments in associates.

Note 54 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions for the period under review include
transactions between AEGON N.V. and Vereniging AEGON.

On December 1, 2008, AEGON secured EUR 3 billion of
convertible core capital securities from the Vereniging AEGON.
Refer to note 16 for further details.

On July 23, 2007, and September 17, 2007, Vereniging AEGON
exercised its option rights to purchase 2,690,000, respectively
3,190,000 class B preferred shares at par value to correct
dilution caused by AEGON's stock dividend issuances and
treasury stock sales during the year.

On November 24, 2006, Vereniging AEGON exercised its option
rights to purchase in aggregate 5,440,000 class B preferred
shares at par value to correct dilution caused by AEGON's stock
dividend issuances during the year.
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On December 21, 2006, Vereniging AEGON sold at intrinsic
value and transferred to AEGON International N.V. all shares of
its subsidiary company Albidus B.V. for an immaterial amount.

AEGON provides reinsurance, asset management and
administrative services for employee benefit plans relating to
pension and other post-employment benefits of AEGON
employees. Certain post-employment insurance benefits are
provided to employees in the form of insurance policies issued
by affiliated insurance subsidiaries.

In the Netherlands, AEGON employees may make use of
financing and insurance facilities for prices which are equivalent
to the price available for agents. The benefit for AEGON
employees is equivalent to the margin made by agents.

In 2008, the Management Board has been extended with the
CEO for Central and Eastern Europe. The Management Board
is now formed by members of the Executive Board, and the
CEQ's of AEGON USA, AEGON The Netherlands, AEGON UK and
AEGON Central and Eastern Europe. The total remuneration
for the members of the Management Board over 2008 was
EUR 16.6 million (2007: EUR 15.6 million), consisting of

EUR 5.3 million (2007: EUR 5.7 million) salary and other short
term benefits, EUR 4.8 million (2007: EUR 7.1 million) cash
performance payments, EUR 1.2 million (2007: EUR 1.3 million)
pension premiums, EUR 1.0 million (2007: EUR 0.8 million)
share-based payments, EUR 0.6 million (2007: EUR 0.7 million)
other long-term benefits. Remuneration of Mr. Van der Werf
who stepped down as CEO of AEGON the Netherlands at the
beginning of 2008 amounted to EUR 3.7 million and included
salary, pension premiums, compensation for entitlements to
incentive plans and severance. Additional information on the
remuneration and share-based compensation of members of
the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are disclosed in
the sections on the following pages.



Short-term Performance

Remuneration of active and retired members periodic payments related

of the Executive Board Pension

Amounts in EUR thousands Salary Other3 Cash* Shares® premiums Total
2008

Alexander R. Wynaendts 865 14 301 175 220 1,575
Joseph B.M. Streppel 763 15 238 207 195 1,418
Donald J. Shepard 2441 1,157 3,161 396 115 5,073
TOTAL 1,872 1,186 3,700 778 530 8,066
2007

Donald J. Shepard 731! 1,545 4,292 252 256 7,076
Joseph B.M. Streppel 7212 14 542 194 184 1,655
Alexander R. Wynaendts 6762 14 717 137 172 1,716
TOTAL 2,128 1,573 5,551 583 612 10,447
2006

Donald J. Shepard 796! 1,219 4,059 - 277 6,351
Joseph B.M. Streppel 6792 16 475 - 220 1,390
Alexander R. Wynaendts 5757 164 602 - 186 1,527
Johan G. van der Werf 5757 13 697 - 186 1,471
TOTAL 2,625 1,412 5,833 - 869 10,739

Mr. Shepard earned an annual base salary of USD 1 million. He retired as CEO and Chairman of AEGON's Executive Board in April 2008. His 2008 salary
covers only the first four months of the year.

2006 and 2007 salaries for Messrs. Wynaendts, Streppel and Van der Werf included customary Dutch employee benefits for profit sharing and tax
deferred savings scheme.

Other periodic payments are additional remuneration elements, including social security contributions borne by the Group. For Mr. Shepard, the Group
had also borne expenses and non-monetary benefits which were provided in his employment agreement with AEGON. These benefits included
compensation to the extent that the total actual annual taxation on his total income exceeded the taxation if he were only subject to U.S. taxes, personal
life insurance and tax planning. For Mr. Wynaendts, the amount in 2006 also includes compensation for relocation and cost of living related to his
temporary secondment to AEGON USA.

2008 performance related cash benefits are in respect of the 2007 STI plans under the Remuneration Policy for Executive Board members, approved by
the shareholders in April 2007. In accordance with the provisions of the Short-term Incentive (STI) Plan for the years 2005 and 2006, it was established
that the value of new business of the Group and of the relevant country units for those years was positive. Accordingly, operating earnings were
calculated and established per area of responsibility. After adoption of the 2005 and 2006 annual accounts by the shareholders, the disclosed STI cash
bonuses for the years 2005 and 2006 were paid in 2006 and 2007 respectively. In addition to the STI plan, Mr. Shepard was entitled to a short-term
incentive bonus equal to 0.1% of the net income of AEGON N.V. according to the adopted accounts. The amount included in the table for 2008 is based
on net income over 2007 as reported in the 2007 IFRS financial statements. Similarly the amounts included in the table for the years 2006 and 2007
are based on the net income of 2005 and 2006 respectively.

In accordance with the terms of the 2005 LTI plan, the Executive Board received bonus shares in April 2008. The number of shares for each member
was: Mr. Shepard 38,542; Mr. Streppel 20,169; and Mr. Wynaendts 17,066. These have been converted using the share price of EUR 10.275 at April 22,
2008. In accordance with the elections made by the Executive Board members under the terms of the 2003 STl plan, the Executive Board received
bonus shares in April 2007. The number of bonus shares varied from 0 to 100% of the number of shares paid in 2003, calculated through performance
based matching, on the basis of earnings per share growth over inflation over the years 2004, 2005 and 2006. The number of shares for each member
was: Mr. Shepard 16,143; Mr. Streppel 12,409; and Mr. Wynaendts 8,771. These have been converted using the share price of EUR 15.61 at April 25, 2007.

N

w
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o

Members of the Executive Board are not entitled to performance
related remuneration related to the financial year 2008 based
on the remuneration policy as approved by the General Meeting
of Shareholders.
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The two tables below show the number of shares and options
conditionally granted based on LTI plans related to financial
years prior to 2008.

Number
Number of Number Number of shares  Number of
. . shares per of shares of shares expired/ shares per
Total overview of conditionally Grant January1l, grantedin  vestedin forfeitedin December Reference
granted shares date 2008 2008 2008 2008 31,2008 period
Alexander R. Wynaendts 22-Apr-05 17,066 17,066 - 2005 - 2007
26-Apr-06 11,769 11,7691 2006 - 2008
24-Apr-08 18,506 18,506 2007
Joseph B.M. Streppel 22-Apr-05 20,169 20,169 - 2005 - 2007
26-Apr-06 13,909 13,909! 2006 — 2008
24-Apr-08 16,278 16,278 2007
Donald J. Shepard 22-Apr-05 38,542 38,542 — 2005 - 2007
26-Apr-06 26,213 26,2131 2006 - 2008
24-Apr-08 50,092 50,092 2007
! These shares will vest in 2009 at 75%.
Number

Total overview Number of Number Number  of options Number of

A options per  of options  of options expired/ options per
of conditionally January1l, grantedin  vestedin forfeitedin December Exercise  Reference
granted options Grant date 2008 2008 2008 2008 31,2008 price period
Alexander R. Wynaendts 22-Apr-05 34,132 34,132 - 9.91 2005 - 2007
26-Apr-06 67,789 67,7891 1455 2006 — 2008
Joseph B.M. Streppel 22-Apr-05 40,338 40,338 - 9.91 2005 - 2007
26-Apr-06 80,115 80,1151 1455 2006 — 2008
Donald J. Shepard 22-Apr-05 77,084 77,084 - 9.91 2005 - 2007
26-Apr-06 150,989 150,989 1455 2006 — 2008

! These options will vest in 2009 at 75%.

The numbers of shares and options conditionally granted were
based on the closing price on the day of the grant. This is also
the exercise price of the options. The fair value information on
the conditionally granted shares will be provided in the year
when these vest and on the options when these will be exercised.
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Share options and share appreciation rights and interests in AEGON N.V.

held by active members of the Executive Board

Number Number
of rights/ Number Number  of rights/ Number Shares
options  of rights/ of rights/ options  of rights/ Number of held in
per options options expired/ options exercisable Exercise  AEGON at
Grant January1, vestedin exercised forfeited per Dec. rights/ price Dec. 31,
date 2008 2008 in 2008 in 2008 31,2008 options EUR 2008
Alexander R. 10-Mar-02 40,000! 40,000 40,000 26.70
Wynaendts 10-Mar-03 50,000! 50,000 50,000 6.30
16-Mar-04 50,000 50,000 50,000 10.56
22-Apr-05 34,132 34,132 34,132 9.91 35,383
Joseph B.M. 10-Mar-02 50,000 50,000 50,000 26.70
Streppel 16-Mar-04 50,000 50,000 50,000 10.56
22-Apr-05 40,338 40,338 40,338 9.91 46,173

! The share appreciation rights were granted before becoming a member of the Executive Board.

For each of the members of the Executive Board, the shares
held in AEGON, as shown in the above table, do not exceed 1%
of total outstanding share capital at the balance sheet date. At
the balance sheet date, the following members of the Executive
Board had loans with AEGON or any AEGON related company:

unchanged terms; and Mr. Wynaendts had four mortgage

Mr. Streppel continued a 5% mortgage loan of EUR 608,934 at

repayments were received on the loans in 2008.

loans totaling to EUR 1,485,292, with interest rates of 4.1%,
4.3%, 4.4% and 5.4%, of which two commenced in 2008.
In accordance with the terms of the contracts, no principal

Remuneration of active and retired members of the Supervisory Board

In EUR 2008 2007 2006
Dudley G. Eustace 77,000 84,500 79,000
Irving W. Bailey, Il 85,203 68,750 56,669
Antony Burgmans (as of April 25, 2007) 63,000 39,718 -
Cecelia Kempler (as of April 23, 2008) 45,673 - -
Shemaya Levy 72,000 59,000 65,000
Karla M.H. Peijs (as of April 25, 2007) 50,417 30,718 -
Robert J. Routs (as of April 23, 2008) 40,673 - -
Willem F.C. Stevens 73,000 71,750 73,000
Kornelis J. Storm 45,942 47,500 46,250
Ben van der Veer (as of October 1, 2008) 18,000 - -
Dirk P.M. Verbeek (as of April 23, 2008) 33,481 - -
Leo M. van Wijk 51,185 48,750 47,500
TOTAL FOR ACTIVE MEMBERS 655,574 450,686 367,419
René Dahan (up to April 23, 2008) 18,900 64,500 59,500
0. John Olcay (up to April 23, 2008) 22,054 66,250 65,000
Toni Rembe (up to April 23, 2008) 18,137 57,000 60,000
Peter R. Voser (up to April 25, 2006) - - 15,138
Clifford Sobel (from April 25, 2006 up to July 17, 2006) - - 9,231
TOTAL 714,665 638,436 576,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON GROUP | NOTE 55

Starting January 1, 2005, a three-components structure has

been introduced for the remuneration of the Supervisory Board:

® A base fee for membership of the Supervisory Board;
® An additional fee for membership of a Committee; and
# An attendance fee for face-to-face Committee meetings.

Members of the Supervisory Board do not have any share
options or share appreciation rights in AEGON N.V. at
December 31, 2008.

In 2008, an amount of EUR 7,000 has been paid to Mr. Docters
van Leeuwen, the proposed member of the Supervisory Board,
whose appointment will be submitted for approval at

the General Meeting of shareholders on April 22, 2009.

Not included in the table on the previous page is a premium
for state health insurance paid on behalf of Dutch Supervisory
Board members.

Common shares held by Supervisory Board members

Shares held in AEGON at December 31 2008 2007 2006
Irving W. Bailey, Il 29,759 29,759 29,759
Cecelia Kempler (as of April 23, 2008) 15,968 n.a. n.a.
Karla M.H. Peijs (as of April 25, 2007) 1,400 900 n.a.
Kornelis J. Storm 226,479 276,479 276,479
Ben van der Veer (as of October 1, 2008) 1,407 n.a. n.a.

TOTAL

275,013 307,138 306,238

Shares held by Supervisory Board members are only disclosed
for the period they have been part of the Supervisory Board.

Note 55 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On January 7, 2009, AEGON announced that it has agreed to
acquire Banca Transilvania's 50% shareholding in BT AEGON,
the two companies’ jointly-owned Romanian pension business.
AEGON will pay approximately EUR 11 million for the stake,
which will give AEGON full control of the pension business.
AEGON and Banca Transilvania (BT) will remain partners.

As part of the transaction, the two companies will sign a

distribution agreement covering both life insurance and pension

products. The transaction is expected to close in the second
quarter of 2009, subject to prior regulatory approval.

On January 13, 2009, AEGON announced that the Supervisory
Board of AEGON N.V. will propose Jan Nooitgedagt to succeed
Joseph B.M. Streppel as Chief Financial Officer and a member
of the Executive Board, effective April 22, 2009 at AEGON's
annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Mr. Streppel, who
has served as CFO since 1998 and a member of the

Executive Board since 2000, will step down from AEGON

at the next annual General Meeting of Shareholders in line
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with AEGON's retirement policy for Executive Board members.
Mr. Nooitgedagt, age 55 and a Dutch national, is retired
Chairman of the Board of the Dutch and Belgian firms of
Ernst & Young, the international organization for assurance,
tax, transaction and advisory services.

The Hague, March 11, 2009
Supervisory Board Executive Board
Dudley G. Eustace Alexander R. Wynaendts
Irving W. Bailey, Il Joseph B.M. Streppel
Antony Burgmans

Cecelia Kempler

Shemaya Levy

Karla M.H. Peijs

Robert J. Routs

Willem F.C. Stevens

Kornelis J. Storm

Ben van der Veer

Dirk P.M. Verbeek

Leo M. van Wijk



Auditor's repo rt | To:THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF AEGON N.

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for the year 2008 (as set out on pages 84 to 218)
which are part of the financial statements of AEGON N.V., The
Hague, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at
December 31, 2008, the consolidated income statement,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY

Management of the company is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union, with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands
Civil Code, and for the preparation of the Report of the
Executive Board in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated

financial statements in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of AEGON N.V. as at
December 31, 2008, and of its result and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, with
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and with Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS

Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 5 part f
of the Netherlands Civil Code, we report, to the extent of
our competence, that the Report of the Executive Board is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements as
required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

The Hague, March 11, 2009
for Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

was signed by A.F.J. van Overmeire
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Balance sheet of AEGON N.V. as at December 31

Before profit appropriation, amounts in EUR million Note 2008 2007
ASSETS
Investments
Shares in group companies 3 6,303 15,258
Loans to group companies 6,204 6,927
12,507 22,185
Receivables
Receivables from group companies 4,105 3,446
Other receivables 59 13
4,164 3,459
Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,583 741
Deferred tax assets - 383
Other 6 599 182
4,182 1,306
Prepayments and accrued income
Accrued interest and rent 85 181
TOTAL ASSETS 20,938 27,131
EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 7 251 258
Paid-in surplus 8 7,096 7,101
Revaluation account 8 (6,919) (120)
Legal reserves 8 (1,765) (2,041)
Retained earnings 8 8,474 7,402
Net income/ (loss) 8 (1,082) 2,551
6,055 15,151
Convertible core capital securities 9 3,000 -
Other equity instruments 10 4,699 4,795
TOTAL EQUITY 13,754 19,946
Subordinated borrowings 34 34
Long-term borrowings 11 1,288 2,426
Short-term borrowings 12 1,441 1,041
Current liabilities 13
Loans from group companies 1,411 314
Payables to group companies 2,294 2,777
Deferred tax liability 55 -
Other 425 459
4,185 3,550
Accruals and deferred income 236 134
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 20,938 27,131
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Income statement of AEGON N.V. for the year ended December 31

Amounts in EUR million 2008 2007 2006
Net income/ (loss) group companies (1,337) 2,313 2,935
Other income 255 238 234
NET INCOME /(LOSS) (1,082) 2,551 3,169

P 222



Notes to the financial statements of AEGON N.V.

AMOUNTS IN EUR MILLION, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Note 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

AEGON N.V., incorporated and domiciled in the Netherlands, is a
limited liability share company organized under Dutch law and
recorded in the Commercial Register of The Hague under its
registered address at AEGONplein 50, 2591 TV The Hague.
AEGON N.V. serves as the holding company for the AEGON
Group and has listings of its common shares in Amsterdam,
New York, London, and Tokyo.

AEGON N.V. and its subsidiaries and joint ventures (AEGON or
‘the Group’) have life insurance and pensions operations in over
ten countries in Europe, the Americas and Asia and are also
active in savings and investment operations, accident and
health insurance, general insurance and limited banking
operations in a number of these countries. The largest
operations are in the United States. Headquarters are located in
The Hague, the Netherlands. The Group employs approximately
31,500 people worldwide.

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Note 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles in the Netherlands as embodied in
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. Based on article
2:362.8 of the Netherlands Civil Code, the valuation principles
applied are based on International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as used for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

With regard to the income statement of AEGON N.V., article
402, Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code has been
applied, allowing a simplified format.

Note 2.2 CHANGES IN REPORTING PRESENTATION

As of January 1, 2008, legal reserves are presented on the face
of the balance sheet as a separate item within shareholders’
equity. Legal reserves contain the Foreign Currency Translation
Reserve (FCTR) and Other legal reserves. The comparable
numbers have been reclassified accordingly. As of January 1,
2008, AEGON's treasury shares are included in Retained
earnings instead of in the Paid-in surplus line item. In the
statement of changes in equity a reclassification has been
included to show the impact.

Note 2.3 TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY
TRANSACTIONS

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
date of the transaction.

At the balance sheet date, monetary assets, monetary liabilities
and own equity instruments denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the prevailing exchange rate. Non-monetary
items carried at cost are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction, whilst assets carried at fair value
are translated at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in

the income statement when they arise, except when they are
deferred in equity as a result of a qualifying cash flow or net
investment hedge. Exchange differences on non-monetary items
are recognized in equity or the income statement accordingly,
consistently with other gains and losses on these items.

Note 2.4 OFFSETTING OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the balance sheet
when AEGON N.V. has a legally enforceable right to offset and
has the intention to settle the asset and liability on a net basis
or simultaneously.

Note 2.5 INVESTMENTS

The group companies are stated at their net asset value,
determined on the basis of IFRS as applied in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. For details on the accounting
policies applied for the group companies refer to the
consolidated financial statements on page 84 and following.

Note 2.6 DERIVATIVES

All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value.
All changes in fair value are recognized in the income
statement, unless the derivative has been designated as a
hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge or a hedge of a net
foreign investment. Derivatives with positive fair values are
reported as other assets and derivatives with negative values
are reported as other liabilities.

Note 2.7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash comprises cash at banks and in-hand. Cash equivalents
are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known cash amounts, are subject to insignificant
risks of changes in value and are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

Note 2.8 OTHER ASSETS

Other assets include fixed assets, derivatives with positive
fair values, other receivables and prepaid expenses. Other
receivables are recognized at fair value when due and are
subsequently measured at amortized cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON N.V.

Note 2.9 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

An asset is impaired if the carrying amount exceeds the amount
that would be recovered through its use or sale. Tangible,
intangible and financial assets, if not held at fair value through
profit or loss, are tested for impairment when there are
indications that the asset may be impaired. Irrespective of the
indications, goodwill and other intangible assets that are not
amortized are tested at least annually. For assets denominated
in a foreign currency, a decline in the foreign exchange rates is
considered an indication of impairment.

Note 2.10 EQUITY

Financial instruments that are issued by the company are
classified as equity if they represent a residual interest in the
assets of the company after deducting all of its liabilities and
the company has an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash
or another financial asset to settle its contractual obligation.

In addition to common shares and preferred shares, the
company has issued perpetual securities and convertible core
capital securities. Perpetual securities have no final maturity
date, repayment is at the discretion of the issuer and AEGON
and for junior perpetual capital securities AEGON has the
option to defer coupon payments at its discretion. Convertible
core capital securities can be converted into ordinary shares

of AEGON or repaid at the discretion of AEGON, and coupon
payments are payable only if AEGON pays dividend on ordinary
shares. Both the perpetual and convertible core capital
securities are classified as equity rather than debt, are
measured at par. Those that are denominated in US dollars

are translated using historical exchange rates.

Incremental external costs that are directly attributable to
the issuing or buying back of own equity instruments are
recognized in equity, net of tax.

Dividends and other distributions to holders of equity
instruments are recognized directly in equity, net of tax.
A liability for non-cumulative dividends payable is

not recognized until the dividends have been declared
and approved.

Revaluation account includes unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale assets and the positive changes in value
that have been recognized in net income / (loss) relating to
investments (including real estate) and which do not have

a frequent market listing.

Legal reserves include net increases in net asset value of

subsidiaries and associates since their first inclusion, less any
amounts that can be distributed without legal restrictions.
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NOTE 29 -6

Treasury shares are own equity instruments of AEGON N.V.
reacquired by the Group and are deducted from equity
(Retained earnings) regardless of the objective of the
transaction. No gain or loss is recognized on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the instruments. The consideration paid
or received is recognized directly in equity. All treasury shares
are eliminated in the calculation of earnings per common share
and dividend per common share.

Note 2.1 SUBORDINATED BORROWINGS AND

OTHER BORROWINGS

A financial instrument issued by the company is classified as

a liability if the contractual obligation must be settled in cash
or another financial asset or through the exchange of financial
assets and liabilities at potentially unfavorable conditions

for the company.

Subordinated loans and other borrowings are initially
recognized at their fair value including directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. The liability is
derecognized when the company's obligation under the
contract expires or is discharged or cancelled.

Note 2.12 PROVISIONS

A provision is recognized for present legal or constructive
obligations arising from past events, when it is probable that it
will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount
can be reliably estimated.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate

of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation

at the balance sheet date considering all its inherent risks

and uncertainties, as well as the time value of money. The
unwinding of the effect of discounting is booked to the income
statement as an interest expense.

Note 2.13 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes if the inflow of
economic benefits is probable, but not virtually certain. When
the inflow of economic benefits becomes virtually certain, the
asset is no longer contingent and its recognition is appropriate.

A provision is recognized for present legal or constructive
obligations arising from past events, when it is probable that it
will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount
can be reliably estimated. If the outflow of economic benefits is
not probable, a contingent liability is disclosed, unless the
possibility of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.



Note 2.14 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
The financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that

occurred between the balance sheet date and the date when the
financial statements are authorized for issue, provided they give

evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date.

Note 3 SHARES IN GROUP COMPANIES

Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the

balance sheet date are disclosed, but do not result in an
adjustment of the financial statements themselves.

2008 2007
At January 1 15,258 17,556
Capital contribution and acquisitions - 292
Divestitures (305) =
Dividend paid (446) (1,488)
Net income/ (loss) for the financial year (1,337) 2,313
Revaluations (6,867) (3,415)
AT DECEMBER 31 6,303 15,258

For a list of names and locations of the most important group
companies, refer to note 53 of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, page 212-213. The legally required

Note 4 LOANS TO GROUP COMPANIES

list of participations as set forth in article 379 of Book 2 of

the Netherlands Civil Code has been registered with the

Commercial Register of The Hague.

Loans to group companies - long-term 2008 2007
At January 1 3,655 4,560
Additions /repayments (2,662) (675)
Other changes (52) (230)
AT DECEMBER 31 941 3,655
Loans to group companies - short-term 2008 2007
At January 1 3,272 2,757
Additions/repayments 1,771 615
Other changes 220 (100)
AT DECEMBER 31 5,263 3,272
TOTAL 6,204 6,927

Note 5 RECEIVABLES
Receivables from group companies and other receivables
have a maturity of less than one year.

Note 6 OTHER ASSETS

Other assets include derivatives with positive fair values

of EUR 599 million (2007: EUR 180 million).
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NOTE 7

Note 7 SHARE CAPITAL
Issued and outstanding 2008 2007
Common shares 189 196
Preferred shares A 53 53
Preferred shares B 9 9
TOTAL SHARE CAPITAL 251 258
Authorized 2008 2007
Common shares 360 360
Preferred shares A 125 125
Preferred shares B 125 125
610 610
Par value in cents per share 2008 2007
Common shares 12 12
Preferred shares A 25 25
Preferred shares B 25 25

All issued common and preferred shares are fully paid.
Repayment of capital can only be initiated by the Executive
Board, is subject to approval of the Supervisory Board and must
be resolved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. Moreover,
repayment on preferred shares needs approval of the related
shareholders. There are restrictions on the amount of funds
that companies within the Group may transfer in the form of
cash dividends or otherwise to the parent company. These
restrictions stem from solvency and legal requirements.

Refer to note 47 of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for a description of these requirements.

Vereniging AEGON, based in The Hague, holds all of the issued
preferred shares. Vereniging AEGON, in case of an issuance of
shares by AEGON N.V., may purchase as many class B preferred
shares as would enable Vereniging AEGON to prevent or correct
dilution to below its actual percentage of voting shares, unless
Vereniging AEGON as a result of exercising these option rights
would increase its voting power to more than 33%. Class B
preferred shares will then be issued at par value (EUR 0.25),
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unless a higher issue price is agreed. In the years 2003 through
2007, 35,170,000 class B preferred shares were issued under
these option rights. In 2008, no option rights were exercised.

AEGON N.V. and Vereniging AEGON have entered into a
preferred shares voting rights agreement, pursuant to which
Vereniging AEGON has voluntarily waived its right to cast 25/12
vote per class A or class B preferred share. Instead, Vereniging
AEGON has agreed to exercise one vote only per preferred
share, except in the event of a ‘special cause’, such as the
acquisition of a 15% interest in AEGON N.V., a tender offer for
AEGON N.V. shares or a proposed business combination by any
person or group of persons, whether individually or as a group,
other than in a transaction approved by the Executive Board
and the Supervisory Board. If, in its sole discretion, Vereniging
AEGON determines that a ‘special cause' has occurred,
Vereniging AEGON will notify the General Meeting of
Shareholders and retain its right to exercise the full voting
power of 25/12 vote per preferred share for a limited period

of six months.



The following table shows the movement during the year in the
number of common shares:

Number of common shares

2008 2007

At January 1
Withdrawal
Share dividend

1,636,544,530 1,622,927,058
(99,769,902) (11,600,000)
41,452,511 25,217,472

AT DECEMBER 31

1,578,227,139 1,636,544,530

The weighted average number of EUR 0.12 common shares for
2008 was 1,506,861,993 (2007: 1,561,394,680). The shares
repurchased by AEGON, although included in the issued and
outstanding number of shares, are excluded from the calculation
of the weighted average number of shares. The number has
been adjusted for share dividend.

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS AND SHARE OPTIONS
For detailed information on share appreciation rights and
share options granted to senior executives and other
AEGON employees, refer to note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, page 192.

BOARD REMUNERATION

Detailed information on remuneration of active and retired
members of the Executive Board including their share option
rights, remuneration of active and retired members of

the Supervisory Board along with information about shares
held in AEGON by the members of the Boards is included

on page 215-218 of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON N.V. | NOTE 8

Note 8 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Legal Other Net
Share  Paid-in- Revalation reserves legal  Retained Treasury income/
capital  surplus account FCTR reserves earnings shares (loss) Total
At January 1, 2007 255 6,317 2,059 (565) 27 7,343 - 3,169 18,605
Reclassification - 787 - - - (787) - -
Net income 2006 retained - - - - 3,169 - (3,169) =
Net income 2007 - - - - - - - 2,551 2,551
Total net income - - - - - 3,169 - (618) 2,551
Changes in foreign currency
translation reserve - - - (1,445) - = - - (1,445)
Changes in revaluation subsidiaries - - (2,164) - - - - - (2,164)
Transfer to legal reserve - = (15) = (58) 15 - - (58)
Other - - - = (31) = = (31)
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) - - (2,179) (1,445) (58) (16) - - (3,698)
Dividend common shares - - - - - (583) = = (583)
Dividend preferred shares - - - - - (85) - - (85)
Share dividend 3 (3) = = = = = = =
Issuance of shares 2 - - - - - - - 2
Repurchased and sold own shares - - - - - (1,438) - (1,438)
Withdrawal of treasury shares 2) - - - (170) 172 - -
Coupons on perpetuals, net of tax - - - - - (175) - - (175)
Other - - - - - (28) - - (28)
Changes in equity from relation
with shareholders 9 (3) - = - (1,041) (1,266) - (2,307)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 258 7,101 (120) (2,010) (31) 9,455 (2,053) 2,551 15,151
At January 1, 2008 258 7,101 (120) (2,010) (31) 9,455 (2,053) 2,551 15,151
Net income 2007 retained - - - - 2,551 - (2,551) -

Net loss 2008 - -

(1,082) (1,082)

Total net income/ (loss) - - - - - 2,551 - (3,633) (1,082)
Changes in foreign currency

translation reserve - - - (170) - - - - (170)
Changes in revaluation subsidiaries - - (6,651) - - - - - (6,651)
Transfer to legal reserve - - (148) - 446 (305) - - (7)
Other - - - - - 10 - - 10
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) - - (6,799) (170) 446 (295) - -  (6,818)
Dividend common shares - - - - - (548) - - (548)
Dividend preferred shares - - - - - (112) - - (112)
Share dividend 5 (5) - - - - - - -
Repurchased and sold own shares - - - - - - (217) - (217)
Withdrawal of treasury shares (12) - - - - (1,533) 1,545 - -
Coupons on convertible core capital

securities and perpetuals, net of tax - - - - - (310) - - (310)
Other - - - - - 9) - - 9)
Changes in equity from relation

with shareholders (7) (5) - - - (2,512) 1,328 - (1,196)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 251 7,096 (6,919) (2,180) 415 9,199 (725) (1,082) 6,055
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The balance of the revaluation account, which includes
revaluation reserves for real estate and investments that do not
have a frequent market listing, consists for EUR 2,728 million
(2007: EUR 1,810 million) of items with positive revaluation and
for EUR (9,646) million of items with negative revaluation
(2007: EUR (1,930) million).

The revaluation account and legal reserves, foreign currency
translation reserve and other, cannot be freely distributed. In
case of negative balances for individual reserves legally to be
retained, no distributions can be made out of retained earnings
to the level of these negative amounts.

Certain AEGON subsidiaries, principally insurance companies,
are subject to restrictions on the amounts of funds they may
transfer in the form of cash dividends or otherwise to their
parent companies. There can be no assurance that these

restrictions will not limit or restrict AEGON in its ability to pay
dividends in the future.

OPTAS N.V., an indirect subsidiary of AEGON N.V., holds
statutory reserves of EUR 821 million (2007: EUR 770 million)
which are restricted. Included in AEGON N.V.'s legal reserves is
an amount of EUR 69 million related to OPTAS N.V. which
represents the increase in statutory reserves since the
acquisition of OPTAS N.V. by AEGON.

On the balance sheet date, AEGON N.V. and its subsidiaries held
62,778,194 of its own common shares with a face value of

EUR 0.12 each. Most of the shares have been purchased to
neutralize the dilution effect of issued share dividend, and to
hedge share appreciation rights and stock options granted to
executives and employees. Movements in the number of
repurchased own shares held by AEGON N.V. were as follows:

2008 2007
At January 1 133,827,535 37,723,865
Transactions in 2008
Purchase: 10 transactions, average price EUR 8.32 26,300,000 -
Sale: 1 transaction, price EUR 14.65 (92,843) -
Withdrawal of common share capital (99,769,902) =
Transactions in 2007
Purchase: 3 transactions, average price EUR 13.71 - 33,200,000
Share repurchase program: various transactions, average price EUR 13.41 - 74,569,902
Sale: 7 transactions, average price EUR 15.53 - (66,232)
Withdrawal of common share capital - (11,600,000)
AT DECEMBER 31 60,264,790 133,827,535
As part of their insurance and investment operations,
subsidiaries within the Group also hold AEGON N.V. common
shares, both for their own account and for account of
policyholders. These shares have been treated as treasury
shares and are included at their consideration paid or received.
2008 2007
Number of shares Consideration Number of shares Consideration
Held by AEGON N.V. 60,264,790 679 133,827,535 2,007
Held by subsidiaries 2,513,404 46 2,503,447 46
TOTAL AT DECEMBER 31 62,778,194 725 136,330,982 2,053

The consideration for the related shares is deducted from or
added to the retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AEGON N.V.

Note 9 CONVERTIBLE CORE CAPITAL SECURITIES
On December 1, 2008, AEGON's core capital was increased

through a special transaction with the State of the Netherlands

in view of the ongoing uncertainty regarding the financial and

economic environment during the year. Via Vereniging AEGON

a senior loan of EUR 3 billion was provided against issuance of

750 million non-voting convertible core capital securities at

EUR 4.00 per security. The newly issued securities rank equal to

common shares (pari passu), but carry no voting rights. This

structure is designed to avoid dilution of existing common

shareholders’ value.

Before December 1, 2009, AEGON has the right to repurchase

NOTE 9 -1

EUR 4.52 per security, depending on AEGON's share price and
the date of the repurchase, and after that date at EUR 6.00 per
security. AEGON may at any time repurchase the remaining
500 million securities at EUR 6.00 per security (equivalent to
150% of the original issue price). Alternatively, after three
years, AEGON may choose to convert these securities into
common shares on a one-for-one basis. In this situation,

the Dutch State may opt for repayment either in cash (at the
original issue price of EUR 4.00) or in shares.

AEGON retains full discretion over its policy regarding dividends
paid on common shares. The coupon on the non-voting
securities will be paid only if a dividend is also paid to holders of

250 million of the securities at a price between EUR 4.00 and

Note 10 OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

common shares.

Junior perpetual Perpetual cumulative

Share options

capital securities subordinated bonds not yet exercised Total
At January 1, 2007 3,447 567 18 4,032
Instruments issued 745 - - 745
Share options granted - - 18 18
AT DECEMBER 31, 2007 4,192 567 36 4,795
At January 1, 2008 4,192 567 36 4,795
Instruments redeemed - (114) - (114)
Share options granted - - 19 19
Share options forfeited - - (1) (1)
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 4,192 453 54 4,699

Year of

Junior perpetual capital securities Coupon rate Coupon date: as of first call 2008 2007
USD 500 million 6.5% Quarterly, December 15 2010 424 424
USD 250 million floating LIBOR rate ! Quarterly, December 15 2010 212 212
USD 550 million 6.875% Quarterly, September 15 2011 438 438
EUR 200 million 6.0% Annually, July 21 2011 200 200
USD 1,050 million 7.25% Quarterly, December 15 2012 745 745
EUR 950 million floating DSL rate 2 Quarterly, July 15 2014 950 950
USD 500 million floating CMS rate 3 Quarterly, July 15 2014 402 402
USD 1 billion 6.375% Quarterly, June 15 2015 821 821
AT DECEMBER 31 4,192 4,192

' The coupon of the USD 250 million junior perpetual capital securities is reset each quarter based on the then prevailing three-month LIBOR yield plus

a spread of 87.5 basis points, with a minimum of 4%.

2 The coupon of the EUR 950 million junior perpetual capital securities is reset each quarter based on the then prevailing ten-year Dutch government

bond yield plus a spread of ten basis points, with a maximum of 8%.

3 The coupon of the USD 500 million junior perpetual capital securities is reset each quarter based on the then prevailing ten-year US dollar interest

rate swap yield plus a spread of ten basis points, with a maximum of 8.5%.
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The interest rate exposure on some of these securities has been
swapped to a three-month LIBOR yield.

The securities have been issued at par. The securities have
subordination provisions and rank junior to all other liabilities.
The conditions of the securities contain certain provisions for

optional and required coupon payment deferral and mandatory
payment events. Although the securities have no stated
maturity, AEGON has the right to call the securities for
redemption at par for the first time on the coupon date in the
years as specified, or on any coupon payment date thereafter.

Perpetual cumulative subordinated bonds Coupon rate Coupon date fi\:(setarce?lfl 2008 2007
EUR 114 million 7.625% July 10 2008 - 114
EUR 203 million 7.125% 4 March 4 2011 203 203
EUR 114 million 4.156% 24 June 8 2015 114 114
EUR 136 million 5.185% 34 October 14 2018 136 136

AT DECEMBER 31

453 567

' The coupon of the EUR 203 million bonds is set at 7.125% until March 4, 2011.

2 The coupon of the EUR 114 million bonds was originally set at 8% until June 8, 2005. As of this date, the coupon is reset at 4.156% until 2015.
3 The coupon of the EUR 136 million bonds was originally set at 7.25% until October 14, 2008. As of this date, the coupon is reset at 5.185% until

October 14, 2018.

4 If the bonds are not called on the respective call dates and after consecutive period of ten years, the coupons will be reset at the then prevailing
effective yield of ten-year Dutch government securities plus a spread of 85 basis points.

The bonds have the same subordination provisions as dated
subordinated debt. In addition, the conditions of the bonds
contain provisions for interest deferral and for the availability
of principal amounts to meet losses. Although the bonds have

no stated maturity, AEGON has the right to call the bonds for
redemption at par for the first time on the coupon date in the
years as specified.

Note 11 LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

2008 2007
Remaining terms less than 1 year 8 1,017
Remaining terms 1- 5 years 540 9
Remaining terms 5 - 10 years 419 989
Remaining terms over 10 years 321 411
AT DECEMBER 31 1,288 2,426

The repayment periods of borrowings vary from within one year
up to a maximum of 23 years. The interest rates vary from
4125 to 9.000% per annum.

The market value of the long-term borrowings amounts to
EUR 1,218 million (2007: EUR 2,437 million).
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NOTE 12 - 16

Note 12 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

2008 2007
Amounts owed to credit institutions 669 1,006
Short term deposits 772 35
AT DECEMBER 31 1,441 1,041

All short-term borrowings have a maturity of less than one year.

Note 13 CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans from and payables to group companies have a maturity
of less than one year. Other includes derivatives with negative
fair values of EUR 403 million (2007: EUR 174 million).

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

AEGON N.V. has entered into a net worth maintenance
agreement with its indirect subsidiary AEGON Financial
Assurance Ireland Limited (AFA), pursuant to which
AEGON N.V. will cause AFA to have a tangible net worth of
at least 3% of its total liabilities under financial guaranty
policies which it issues up to a maximum of EUR 3 billion.

AEGON N.V. has guaranteed and is severally liable for the

following:

# Due and punctual payment of payables due under letter of
credit agreements applied for by AEGON N.V. as co-applicant
with its subsidiary companies Transamerica Corporation,
AEGON USA, Inc. and Commonwealth General Corporation.
At December 31, 2008, the letter of credit arrangements
amounted to EUR 3,544 million; as at that date no amounts
had been drawn or were due under these facilities;

# Due and punctual payment of payables by the consolidated
Group companies Transamerica Corporation, AEGON Funding
Company LLC, Commonwealth General Corporation and
Transamerica Finance Corp. with respect to bonds,
capital trust pass-through securities and notes issued
under commercial paper programs (EUR 694 million),
as well as payables with respect to certain derivative

transactions of Transamerica Corporation (nominal
amount EUR 1,003 million);

# Due and punctual payment of any amounts owed to third
parties by the consolidated group company AEGON
Derivatives N.V. in connection with derivative transactions.
AEGON Derivatives N.V. only enters into derivative
transactions with counterparties with which ISDA master
netting agreements including collateral support annex
agreements have been agreed; net (credit) exposure on
derivative transactions with these counterparties was
therefore minimal as at December 31, 2008.

AEGON N.V. is involved in a dispute between AEGON N.V.,

the foundation that sold the insurance company OPTAS and
the unions and employers in the harbors of Rotterdam and
Amsterdam on the pensions insured by AEGON's subsidiary
OPTAS. This dispute led to litigation on the accuracy of
AEGON's financial statements over 2007 further to the
allegation of the plaintiff (a foundation representing the
employers and insured employees in the harbors) that the
equity of OPTAS should not have been consolidated as AEGON's
equity and that as a result, the profit of OPTAS should not have
been reported as being part of AEGON's consolidated profit.
Parties expect the judgment in near future after which they
may appeal from it with the supreme court of the Netherlands.

Note 14 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
Other than the Executive Board members, there were no
employees employed by AEGON N.V. in either 2008 or 2007.

Note 15 ACCOUNTANTS REMUNERATION

2008 2007
Audit 24 22
Audit-related 2 2
TOTAL 26 24
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Note 16 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
On January 7, 2009, AEGON announced that it has agreed to
acquire Banca Transilvania's 50% shareholding in BT AEGON,
the two companies’ jointly-owned Romanian pension business.
AEGON will pay approximately EUR 11 million for the stake,
which will give AEGON full control of the pension business.
AEGON and Banca Transilvania (BT) will remain partners.

As part of the transaction, the two companies will sign a
distribution agreement covering both life insurance and pension
products. The transaction is expected to close in the second
quarter of 2009, subject to prior regulatory approval.

On January 13, 2009, AEGON announced that the Supervisory
Board of AEGON N.V. will propose Jan Nooitgedagt to succeed
Joseph B.M. Streppel as Chief Financial Officer and a member
of the Executive Board, effective April 22, 2009 at AEGON's
annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Mr. Streppel, who
has served as CFO since 1998 and a member of the Executive
Board since 2000, will step down from AEGON at the next
annual General Meeting of Shareholders in line with

AEGON's retirement policy for Executive Board members.

Mr. Nooitgedagt, age 55 and a Dutch national, is retired
Chairman of the Board of the Dutch and Belgian firms of

Ernst & Young, the international organization for assurance,

tax, transaction and advisory services.

The Hague, March 11, 2009

Supervisory Board
Dudley G. Eustace
Irving W. Bailey, Il
Antony Burgmans
Cecelia Kempler
Shemaya Levy
Karla M.H. Peijs
Robert J. Routs
Willem F.C. Stevens
Kornelis J. Storm
Ben van der Veer
Dirk P.M. Verbeek
Leo M. van Wijk

Executive Board

Alexander R. Wynaendts

Joseph B.M. Streppel
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Auditor's report | TO: THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF AEGON N.V.

REPORT ON THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying company financial
statements for the year 2008 (as set out on pages 220 to 233)
which are part of the financial statements of AEGON N.V.,

The Hague, which comprise the balance sheet as at

December 31, 2008, the income statement for the year then
ended and the notes.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY

Management of the company is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the company financial statements and
for the preparation of the Report of the Executive Board, both
in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil
Code. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the company financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the company
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the company
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the company financial statements,
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whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the company financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the company financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of AEGON N.V. as at
December 31, 2008, and of its result for the year then ended in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS

Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 5 part f of
the Netherlands Civil Code, we report, to the extent of our
competence, that the Report of the Executive Board is
consistent with the company financial statements as required
by 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

The Hague, March 11, 2009
for Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

was signed by A.F.J. van Overmeire



Other information

PROPOSAL FOR PROFIT APPROPRIATION

Appropriation of profit will be determined in accordance with
the articles 31 and 32 of the Articles of Incorporation of
AEGON N.V. The relevant provisions read as follows:

1. The General Meeting of Shareholders shall adopt the
annual accounts.

2. If the adopted profit and loss account shows a profit, the
Supervisory Board may decide, upon the proposal of the
Executive Board, to set aside part of the profit to augment
and/or form reserves.

3. From the net profit as reflected in the profit and loss account,
if it is sufficient to this end after a part of the profit has been
set aside for augmenting and/or forming reserves in
accordance with 2, first of all the holders of preferred shares
shall receive, on the amount paid on their preferred shares,
a dividend the percentage of which, on an annual basis, shall
be equal to the European Central Bank's fixed interest
percentage for basic refinancing transactions, to be increased
by 1.75 percentage points, all applicable to the first trading
day on Euronext Amsterdam in the financial year to which
the dividend relates. Apart from this, no other dividend is to
be paid on the preferred shares.

4. The profits remaining after application of the above shall be
put at the disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders.
The Executive Board, subject to the approval of the
Supervisory Board, shall make a proposal for that purpose.

A proposal to pay a dividend shall be dealt with as a separate
agenda item at the General Meeting of Shareholders.

5. The Executive Board may, subject to the approval of the
Supervisory Board, make one or more interim distributions
to the holders of common shares and/or to the holders of
preferred shares, the latter subject to the maximum dividend
amount set forth under 3.

6. The Executive Board may, subject to the approval of the
Supervisory Board, decide that a distribution on common
shares shall not take place as a cash payment but as a
payment in common shares, or decide that holders of
common shares shall have the option to receive a distribution
as a cash payment and/or as a payment in common shares,
in all cases out of the profit and/or at the expense of
reserves. Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board,
the Executive Board shall also determine the conditions
applicable to the aforementioned choices.

7. The company's policy on reserves and dividends shall be
determined and can be amended by the Supervisory Board,
upon the proposal of the Executive Board. The adoption and
thereafter each amendment of the policy on reserves and
dividends shall be discussed and accounted for at the General
Meeting of Shareholders under a separate agenda item.

The decline in world financial markets and its effects on the
Company have caused AEGON to decide to forego the 2008
final dividend. This was announced on October 28, 2008. Thus
no final dividend payment will be made on the common shares.
The interim dividend of EUR 0.30, as paid in September 2008,
has been charged to the retained earnings reserve. Similarly a
cash dividend of 5.75% on the amount paid-in on the class A
and class B preferred shares shall be paid to the holder of the
preferred shares.

2008 2007
Dividend on preferred shares 122 112
Interim dividend on common shares (cash portion) 258 281
Final dividend on common shares - 290
Earnings to be (reduced)/retained (1,462) 1,868
NET RESULT (1,082) 2,551
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Major shareholders

VERENIGING AEGON

Vereniging AEGON is the continuation of the former mutual
insurer AGO. In 1978, AGO demutualized and Vereniging AGO
became the only shareholder of AGO Holding N.V., which was
the holding company for its insurance operations. In 1983,
AGO Holding N.V. and Ennia N.V. merged into AEGON N.V.
Vereniging AGO initially received approximately 49% of the
common shares (which was reduced gradually to less than
40%) and all of the preferred shares in AEGON N.V., giving it
voting majority in AEGON N.V. At that time, Vereniging AGO
changed its name into Vereniging AEGON. The objective of
Vereniging AEGON is the balanced representation of the
interests of AEGON N.V. and all of its stakeholders, including
shareholders, AEGON Group companies, insured parties,
employees and other relations of the companies.

In accordance with the 1983 Merger Agreement, Vereniging
AEGON had certain option rights on preferred shares to prevent
dilution of voting power as a result of share issuances by
AEGON N.V. This enabled Vereniging AEGON to maintain voting
control at the General Meeting of Shareholders of AEGON N.V.
In September 2002, AEGON N.V. effected a non-dilutive capital
restructuring whereby Vereniging AEGON sold 350,000,000 of
its common shares, of which 143,600,000 common shares were
sold directly by Vereniging AEGON in a secondary offering
outside the United States and 206,400,000 common shares
were purchased by AEGON N.V. from Vereniging AEGON.
AEGON N.V. subsequently sold these common shares in a global
offering. The purchase price for the 206,400,000 common
shares sold by Vereniging AEGON to AEGON N.V. was

EUR 2,064,000,000, which amount (less EUR 12,000,000
related costs) Vereniging AEGON contributed as additional
paid-in capital on the existing AEGON N.V. preferred shares, all
held by Vereniging AEGON. As a result of these transactions,
Vereniging AEGON's beneficial ownership interest in AEGON N.V.'s
common shares decreased from approximately 37% to
approximately 12% and its beneficial ownership interest in
AEGON N.V.'s voting shares (excluding issued common shares
held in treasury by AEGON N.V.) decreased from approximately
52% to approximately 33%.

On May 9, 2003, AEGON's shareholders approved certain
changes to AEGON's corporate governance structure and
AEGON's relationship with Vereniging AEGON in an
extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders. AEGON's
Articles of Incorporation were subsequently amended on
May 26, 2003.

i 236

The relationship between Vereniging AEGON and AEGON N.V.
was changed as follows:

The 440,000,000 preferred shares with nominal value of

EUR 0.12 held by Vereniging AEGON were converted into
211,680,000 new class A preferred shares with nominal value of
EUR 0.25 and the paid-in capital on the preferred shares was
increased by EUR 120,000 to EUR 52,920,000. The voting rights
pertaining to the new preferred shares (the class A preferred
shares as well as the class B preferred shares which may be
issued to Vereniging AEGON under the option agreement as
described in the following sections) were adjusted accordingly
to 25/12 vote per preferred share.

AEGON N.V. and Vereniging AEGON have entered into a
preferred shares voting rights agreement, pursuant to which
Vereniging AEGON has voluntarily waived its right to cast 25/12
vote per class A or class B preferred share. Instead, Vereniging
AEGON has agreed to exercise one vote only per preferred share,
except in the event of a ‘special cause’, such as the acquisition
of a15% interest in AEGON N.V., a tender offer for AEGON N.V.
shares or a proposed business combination by any person or
group of persons whether individually or as a group, other than
in a transaction approved by the Executive Board and the
Supervisory Board. If, in its sole discretion, Vereniging AEGON
determines that a ‘special cause’ has occurred, Vereniging
AEGON will notify the General Meeting of Shareholders and
retain its right to exercise the full voting power of 25/12 vote
per preferred share for a limited period of six months.

AEGON N.V. and Vereniging AEGON have amended the option
arrangements under the 1983 Merger Agreement. Under the
amended option arrangements Vereniging AEGON, in case of an
issuance of shares by AEGON N.V., may purchase as many class
B preferred shares as would enable Vereniging AEGON to
prevent or correct dilution to below its actual percentage of
voting shares, unless Vereniging AEGON as a result of
exercising these option rights would increase its voting power
to more than 33 percent. Class B preferred shares will then be
issued at par value (EUR 0.25), unless a higher issue price is
agreed. In the years 2003 through 2007, 35,170,000 class B
preferred shares were issued under these option rights. In
2008, no option rights existed.



DEVELOPMENT OF SHAREHOLDING IN AEGON N.V.

Number of shares Common Preferred A Preferred B
At January 1, 2008 171,974,055 211,680,000 35,170,000
Exercise option right Preferred B shares - - -
AT DECEMBER 31, 2008 171,974,055 211,680,000 35,170,000

Accordingly, under normal circumstances the voting power of
Vereniging AEGON, based on the number of outstanding and
voting shares (excluding issued common shares held in treasury
by AEGON N.V.) at December 31, 2008, amounts to approximately
23.73%. In the event of a ‘special cause’, Vereniging AEGON's
voting rights will increase, currently to 33.77%, for up to six
months per ‘special cause'.

At December 31, 2008, the General Meeting of Members of
Vereniging AEGON consisted of nineteen members. The majority
of the voting rights is with the seventeen members not being
employees or former employees of AEGON N.V. or one of the
AEGON group companies, nor current or former members of
the Supervisory Board or the Executive Board of AEGON N.V.
The two other members are both elected by the General Meeting
of Members of Vereniging AEGON from among the members of
the Executive Board of AEGON N.V.

Vereniging AEGON has an Executive Committee consisting of
seven members, five of whom, including the chairman and the
vice-chairman, are not nor have ever been, related to AEGON.

The other two members are also members of the Executive Board
of AEGON N.V. Resolutions of the Executive Committee, other
than with regard to the amendment of the Articles of Association,
are made with an absolute majority of the votes. When a vote in
the Executive Committee results in a tie, the General Meeting of
Members has the deciding vote. With regards to the amendment
of the Articles of Association of Vereniging AEGON, a special
procedure is in place to provide for the need of a unanimous
proposal from the Executive Committee, thereby including the
consent of the representatives of AEGON N.V. at the Executive
Committee. Following the amendment of the Articles of
Association as effected on September 13, 2005, this requirement
does not apply in the event of a hostile change of control at the
General Meeting of Shareholders of AEGON N.V., in which event
Vereniging AEGON may amend its Articles of Incorporation
without the cooperation of AEGON N.V.

OTHER MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

To AEGON's knowledge there are no other parties holding
a capital / voting interest in AEGON N.V. in excess of the
thresholds established under Dutch securities law.
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Quarterly results

2007 2008
First Second Third  Fourth Total First Second Third  Fourth  Total
quarter quarter quarter quarter year Amounts in EUR million quarter quarter quarter quarter year

Underlying earnings before tax by
line of business

260 329 349 357 1,295 Life and protection 252 252 286 121 911
125 155 126 90 496 Individual savings and retirement products 116 115 56 (433) (146)
132 119 110 137 498  Pensions and asset management 121 129 79 179 508
87 67 82 96 332 Institutional products 108 99 98 100 405
36 23 37 18 114  Life reinsurance 43 0 8 (114) (63)
10 9 8 (21) 6 Distribution 9 8 3 (19) 1
3 14 17 13 47  General insurance 17 20 11 (3) 45
(58) (47) (46) (34) (185) Interest charges and other (17) (38) (40) (17) (112)
7 10 8 11 36 Share in net results of associates 9 11 (1) 5 24
602 679 691 667 2,639 UNDERLYING EARNINGS BEFORE TAX 658 596 500 (181) 1,573
132 (146) (113) (145) (272) Over/(under) performance of fair value items  (441) 48 (456) (770)  (1,619)
734 533 578 522 2,367 OPERATING EARNINGS BEFORE TAX 217 644 44 (951) (46)
190 119 156 281 746  Gains/ (losses) on investments 86 (212) 25 136 35
7 (4) (62) (17) (76) Impairment charges (32) (98) (407) (501)  (1,038)
15 39 10 (24) 40  Other income/ (charges) (54) 9 (5) 38 (12)
946 687 682 762 3,077 Income before tax 217 343 (343) (1,278) (1,061)
(239) (32) (141) (114) (526) Income tax (64) (67) 14 96 (21)
707 655 541 648 2,551 NET INCOME 153 276 (329) (1,182) (1,082)
454 532 531 516 2,033 Net underlying earnings 503 437 363 (69) 1,234
553 415 438 399 1,805 Net operating earnings 175 479 38 (623) 69
Underlying earnings geographically

478 504 508 503 1,993 Americas 478 441 388 (234) 1,073
87 115 107 109 418 The Netherlands 113 116 74 75 378
66 71 67 67 271  United Kingdom 45 48 35 13 141
29 36 55 22 142 Other countries 39 29 42 (17) 93
(56) (48) (45) (46) (195) Holding and other activities (23) (40) (45) (22) (130)
(2) 1 (1) 12 10 Eliminations 6 2 6 4 18

602 679 691 667 2,639 UNDERLYING EARNINGS BEFORE TAX 658 596 500 (181) 1,573

Revenues by line of business

3,625 3,653 3,660 3,726 14,664 Life and protection 3,547 3,463 3,597 3,710 14,317
717 705 680 673 2,775 Individual savings and retirement products 638 613 630 622 2,503
4,403 3,650 3,859 3,513 15,425 Pensions and asset management 3,776 3,283 2,860 2,715 12,634
872 625 746 1,113 3,356 Institutional products 484 369 361 479 1,693
430 455 484 479 1,848 Life reinsurance 405 412 410 494 1,721
127 126 126 125 504  Distribution 120 114 105 108 447
184 161 138 137 620 General insurance 185 179 156 145 665

17 17 3 42 79 Other income/(charges) 17 21 27 37 102
10,375 9,392 9,696 9,808 39,271 REVENUES BY LINE OF BUSINESS 9,172 8,454 8,146 8,310 34,082

12,976 9,902 12,056 9,594 44,528 Gross deposits (on and off balance sheet) 8,636 9,131 11,051 11,933 40,751
318 (682) 2,716 118 2,470 Net deposits (on and off balance sheet) (888) 971 1,652 1,679 3,414

New life sales
3875 3,298 3,794 3447 14414 Life single premiums 2757 2,880 2,568 2,327 10,532
438 472 467 456 1,833 Life recurring premiums annualized 410 441 361 366 1,578

826 802 846 800 3,274 TOTAL RECURRING PLUS 1/10 SINGLE 686 729 618 598 2,631

New premium production accident and
176 160 166 178 680 health insurance 166 141 146 161 614
12 13 12 21 58 New premium production general insurance 16 16 19 17 68
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Glossary

Acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer effectively
obtains control of the acquiree. In most cases this includes at
least the transfer of risks and rewards related to the acquired
business or assets/ liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses relate to the accounting for post-
employment benefit plans. They comprise the effects of
experience adjustments and changes in assumptions used to
determine the cost of a plan.

Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or
liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using
the effective interest rate method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount and minus any
reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account)
for impairment or uncollectability.

Assets held by long-term employee benefit funds are part of
plan assets. These are assets (other than non-transferable
financial instruments issued by the reporting entity) that:

Are held by an entity that is legally separate from the reporting
entity and exists solely to pay or fund employee benefits; and
Are available to be used only to pay or fund employee benefits
and are not available to the reporting entity's own creditors.

Bifurcation is the measurement and presentation of embedded
derivatives separate from the host contracts, as if they were
stand-alone derivative financial instruments.

Binomial option pricing model uses a binomial lattice that
represents possible paths that might be followed by the
underlying asset's price over the life of the option, for a given
number of time steps between valuation date and option
expiration. Each node in the lattice represents a possible price
of the underlying asset, at a particular point in time. The
valuation process is iterative; it starts at each final node and
then works backwards through the lattice to the first node,
which is the valuation date, where the calculated result is the
value of the option.

Business combination is the bringing together of separate
entities or operations of entities into one reporting entity.

This can be realized through a purchase transaction or by
means of a merger. A business combination involving entities
(or operations of entities) under common control is a business
combination in which all of the combining entities (or operations
of entities) ultimately are controlled by the same party or
parties both before and after the combination, and that control
is not transitory.

Capitalization is the recognition of a cost as part of the cost of
an asset on the balance sheet.

Cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of
assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Cedant is the policyholder under a reinsurance contract.

Claims settlement expenses are costs incurred in settling a

claim. These costs include internal administration and payout
costs, but also such items as attorney's fees and investigation
expenses.

Collateral is an asset pledged by a borrower to secure a loan
and is subject to seizure in the case of default.

Compound financial instruments are financial instruments
that, from the issuer’s perspective, contain both a liability and
an equity element.

Constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an
entity's actions whereby an established pattern of past practice,
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement,
the entity has indicated to other parties that it will accept
certain responsibilities, and as a result, the entity has created a
valid expectation on the part of those other parties that it will
discharge those responsibilities.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument
will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to
incur a financial loss.

Currency risk is a market risk, namely the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates.

Deferred tax assets are amounts of income taxes recoverable
in future periods in respect of deductible temporary differences;
the carryforward of unused tax losses; and the carryforward of
unused tax credits.

Deferred tax liabilities are amounts of income taxes payable in
future periods in respect of taxable temporary differences.

Defined benefit obligation is the present value, without

deducting any plan assets, of expected future payments

required to settle the obligation resulting from employee
service in the current and prior periods.
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Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other
than defined contribution plans.

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans
under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Cost (DPAC) are the variable
costs related to the acquisition or renewal of insurance
contracts and investment contracts with discretionary
participation features.

Deposit accounting method includes amounts charged and
paid to customers directly into the financial liability and not
through the income statement as premium income and claims.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognized asset
or financial liability from an entity's balance sheet.

Derivatives are financial instruments whose value changes in
response to an underlying variable, that require little or no net
initial investment and are settled at a future date.

Discretionary participation feature is a contractual right to
receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional
benefits:
# That are likely to be a significant portion of the total
contractual benefits;
# Whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of
the issuer; and
# That are contractually based on:
« The performance of a specified pool of contracts
or a specified type of contract;
+ Realized and/or unrealized investment returns on
a specified pool of assets held by the issuer; or
« The profit or loss of the company, fund or other entity
that issues the contract.

Effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating
the interest income or expense over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or liability.
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Embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument
that also includes a non-derivative host contract, with the effect
that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in
a way similar to a derivative.

Equity instruments are financial instruments issued by the
Group that are classified as equity if they evidence a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Equity method is a method of accounting whereby the
investment is initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter
for the post-acquisition change in the investor’s share of net
assets of the investee. The profit or loss of the investor includes
the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee.

Equity volatility is the relative rate at which the price of
equity changes.

Exchange differences are differences resulting from translating
a given number of units of one currency into another currency
at different exchange rates.

Finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incident to ownership of an asset.

Financial asset is any asset that is:

® Cash;

® An equity instrument of another entity;

# A contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset
from another entity or to exchange financial instruments
with another party under conditions that are potentially
favorable; or

® A contract that will or may be settled in the entity's own
equity instruments and is:

+ A non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged
to receive a variable number of the entity's own equity
instruments; or

« A derivative that will or may be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the entity's own equity
instruments.

Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.



Financial liability is any liability that is:

# A contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset to another entity or to exchange financial assets or
financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that
are potentially unfavorable to the entity; or

# A contract that will or may be settled in the entity's own
equity instruments and is:

+ A non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged
to deliver a variable number of the entity's own equity
instruments; or

« A derivative that will or may be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the entity's own equity
instruments.

Financial risks are risks of a possible future change in one or
more of the following variables: a specified interest rate,
financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange
rate, index or prices or rates, credit rating or credit index or
other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable,
that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract.

Firm commitment is a binding agreement for the exchange of
a specified quantity of resources at a specified price on a
specified future date or dates.

Foreign currency is a currency other than the functional
currency of an entity within the Group.

Foreign operation is an entity that is a subsidiary, associate,
joint venture or branch of a reporting entity within the Group,
the activities of which are based or conducted in a country or
currency other than those of the reporting entity.

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which an entity within the Group operates.

General account investments are investments of which the
financial risks are not borne by the policyholder.

Goodwill is the amount of future economic benefits arising
from assets that are not capable of being individually identified
and separately recognized as an asset in a business
combination.

Guaranteed benefits are payments or other benefits to which a
particular policyholder or investor has an unconditional right
that is not subject to the contractual discretion of the issuer.

Hedge effectiveness is the degree to which changes in the fair
value or cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to a
hedged risk are offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows
of the hedging instrument.

Incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if
the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of a financial
instrument.

Insurance asset is an insurer's contractual right under an
insurance contract.

Insurance contract is a contract under which one party (the
insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder
if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event)
adversely affects the policyholder.

Insurance liability is an insurer's contractual obligation under
an insurance contract.

Insurance risk is a risk, other than financial risk, transferred
from the holder of a contract to the issuer.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
over an economic activity, which exists when the strategic and
operating decisions relating to the activity require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Liability adequacy testing is an assessment of whether the
carrying amount of an insurance liability needs to be increased
(or the carrying amount of related deferred acquisition costs or
related intangible assets decreased) based on a review of future
cash flows.

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty
in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial
instruments.

Master netting agreement is an agreement providing for an
entity that undertakes a number of financial instrument
transactions with a single counterparty to make a single net
settlement of all financial instruments covered by the agreement
in the event of default on, or termination of, any contract.
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Minority interests are that portion of the profit or loss and net
assets of a subsidiary attributable to equity interests that are not
owned, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, by the parent.

Monetary items are units of currency held and assets and
liabilities to be received or paid in a fixed or determinable
number of units of currency.

Onerous contracts are contracts in which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received under it.

Operating expenses are all expenses associated with selling
and administrative activities (excluding commissions) after
reallocation of claim handling expenses to benefits paid.

Past service cost is the increase in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation for employee service in prior periods,
resulting in the current period from the introduction of, or
changes to, post-employment benefits.

Plan assets are assets held by a long-term employee benefit
fund and qualifying insurance policies.

Policy acquisition costs are the expenses incurred in soliciting
and placing new business as well as renewal of existing
business. It includes agent's commissions, underwriting
expenses, medical and credit report fees, marketing expenses
and all other direct and indirect expenses of the departments
involved in such activities.

Policyholder is a party that has a right to compensation under
an insurance contract if an insured event occurs.

Presentation currency is the currency in which the financial
statements are presented.

Price risk is a market risk, namely the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices.

Private loan is a non-derivative financial asset with a fixed
interest rate and a maturity date, which is not bought in an
active market but negotiated between the two parties involved.
Private loans are not embodied in securities. When a private
loan takes the form of a private placement of bonds or other
investments directly to an institutional investor like an
insurance company, it has more the character of a bond loan
and such financial instruments are classified as available-for-
sale investments rather than as loans and receivables.
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Projected unit credit method is an actuarial valuation method
that sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional
unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately
to build up the final obligation.

Qualifying insurance policies are a component of plan assets.

These are insurance policies issued by an insurer that is not a

related party of the reporting entity, if the proceeds of the

policies:

# Can be used only to pay or fund employee benefits under a
defined benefit plan; and

# Are not available to the reporting entity’s own creditors.

Real estate investments foreclosed are real estate
investments purchased through foreclosure on the mortgage.
Such purchases are not accounted for as mortgages, but as real
estate investments until they can be sold at a better price than
at the foreclosure. Meanwhile they yield a rental income.

Realizable value is the amount of cash or cash equivalents that
could currently be obtained by selling an asset in an orderly
disposal.

Recognition is the process of incorporating in the balance

sheet or income statement an item that meets the definition of

an element and satisfies the following criteria for recognition:

# |t is probable that any future economic benefit associated
with the item will flow to or from the entity; and

# The item has a cost or value that can be measured with
reliability.

Reinsurance assets are a cedant’s net contractual rights under
a reinsurance contract.

Reinsurance contract is an insurance contract issued by one
insurer to compensate another insurer for losses on one or
more contracts issued by the cedant.

Renewal of a contract is when a policyholder takes whatever
action is required, typically payment of a premium, in order to
maintain benefits under the contract.

Repurchase agreement is a sale of securities with an agreement
to buy back the securities at a specified time and price.

Return on plan assets is the investment income derived from
plan assets, together with realized and unrealized gains and
losses on the plan assets less any costs of administering the
plan and less any tax payable by the plan itself.



Reverse repurchase agreement is a purchase of securities with
the agreement to resell them at a later specified date and price.

Security lending involves a loan of a security from one party to
another.

Settlement date is the date that a financial asset is delivered
to the entity that purchased it.

Sovereign exposures are AAA rated government bonds, or
lower rated government bonds if purchased in local currency by
a reporting unit.

Spot exchange rate is the exchange rate for immediate
delivery.

Spread is the difference between the current bid and the
current ask or offered price of a given security.

Stochastic modeling is a statistical process that uses
probability and random variables to predict a range of probable
investment performances.

Temporary differences are differences between the carrying
amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax
base that will reverse over time.

Trade date is the date that an entity commits itself to purchase
or sell an asset.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial
asset or liability.

Trust Pass-Through securities are securities through which
the holders participate in a trust. The assets of these trusts
consist of debentures issued by an AEGON group company.

Unlocking of DPAC and VOBA refers to the process of updating
the DPAC or the VOBA amortization schedule to reflect changes
between the past and current expectations of key assumptions
used in the projection of future gross profits.

Value of Business Acquired (VOBA) the difference between
the fair value and the carrying amount of the insurance
liabilities recognized when a portfolio of insurance contracts is
acquired (directly from another insurance company or as part
of a business combination).

WACC is an abbreviation for Weighted Average Cost of Capital
which represents the average cost of capital of an entity, taking
into account all sources of capital (from equity and debt),
weighted by their current market values.
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Forward-looking statements

The statements contained in this Annual Report that are not
historical facts are forward-looking statements as defined in
the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
The following are words that identify such forward-looking
statements: believe, estimate, target, intend, may, expect,
anticipate, predict, project, counting on, plan, continue, want,
forecast, should, would, is confident, will, and similar
expressions as they relate to AEGON. These statements are not
guarantees of future performance and involve risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict.
AEGON undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise
any forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements,
which merely reflect company expectations at the time of
writing. Actual results may differ materially from expectations
conveyed in forward-looking statements due to changes caused
by various risks and uncertainties. Such risks and uncertainties
include but are not limited to the following:
# Changes in general economic conditions, particularly in the
United States, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom;
8 Changes in the performance of world financial markets,
including emerging markets, such as with regard to:
» The frequency and severity of defaults by issuers
impacting AEGON's fixed income investment portfolios; and
+ The effects of corporate bankruptcies and/or accounting
restatements on the financial markets and the resulting
decline in the value of equity and debt securities held;
# The frequency and severity of insured loss events;
# Changes affecting mortality, morbidity and other factors that
may impact the profitability of AEGON's insurance products;
# Changes affecting interest rate levels and continuing low or
rapidly changing interest rate levels;
# Changes affecting currency exchange rates, in particular the
EUR/USD and EUR/GBP exchange rates;
# Increasing levels of competition in the United States, the
Netherlands, the United Kingdom and emerging markets;
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# Changes in laws and regulations, particularly those affecting
AEGON's operations, the products the company sells, and the
attractiveness of certain products to AEGON's consumers;

# Regulatory changes relating to the insurance industry in the
jurisdictions in which AEGON operates;

# Acts of God, acts of terrorism, acts of war and pandemics;

# Changes in the policies of central banks and/or governments;

# Litigation or regulatory action that could require AEGON to
pay significant damages or change the way the company
does business;

# Customer responsiveness to both new products and
distribution channels;

8 Competitive, legal, regulatory, or tax changes that affect the
distribution cost of or demand for AEGON's products;

8 AEGON's failure to achieve anticipated levels of earnings or
operational efficiencies as well as other cost saving
initiatives; and

# The impact the adoption of the International Financial
Reporting Standards may have on AEGON's reported financial
results and financial condition.

Further details of potential risks and uncertainties affecting the
company are described in the company’s filings with Euronext
Amsterdam and the US Securities and Exchange Commission,
including the Annual Report on Form 20-F. These forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date of this document.
Except as required by any applicable law or regulation, the
company expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to
release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking
statements contained herein to reflect any change in the
company's expectations with regard thereto or any change in
events, conditions or circumstances on which any such
statement is based.
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